


Lol < A hn ) (L2 ! 7
ugihf\/f@\ w1 ?‘”i’i
394

e e

i RO AR o s SRt orond |
‘"a  Vol. I. (1908) is sold oub; Vols IL, =
“=w (1909), IIL. 1910), IV (1811), V. (1911) ‘ma
""w each 6d, net, may be had at Eason's -
"n Railway Bookstall and from local =g
" agents. LR -
o ] e e P
L " "u
T HISTORY OF THE -
A "u
=  O'SULLIVAN FAMILY. ot
L e
; . M
a By J, King. e dile_14
- -
=™ '-".'.-.w-'-'u'-'-'.r'.-.-.-.,-.'.'.
(SULLIVAN, SUILE-LUVAN E, ' 'EYES
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The O'Sullivans and MacCarthys are’ de-
wcended from two sons of Aedh Dubh, King
of Munster, whaoss ancestry is traced from
Milesius as undey:—

Milesins, Heber Fionn (B.C,, 1698), Con-
maol, Fochaidh Faobhar Glas, Eanna Airg-
thach, (las, Ros, Rotheacta, Fearard, Cas,
goid, Cas Cedchaingnigh,

Munmoin, Fualder
Failbhe Iolcorach, Ronnach, Rotheachta,
Biliomh OMlfhionach, Art Imleach, Breas
Rioghacta, Seidnae Innaridh, Duach Fionn,
Eanna Dearg (B.C., 880), Lughaidh Taxd-
honn, Fochaidh, Lu haidh, Art, Olioll
Fionn, Eochaidh, Lughaidh Lagha, Reacht
Righ-dearg, Cobthach Caombh, Mogheorb,
Fearcorh, Adhambira Foltcain, Niadheed-
haman, Tonadmaor, Lughaidh  Luaighne,
Cairbre Tusgleathan, Duach Dalladh Dead-
ha, Eochaidh Garbh, Muireadach . Muchna,
Mofebhis, Loich Mor, Eanna, ' Muncain,
Dearg Theine, Dearg, Magha Neid, Eoghan
Mor (A.D., 122), Olioll Olum, Owen for,
Fiacha Maolleathan, Olioll  Fann-heag,
Lughaidh, Core, Nathfraoch, Aongus, Felim,
Crimthann, Aodh Dubh. Aodh Dubh had
Fingin, ancestor of the O’Sullivans: and
Failbhe Wlann, ancestor of the MacCar-.
‘thys. e | LU T #
The death of Mor Munihain is recorded
A.D., 628. She was wife of hin, King
‘of Munster, and ancestor of the 0'Sullivans."
Finghin had ‘a younger hrother Failbhe
Flanu, ancestor of the MacCarthys.
death is recorded A.D.. 633. He was
unpopular at the tima of his agcession to
throne of Munster. A gnatrain:wasswri
«on him, wh‘iich may ba found in t
¥

o -k &

;Togugrap}:y,‘l‘lﬂo, i6 the verse:—

+His v
&

of Munster,” and is quoted hy Keating—
“To be without Fing'hin, to be without. Mor,
To Cashel is cause of sorrow;

It is the same as to be without nnyt.h.in-g,
If Failbhe Flann be the King,™

From these lines, which ave well known
to the Shanachies of Munster, it is con-
tended that the O'Sullivans are of a senior
branch of the voyal family of Munster, and
the McCarthys of a junior branch. In the
annals of Ulster, the death of Failbhe Flann
Feininn rex Mumhain is entered under the
year, 636, I

The descent of the O'Sullivans from Fin-
gin, son of Aodh Dubh, king'of Munster, is
given as:— Al

Fingin, Seachnasagh, Tiachra an Gaircedh,
Flann Noba, Dubhinracht, Morogh, Mogh-
“tigern,|. Maolura, Kochuid Suilebhan or
O’Sullivan, Lercan, Buadhach Atha-cra,
Hugh, Cathal, Buadhach O’Sullivan (ances-
tor of the Vera O'Sullivans), Maccraith,
Donal Mor, Giolla Mocheda, brother to
Giolla: na Bhilainn (ancestor of the (’Sulli-
van Beara), Dunlong, son of Giolla Maochoda,
Murtogh Mor who had a brother Gille Moc.
hodh (ancestor of MacGillicuddy), Bernard,

son of Murtogh Mor, Buochan, Dunlong,
Ruadhyi, Donal, of Dunkerron.

Eoghan, Dermod of Dunkerron, who had
a brother Donal na Sgreadaidhe (ancestor of

the (¥Sullivan Mor family), Connor, son of
Dermod of Dunkerron, Donal, Owen
Cu-pzpa.ua,cusha., who forfeited his estate in
165

In 1193 the English drove the O’Sullivans
out of the rath of Knockgraffon in Tippe-
rarvy, and built a stone castle there. The
(’Sullivans  wers princes of Foghanacht,*
Mor, Cnoe Graffan, in the barony of Middle-
thivd, and their lands included Clonmel,
Cahir, Carrick, and Cashel. In O'Heerin's

O’Sullivan, who delights mot in

Rules over the extensive
Munster ;

About  Unoc-Graffan broad lands he oh-

violence,
Eoghanacht of

Won by i victorious arms, in conflcts and
nAal

L. es. .
1'1‘5;& s a M.8.8. history of Kerry in the
Royal Irish Academy, Dublin, written sbgr
some unknown anthor about the year 1755.
The following extract is of intevest:—
“The McCarthys and' the O’Sullivans did

not come to the said county +ill about

i@ seven hundred years after

n shues (1) and Moriarties, which was

rﬂ fBaolk. time of the Engl
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about 583 years ago (1755). The said two hestowed on them. As it was then custom-
noble fa.mi]izea of t.i%e }(lcCaE:thys and 0'8ul- ary with the kings, princes, and noblemen
livans, which are allowed by all the Irish of the Milesiane to gratify such guests
ehronicles to be the eldest branch of . the pgreatly, but as the eaid Druide Luva.lil_e
Milesians, parted a great while before they seemed something out of humour at his
Came t.o’t.Ee aforesaid county in the two parting, the said Eocuid prnyed' he may
great kings of Cashile, Finine McAodh, Me- et him know what would please®or satisfy
Crimthann, and Failbhe Flan, who were two him, to which Luvane answered, that no-
brothers, the said Finine, ancestor of the b!m:nF else but Eocuig's eye, who was but a
McCart,h,ya, from books of genealogies, but eingle-eyed man. = Hocuig, though  some-
not the Munster Book, does not mention Lhmg empriced on such an inhuman de-
that said Finine was the eldest of the two mand, concluded to mainfain his fame by
brothers, but they allow that he reigned not refueing anything in his power to any

first, and during his life, which with other making request for ib, got his finger under

i i ot he was the eldest, and the inside of his left eye and threw it out
:Lmtimée: ;E.Frllz.-ut:;lt hbv Doctor Keating, to the Druide, at which surprising and dole-
which his descendants still challenge. (The: ful action Eocuig's lady, or‘l oonaort,m;i.a
enealogy of the 0’Sullivans given by Hen- well as his children and family, ete., 22 a
gesay in the MeGillicuddy papere he%ns such a noise with grievous moans that
with Fochaid, the one-eyed cﬁief, i!\l[ 950). su_ldclen]!l},'I came to the hearing of a very
id Fini nd his queen, Mor Muman, pious holy man
'?v:fesa{‘llfal:lgtg?ﬂigg g:)lls:pe in-lthe KRingdom, house (the successor of Ruan Lorha, l\t;hu
in their time, for hospitality and gene- ran with precipitation and greab surprise
rosity ; so that the greatest praise that could to examine what happened ; who as soon eaés
be g'iv:eu the best of women since for gene- he was informed kneeled and earnestly pray:
and charity was to compare her to to his Master that the pair of fair eyes
Mor Muman. Two sons of the said Finine that Luv‘ane‘h-?url in his head may be 1_~emovhe5!
;'eigne‘d in conjunction after their father, to said Eocuig's and serve him during his
for the aforesaid Falvi possessed himself of life, which was granted. Whereby Eocnig
the sovereignity, upon which a poet com- and his descendants had the name Sullivane,
posed the vhyme still kept in memory, and the etymology of it being and! proceeding
to be seen in the hooks of genealogy, which from Suile luyane, that 'is ths  eyes of
is as followeth : Luvane, that said Focuig had by said mir-
e s s A Ty acle, and by the prayers of the eaid holy
Dt £ -Fﬂg," k; Fn st man Ruan. ~And if any person may take
D;U oRiAiAlL v8 ?mnbca'-t_ 1c;m ni this to be a fable, or fiction, if he is pleased
£ gorabipnap e (el to read the books of (lenealogys he will
Failbe Flain is Bi. thereby find sufficient authority to the
However. said Talvi maintained the contrary, and it is besides maintained by
sovereignity during his life, as did his geveral poems as:— ' .
descendants, and the O'Bryns still form the Eocuig do bron i'—l'U—"'gl- \ar - dicldaim  don
FlL

rosity

descendants of sazid Finine, who . were ardago : .
obliged to content themeelves with & very Nj nac 0’ Cruuig el S b e
ceasiderable estate in the county of Tippe- A eaat.

rince of ; )
Dénor::kgrovan. And if any person should adwire at this
yses, and miracle if he ‘was ;zlleared toBl‘e'l'.d 11_:‘he mﬂ

g prignasiury, from: which they Chronicles, or the Munster Book, he wou
ﬁl?‘gl‘;gtt?:tigglﬁﬁed ‘by some poets in meet with many velations or _iracles  as
their poems Seabac Siure, ie., the hawk great and as surprising as this that ha,p;
of the river Siure. The first that was ca]le_d pae_nled, and wene gra.n-t.ed,_on‘the ‘prleverlh; 3
O’'Sullivan was of the descendants of  the saints before and after this time in Ireland,
said Pinine. [lis name was Eochnid Me- :\'h.-.ch then was cu.llt_zd Insula Dm‘.bo.ruerﬁ ef,
Maailiora. who lived in great credit in BSanctorum, as the miracle that happened at
Cluainmele at the time that a much-noted the convocation or parliament of Drorlnmg
Scotch druide called Luivane, with many where Aoadh McAmmire, then monﬂr];: 1{ o
poets, druides, and ‘barde waiting on m, Ireland, intended to levy a tnhrutes efore
came to his house. where they were splen- due to the monarchs of Ireland, of Scotland,
didly entertained for a considerable time, to pub Sca:n.la.m, King of Oségﬁv to ‘(i;?ﬁt'h’
and had many valuable giits and presents and to banish the peels to Collum ys,

',i &

rary, etc., and with the titles
Cluainmele and  Trish of
where they had their mansion h

that frequented Focuig's .

T —
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d.e., 8t. Collumbe!s hearing who was the
progeny of the great monarch Nial of the
Nine Hostages, and then Abbott of the
Isle of Skey in Scotland. Whereupon he
came and made a request of said monarch
and parliament to forgive said tribute, to
.spare the said King of Ossory's life, and to
be indulgent to the poets; the latter was
Lranted him, but he was refused for the
two former, on which he told the monarch
that his Master would not refuse him, which
fell out' to be true, as the said tribute was
never aiter received of Scotland, and as the
said King of Ossory was redeemed the
.game night.

The aforesaid Eocuig McMaoilura, the

first that was called O'Sullivane, and his
offspring, had still great veneration for the
.aforesaid holy man, Ruan, who was like-
wise during his life very mindful of his
mementoes and prayers for their prosperity,
and at the time of his death left them along
with his blessing, some small tokens of his,
of which was a bell of emall size which made
.a stupendous sound, which was still kept in
memory of that holy man, and of the afore-
-eaid miracles, as one of the monuments in
(’Sullivane More's house. (Where is the
bell now Y)
As I cannot give a complete account of all
the branches that came out of the houses
of the several (Snllivanes, from the said
Focuig to the O'Sullivane that lost his es-
‘tate by the English conquest, T shall now
only speak of the notablest branch, which
was the noble family of the Faxls of Suther-
land, descended from an 0'Suilivane that
went abroad, which was still known to this
great family. As for some other branches
‘that came out of said houses, T shall speak of
‘theni in the following discourse :—

It wae still observed that the descendants
«of the afcresand Focuig, who bestowed his
eye, were generally generous, especially
every ('Sullivane More and O'Sullivane
Beara. Witnessed by many poems composed
for them, of which is the poem Tobar Feile
Fuil Eocuig, etc.

The O’Sullivane that lost his estate in the
county of Tipperary, etc., by the English
conquest (1193) was Daniel More Carrigi-
fienavy. The place from which he had that
title was in Carrebry, where he had first
fixed. He had ten strong. active, courage-
ous sons, who had each of them a party of
effective armed men to wait on him, and at
all occasions under his command, =o that
they were greatly envied and dreaded, and
thereupon invited, as so pretended to a
‘great entertainment to a place near Cork,

<alled Lighlifionaguil, which was so well
prepaved for them that the said Daniel More
with eight of his said sons were there mur-
dered. The two that escaped the fury of
that horrid stratagem, by having some
charitable notice given them at approach-
ing said place, were two sons of Daniel
More, called (Giollamiuodah and Giollana-
vaane, who retreated back to the said Car-
rigtionavy, where some of their relations,
friends, and followers remained, whao
marched along with them to the county of
Desmond, then chiefly occupied and go-
verned by the aforesaid families of the
O'Donoghues and Moriartys. The O’Donog
hues enjoyed the considerable estate called
Enacty O'Donoghue, and the Moriarties
that great part of the county of A Deamond
from the hill southward of Bantry towr,
called Cnocknaviagh, to the river Lean,
and part of the bavony of Maring Maine,
westward of said Enacty 0’Donoghue to
Castlemaine and Castledromin. These two
families built some castles, and most of the
churches in said county. The O'Donog-
hues are a family still of good mnote for
hospitality, manhood and educaticn. The
Mansion {[ouse of O'Donoghue - More was
Ross Castle, till he forfeited his estate in
Queen Elizabeth's time; 0'Donoghue of the
(ilin  maintained his castle till Cromwell’s,
his mansion houses, Tiraha Castle and In-
lagha. The Moriartys were a family of good
note for hospitality ; of them was the much
noted Aed Bionan in that qualification, and
of the same family was the late learned
Bishop Moriaxty (1653-1737). The mamsion
houses of said family were Ardea and Catle-
dromond. (In 1193, the Normans drove
the 'Sullivang out of the rath of Knock-
graffon, Co. Tipperary, and built a castle
there).

This family, dreading incursions from the
English, congnest, or from some other powers
that lost their estates by said conquest, re-
signed and made over without any disputes
or blowe, (the A.F. Masters says they were
expalled by foree, A.D., 1195.), unto the
aforesaid Giollamocada and Gicllanavlan,
the major part of the county of Desmond,
which was from the aforesaid Onockmaviagh,
near Bantry, to the River Leane, reserving
for McCarthv, who came to said county
about that time, along with the part of the
barony of Maguinshytha, resigned to him the
estates in that barony of TIveragha called
Clandanicline, Letir, afterwards called Letir-
micerohan; Curane in the barony of Dun-
bicrane ; Ictercuagh in Glanarogh : Ardtuily,
Neddeen and Killone, ete., in Bearhaven,
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Mandiarmida and Bunane in Bantry, Clar- The O'Sullivans on coming to Desmond subject chiefs of his rights over them was 22y ploughlands first mentioned, 4 q

laniclroi of what was resigned  to~ Giolla- obtained possession. of the greater part of rendered necessary by the chan £ hi ] i

mucodah snd  wiolanavian  as  aforesawd. Beve and Bantry, in Cork; and one half of status. This canventign lays dowgne tgze f]::l‘-! gntfy.m%lfgh]rﬁfs;ejg "Liamtﬁm{ md' i

They made a division of the barony of Iver- Glanerought, all Dunkerron, and a consider- lowing points: —(1) Sir Owen O'Sullivan is  ploughlands and the castle of l.:\rd '.[5'11].:

anagh, the aforesaxd estutes of McCarthy able portion of Iveragh in Kerry. In 1087 to be one of the marshals to the Farl, and is next in importance of the family to aim—in
excepted, the entire barony of Dunkiorane a survey of Bere and Bantry was made by to serve him “‘with his whole power.” (2} 'this case it was Donnell himaelg son of S]:: )

“almost, and flour plough 1aﬁds in the half the Government to decide L]Letwm t]ufa oy

barony of (lanarogh to Giollamucoda, then claims of two competitors for the dignity o or Live kerne out of every arable quar loughlan i i

called O’Sullivan More. The most p::;.rt ot O'Sullivan Beve, II):; 1597, after-the death in default 6s. 8d., or ar%sef p&r%la.nter’l‘l?: :!:Jf%ﬁiluguand;; w‘ﬂl: d’;”;ﬂf:ﬂ‘ﬁg ﬁmmth:

the hali barony of Glanarogh, the barony of of tae MacCarthy Mor, the first and last | men are to be a guard for the Barl. {3) The other near relatives of the cb.iefl? A ag the

Beara, and Bantry, the afovesaid estates re- Rarl of Clancar, a Government: survey was q * Earl is to have 2s. 6d. for evely ship that numbers of these increased on dj'm,'m-shed 80
i *. 2

He is to “find continually” five gallowglasses Owen’s elder brother and predecessor—had

served to McCarthy excepted, to Giollanav- made of all lands subject to him. The re- |  comes to his harbours ‘at the hands of t. | *varied
lan, then called O’Sullivane B,e.:ua.‘ port of the surveyors is preserved among the | as bring the said ships.” 'mﬂa 8 momm b‘:ﬁ, a‘tﬁ: u:l:ie%’fslzl:gpo&rli?;:adnxm?ﬁmv Hers

Note that this county called Beara or Carvew ALSS., vol. 625, in the Library of wares to the Earl, which latter m. ; vieller Aer i e
Bere Haven derived Lhit. name from Beara, Lambeth Palace. It has not been cilen- | quire, at the same price as he hﬁ;sa]?ypm ;‘fetg? sg;:elkmd working within the limite
daughter of one of the Kings of Spain, wife daved, but Professor W. 1. Butler, in 1906, for them. (5) He is to furnish two days’  Besides these fifteen e
of liugenius Magnus, King of Munster, or gave the gist of the survey in a paper and two nighte’' “entertainment’’ af Dunboy twenty more—sixt ]outhanﬁg, in au:vgei:
rather Leah Mogha, that is, a moiety of printed in the Journal of the R.S. Anti- ! for the Barl and his train, to  give by other septs o 'Suﬁivans o LR
Ireland southward of Dublin and Galway, quaries, Treland. The portion dealing with ‘‘convenient meat and drink’ to the Karl branches of the parent house. Fach Jtl.m hlz:.);
and ancestor to all the notauble families of the (VSullivans is inserted here ;— waenever the latter comes into the country « a definite area of land, whica we ﬂmﬁ abt
Heber Fion’s race. As said, Beara landed in  ““The greater part of Bere and Bantry, also to send to Pallis “‘horse-meat’’ furk?tvl; divided among the members of tjf:. sg t.o' i
this country on her coming from Spain, the ome half of Glamerought, all the old Dun- Earl’s horses for the whole year. (6) He is like the forty-five plaughlands held }L' JE}T X
aforesaid O'Sullivane More and ’Sullivane kerron ,besides a  considerable tract of to “find” for the whole Year in Bantry and ochief and his near insﬁwn Six hy t.(s
Beara, at making the aforesaid division, Iveragh, fell to the shave of the O’Sullivans Dunboy the “hunt’’ anl” hunts of the Iarl are named, viz., the issue of Fins::u %Eﬂ‘

with greyhounds, hounds and spaniels. . of Lawrence, of Dwling (sic), of the son of

conferred with mutual comsent on a young in the division of the conquests which they
W. 8t. Leger (quoted in *Life and Letters Mae Bwogy, of the son of Donuell, of the

man, a near relation of theirs, who came had made in conjunction with the MeCax

along with them, by name Docalain Mc- thys, - of . MacCar Mor”’) sa 0’ Sulli e
Cemﬁ.viumlnin. efght ploughlands in Glana- glmos-t from its firet coming into Kewry, Bere's country of 160 poughs.(l-;nd.s Bhﬂwa; ?r::m Olfie?:]%utﬁl tl}I;eﬁ.; ?:;:f t’:’uf:i«%surlll'

rogh, called Canlocuin, and this family are the clan divided into two ‘eats branches— “find’* _ﬁfty galloglasses, and furnished in ais rents to the lord which is but litt] a-yutLi;
distinguished from the other families by O'Sullivan Mor and O’Sullivan Bere. The ;%endmgs and refeccons’” to the value of nowadave’s « AT leves 24 cg“t,ﬁl ;

being called tae family of Clonlocluin, who latter took the Jands south of the Kenmare % year. This seems far under what the hath his share thereos paying his rent to 51111

were generally of good note for hospitality. River, in Bere, Bantry, and (ilanerought. Payments given in the above document, would lord for the time beihg o ks vh 8

All the four branches of the collateral cou- We do not know whether this junior branch amount to, for it provides for 175 galloglasses old times, was the cessing of his 1(,f, )

gins of the aforesaid (’Sullivan More and of the clan was in any sort of dependence on " or £58 6s. 84. a Year in lieu of them. Bere —as gall(,)glams Yorna orsemeumen:i} wu[:
(0’Sullivan Beara that came along with the seniop branch, O'Sullivan Mov; but from and Bantry had at least 35 quarters. as we like—besides to ,pa.y all T :P 'Tuc

them to the county of Desmond had no the Down Survey it appears that this latter see from the mext, document, yet our survey socever he would come‘ out of his E & E; wu-

estate there conferred upon them, but large .chiei had retained for himeelf the island of assesses all Bere and Bantry at only £7 a0y bown or lcity, o esbrm fe untry to [
and beneficial farme with some tokens of Whiddy ,opposite Bantry, possivly to give 16s, 0d. yearly, besides uncerfain sorrans)  of the Drince, and st il 3 &n M, service .
rents. They are the family that the most himself some sort of hold on the ‘l-:ulds as- Many of the above items will he recognised His fixed vent from -the céuutl'. wos forty E
part of them called themselves Sughrues. signed to (’Sullivan Bere. Yet the grant a8 occurring in the general list of Mac pounds a year, which glm; WIas “%,‘ 'n? ﬁ’rn"'

Of them were formerly some persons of good to Sir Owen *Sullivan Beve (“Calendar Pa- Car-r'thy Mor's rights quoted elsewhere. account of the pnvel"tv sl 1111?4 2 Gy 4 ‘
note for sense and hespitality. Likewise tent Rolls’,) ix .James [.), grants him The second accument is one of a series whole wealth of the country came frox -L]‘IE

the family of Slicot, i.e., the descendants “Whydy™ nine ploughlands. ' sent in to the Government by the famous sea; and as the profits from U]i‘% o ia;‘ HIO

of Hugh. They were a family of good note The U'Sullivans B<re plaved a great part Donnell 0'Sullivan Bere, with a view of lord agreed with the owners of alri 574 n‘g s
for generosity ; the chiefest of note now of in the troubled times of Llizabeth’s reign. persuadin the authorities that he, and not boats “according as the fishing e t‘(lll:rtiatﬂ ¢
them are several good and learned clergy- We need not entep here into the history #of the act il ruling chief Sir Owen, was the all the season of the year, or fail a i t
men at home and abroad, and some few their exploits. But two documents have lawful chief of Bere and Bantry. Among the times it doth fail AT nm-l;ﬂ-lm"somc—

living in the station of private gentlemen. been preserved among the State Papers \Vh'l(‘h Papers sent in on this occasion was a map of  All of this forty PofhdTltbnl o t-_he bl !
The family calied Sliochruice Crah Roe, are of the highest impovtance as illustrating these baronies, which, if forthcoming, would of the chief “towards her idle expenges. '

i.e., the descendants of Macarag of the red —one, the relations between 0’Sullivan Bere be of the highest interest. Tt would appear,  O'Sullivan el g Iiiﬁlf:pe "'eé* i

hair, which were formerly of note for man- and his paramount, chief Mac Corthy Mor, | owever, to be lost. money, for the septe Of.O'Sul]ivu.nsn:f::m ?:

hood, and a good many of late for learning. the other as giving details, drawn up 13; an | From this document it appears that fifteen keep ‘his galloglasses and kern and pay a.}l’

of which ave good clergymen, some at home Irish chief, of his rights over his own clans- quarters, or forty-five plonchlands. were set his expenses' if he travelled. t4 Corkp )‘ A

end some in France. Of this family was a men, and the division of land among the |  apart for the ruling sept of the O’Sullivans Sessions, or to war, 'I‘Eey were al'so'tc? lpa;

Bere. Half of these—namelv twenty-two his debts—this mav explain the
Vs by 1 v tendeney to .

a-?dﬂ;ha.l; ploughlands—formed the demesne get into debt «»~racteristic of the lnter Irish
:.dt. chief, and were always held by the landlord—hbuild his houses, feed him, and
g uﬁnl‘ reigning chief, along with the castles help him to marry his daughter :

of Dunboy, Bantry, and Carriganaes. Car-  When we consider that. over and ahove
?gtﬁnmsu had heen built by Sir  Owen’s all this, the clansmen of these septs had to
ather. The lord had also, in addition to the maintain theiy own immediate sub-chief (Mae

learned and very much noted Doctor Owen various members of the clan. R J

Sullivan, late Bishop of Ardfert and Ae-  The first of these documents is givenin the
cadeo (1738). The families witn large es- Calendar of the Carew _.\L‘SS. under the date
tates out of O'Sullivan More's house in the 1565, the year in which Mac Carthy Mor
aforesaid county of Desmond, are as fol- was made an earl. It may have been -
loweth: (See later). thought that a mew acknowledgment by his
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Fineen Duff, for example and pay Mae
.C‘:.rg:y h{:ﬁr'n' d-l}% hon t?hn)’oount.r;'), j;ﬂ well
oI share of the tribute levied by the
Earls of Desmond, wet oslnnlzté b\;b wouda'ry- how
a left for themelves,
Thus the sépts of O’Donegan, znd O’Lin-
chigh, after providing for their own chiefs,
1ad each to pay £4 135. 3d. yearly to O'Sul-
livan Bere, forty ehilling to MaoCarthy Mor,
and, no doubt, something to the Warl of
maond.,
These 117 ploughlands held by the O'Sulli-

vans did not make up the whol f the 1
subject to O'Sullivan Bere  These e 'os

re. There were at
l-e?st., two minor clans under him, namely
O'Linchigh o O’'Linche, who held Eyeries,

and a small district round i i
i d it, and O'Danegan
Much more extensive was the lordship of
O'Sullivan Mor. Tt extended along the shore
of Kenmare Bay from Derrynane Abbey to
Kenmare. The Taune from Dunloe to a
point  near Killorglin formed its morthern
frontier. It extended across the wild mouri-
tains at the head of Waterville Lake into the
Inny  valley, and reached Dingle Bay at
Glenbeigh, ‘and the month of the Caragh
River. The frowning coast-line from Bolus
Hear near the Skellig Rocks to the southern
entrance to Valentia Harbour also owned the
sway of '0'Sullivan Mor, as did the southern
shore of that harhour as far as Caliirciveen,
This * great clan, from an early period,
threw off two lesser offshoots, The second
chief after the settlement in Kerry gave one
of hia sons, Giollamochuda, an extensive dis-
trict, estimated by the author of the “History
of Rerry,” quoted above, as one-third of his
terribory. According to Sir W. St Leger,
Moc Gillycuddy had forty-six ploughlands.
Mac Carthy Mor had there the giving of the
rod, rising out, the finding of thirty gallo-
glasses, and to the value of £20 in yearly
spending. Our survey gives £37 . 4d., as
the total of the payments due from this clam.
From this Giollamochiuda come the well.
known family of the Mac Gillyeuddy of the
According to the same author, the

name Mac Gillycuddy was at first borne only
by the chiefs of this clan and their imme.
diate relatives, the lesser clansmen calling
themselves O'Sullivan. But in his day, he
says, they mostly called themselves Mac
Gillyouddy, except those who went abroad.
He also stated that the lord of the Reeks
was bound to furnish O'Sullivan. Mor with
700 fighting men. For his other dues and
services, if any, he refers to O0’'Sullivan’s re-
cords. The fate of these last, as velated by
Mrs. Morgan Joan OFConnell, in her work,

“The Last Colonel of the Irish Brigade,' on
tne authority of Sir Ross O'Connell, of Lake-
view, is worth mentipning here. Sir Ross
says:—‘‘The last O'Sullivan Mor died at
Tomies in 1762 (!) He left an illegitimate
son, whose grandson is a fisherman at Kil-
larney, This grandson told me that when a
boy, some thirty years ago, he went to see
his grandfather lying dead at Tomies. He
saw in the room of the dead man a great pile
of old papers, maybe three feet high, mostly
writben on skins in Latin and Irish, ‘ana,
faith, I was in dread they might fall into the
hands of the Mahonys, or some other new
people in the country, and they might get
more of the O'Sullivan estates, so 1 burned
them all myself." " ‘The Last Colonel of
the Irish Brigade,” vol. i., p. 5§3).

What would not an antiquary give for such
documents, and in what other country out-
side Ireland would such an incident have
been possible? ’

The survey gives the following details as
to the payments due to Mac v Mor
from this clan. The castle and four plough-
lands  of Bodenesmeen paid yearly four
beeves, valued at 13s. 4d. each. The lands
of Blught Mac: Rury, alias *“I'woghclanihie,
being 12} ploughlands paid yearly for Dow-
gollo, eighteen quirrens of butter and eight-
een sroans of oatmeal a plough, which am-
ounted to 225 quirrens and 225 sroans, valued
at £5 12s. 6d.”

Also, the sheaves of oats out of a plough-
land, valued at 37s. 6d. (i.e. 60 sheaves per
ploughland apparently). :

Also for cuddy or refeclion eight quirrens
of butter and eight srouns of oatmeal per
ploughland. which amounled to 100 quirrens
and 100 sroans, valued at 50s. sterling. 2

Also, in money eight pence, and two white
groats per ploughland, making 11s. and one
groat, and from Coulre over and above 1ls.
and one groat.

Furthermore, the quarter of ‘“‘Carreoger-
ran,”’ in Glaneronght, paid yearly eightecn
beeves, value £12; and the lands along the
Kenmare river from Derrynane to Sneem paid
Dowgollo and Canebeg, amounting to 27s.
8d., and one groat, besides an uncertain
eormren. In all, then, Mac Gillicuddy- paid
£27 3s. 4d. yearly. We know that he also
paid chief rent to the Knight of Kerry, and,
very probably, to the Earl of Desmond, and
to O'Sullivan Mor as well. )

The lands of the Mac Gillycuddys were in
three detached portions. The first ran from
the Laune up to the summit of the Reeks, to-
which these chiefs have-given their name.
The Laune was its northern boundary ; on the

[
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east it extended to near Dunloe, on the west
to where the stream called the Cottoner’s
Tiver joins the Laune, close to Killorglin.
The second district, called Bordonine, lay
along the Kenmare river from Sneem Har.
bour to Caherdaniel, close to nane, In-
land it was bounded by the mountains which
separate Dunkerron from Iveragh.

Finally, there was a small district in the

tish of Kilmaire (the modern Kenmare) on

sides of the river Roughty, and on the
edge of the parvish of Kilgarvan. It was
called Cahirogiarane, and included the modern
townlands of Caher to the north, and Letter
to the south of the Roughty.

The lord of the Reeks sided with the last
Larl of Desmond in his rebellion, and fell in
battle. The curious manner in which the
chiefs of this family, in spite of repeated con-
fiscations, have preserved portion of their
lands to the present day, is told at length in
Brady’s volume, “The Mac Gillycuddy
Papers.”

The second offshoot from the O’Sullivans
took the name Mac Crohin, or XacCrehan.
Both forms of the name are still found, The
author of the “Anonymous History”” seems

to consider the MacCrehans as a branch of learn

the MacCarthys, but a Patent of James I.
specks of “Mac Crehan, aliss O'Sullivan.”
It is quoted in *Kerry Records,” volume
for 1874, p. 41. Nicholas Browne, in his
treatise on Munster, puts them as the third
branch of the (’Sullivams, after O'Sullivan
Moy and O’Sullivan Bere. They had a castle
at Letter, near Cahirciveen, and their lands
ran along the south ehore of Valentia Har-
bour from Cahirciveen to Reencarragh Point.
This clan also a small district in
Magunihy, on the north bank of the little
river Gweestin. This was the only portion
of O'Sullivan territory north of the Laune,
and one would wish 1o know how they ac-
quired it. The MacCrehans, long sunk into
obscurity in their own land, ave now a great
and flonrishing family in Spain, where so
many others of the old Kerry aristocracy
sought and found a refuge in bygone days.

The greater part of the 0’Sullivan territory
remained directly subject to O'Sullivan

Mor. The principal residence of this chief
was the castle of Dunkerron near Kenmare,
The castle of Dunloe was also his, and it
guarded almost the only pass which gave
access from North Kerry to his country.

. Another hranch of the O'Sullivan clan re-
sided at the castle of Cappanacushy. They
were often called MacCrah. as beine descend-
ants of a chief called MacCrah. Thev wene,
it appears, the senior branch of the ('Sulli-

van race, bubt had been deprived of the
chieftainship through the workings of a law
of Tanigtry. The younger brother of Mac-
Crah had succeeded him as chief, and had .

. managed to secure the succession to his own

sons, excluding his ne})hews,_ who had the
best right to the chieftainehip. The Sliocht
MacCrah had to content themselves with an
estate of twenty ploughlands, and the rever-
aionary right to the chieftainship, if the
ruling house should beeome extinct.

The anonymous author gives coplous de- .
tails of some ssven other branches or septs
of the O’Sullivane Mor. The nine braa{chm
he gives are: (1) MacGillicuddy ; (2) O'Sul-
livan, of 'Cumurhagh, or Mac Muirnhirtigg,
who had 4@ plou%h ands; (3) O'Sullivan, of
Glenbeigh, with. 16 ploughlands; (4) O’Sul-
livan ,of (fameah and Glanarcane, with 164
ploughlands ; (6) O'Sullivan, of Culemagort ;
(6) O’Sullivan, of Cappanacuss, with 20
ploughlands; (7) O'Sullivan, of Capiganine ;
{8) O’Bullivan, of Fermoyle and Ballycarna,
with 8 ploughlands; (9) O’'Sullivan, of
Ballyvicgillaneulan, In his day they were
widely wscattered on the Continent, many
of them being priests, distingnished for their
ing. Again and again he refers to the
books of the clan in O'Sullivan Mor's posses-
sion, and speaks as if either O'Sullivan him-
self, or sowe friend of his, intended to pub-
lish a history of the family. Te.. he sayvs, "
“I shall refer that to Mr. 0'Connor, author
of the intended work” (‘“Cork Archaeological
Journal,” 1899, p. 830). All traces of these
books have completely perished, as I have
said. No less complete has been the destruec-
tion of the O'Sulliven family. Though still
the most numerous family in Kerry, and the
third in numbers in all Ireland, vet, of all
the branches mentioned in the ahove-quoted
work, with the exception of the Mac(illy-
cuddy of the Reeks, not one representative
could be found a few years ago owning an
acre in Kerry, nor can the descendants of
some of these branches be traced to the pre-
sent day.

Aa the O'Sullivans treated the ('Sheas and
O'Falveys, so did the Cromwellians treat
them. Yet in this cage, too. the Celtic race
pereists. The land is now passine back into
the hands of those whose forefathers lost it
two hundred and fifty years or even seven
hundred years ago.

The survey gives nretty full lists of O'Sul-
livan Mor’s payments to the Earl of Clan-
car. J n

Thus the lands and castle of Dunloe paid
yearly a sorren of 120 quirrens of butter
and 120 ercans of oatmeal, valued at £3.
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¥ho five quarters of Dualoe paid yearly 72
suorens and 72 eroans the quarter, which
amounted to 360 of each, valued at £9; also
67 sheaves of oats out of every ploughland,
and four ploughlands to the quarter amounted
to 268 sheaves the quarter, so that five
quarters aﬁ.‘)}, 1,340 sheaves of oats, valued at
£3 Ts; out of every quarter in money
3s 4d. and one white groat, equals 17s. 8d.
and one groat (this does not seem correct).
Total value, £13 4s. 8d. and one groat.

The quarter of Coolmagort paid yearly a
cuddy or refection, or in lieuw thereof four
marks, half-face money, which amounted to
£4 8s. 8d. and two white groats.

The two quarters of Sliocht Mae Crah
‘“‘paye yearlie for Dowgollo viis. and for
Canebeg iiis. and one white groat, which
amounted to xis., one white groat.”

The lands of Dunkerron, Gortewallin, Cap-
paghro, and Cappaghnecush paid yearly for
Dowgollo 14s., for Canebeg 6s 4d. and one
groat, hesides an uncertain sorren which
cannot be valued.

‘rom Lackin and Dromcuinch, one quar-
ter, the Earl had 6s. 4d. and two groats;
from Glencave, two quarters, 8s.; from
Glanvehe (Glanbeigh), 19s. 4d. and two
groats.

O’Sullivan of Ballyvicgilleneulan paid from
two quarters, 4s a quarter for owgollo,
and 4d. a quarter and two groate for Cane-

beg; total, 9s. 8d. and one groat, Tinally,
from other O’Sullivan lands in Tveragh,
Mac Carthy Mor veceived £7 14s. The

total from O’Sullivan Mar’s country is given
as £32 1s. and one groat. Sir W. St. Leger
allots 200 ploughlands to O’Sullivan Mor,
and says that Mac Carthy Mor had there the
“finding” of 50 galloglasses, and £20 in
“yearlie spending.”

After the reduction of Ireland by Oliver
Cromwell's army, the inhabitants of the Co.
Kerry were ordered to be transplanted into
Inchiquin and Burren, in Co. Clare, and
to Artagh in Co. Roscommon. 12 Feb., 1655.
But English proclamations have never
counted for much among the hills of Kerry.
It is doubtful whether any 0’Sullivans trans-
planted themselves to .Rurren which “had
not wood enough to hang a man, not water
enough to drown him, nor earth enough to
bury him.”" The chiefs of the O’Sullivan
clan  were dispossessed of their mansions ;
but the main body or farmers remained as
before, and paid rent to Sir Wm. Petty and
the other adventurers. I hope any readers
of the “Kerry People’” who can trace back

their ancestry to those mentioned in the fol-,

lowing list, will let me have the particulars

for publication in this history :—

The List of Forfeiting Proprictors in Tre«
land, 27th January, 16566, contains the follow-
ing names for Kerry :—

BARONY OF CLANNOROGHT. (21).

Daniell Mac Teig O'Duffe,

Ffinin Mac Dermot

Ffinin Mac Finin Duffe

Sheely Ni Daniell, widow.

Teig Mac Daniell

Coll. Donogh Mac Ffinnine, Ardtully.

Dermott Mac Ffinine.

Elizabeth Ftinine, widow.

Roger Mac Ffinine

David Meagh

lidmond AMacMoyle Murrey

Dermott Mac Owen

Mortagh Mac Ryry.

Doctor Morris Roch, Cork

Cnogher Sullivane, alias Capt. Clamper.

Eleene Sullivan, widow.

Ellinor Sullivane, widow.

Roger Mac Daniell Sullivane.

Daniel Mac Owen Sullivane, Glan Inch-.
iquine.

Roger Mac Teig.

Daniell Mac Teige.

BARONY OF DUNKERRON (70).

Dermott Oge Mae Buoge.

Owen Mae Dermott Mac Buoge.
Owen Mac Teig Mac Buoge.
Captain Thomas Browne.

Daniel Mac Dermott Mac Buoge.
Owen Mac Teig Mac Buoge.
Donogh Croghon.

Daniell Mac Cnogher.,

Ffinine Mac Dermott Carty.
John Carew.

Owen Mac Cnogher.

Owen MacCragh.

Teig an Collin,

Owen MacCarty.

Teig MacCnogher,

Cnogher MacDaniell,

Cnogher Mac Teig Dullullieffe.
Daniell an Drughta.

Ffinyne an Downey.

Owen Mae Dermott Oge.

Owen Mac Dermott.

Owen Mac Cnogher Mac Dermott.
Teig Oge an Droughty.

Teig Mac Dermott Mac Donnogh.
Fiynyne Mac Teig Dulliefe,
Cnogher Mac Fiynyne,

Dermott Mac Teige Mac Gillycuddy Fynyne
John Ferres. 3
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John I'erres.

Lieut. Col. MacGuillyouddy of Castle
Caragh. ]

‘Dermott Mac Donough Mac Gillycuddy.

Daniell an Gluna, /

Ifynyne Mae Cnogher Mac Gullicuddy.

Sir Jeffrey Gallway, Knt., late of Limerick,

John Hussey,

Dermoti O’Lyne, junior.

Dermott Mac Morrice.

Teig Mac Mortagh.

Cnogher Mac Owen.

Daniell Mac Owen.

Dermott Mac Owen.

Teig (2) Mac Owen.

Teig Oge.

Daniell Mac Owen.

Daniell (2) Mac Owen.

Teig Mac Owen.

Buogh Mac Teig Sullivane.

Cnogher Mac Teig Sullivane.

Cnogher Mac Daniell Sullivane.

Daniell Mac Owen Sullivane.

Dermott Mac Daniell Sullivane.

Daniell O'Sullivane.

Dermott Mac Owen Sullivane.

Daniell Oge 0'Sullivane.

Joane Sullivane, widow. i

Owen O'Sullivan More, alias The O'Sulli-
vane, Dunkeron Castle.

Owen 0’Sullivane, uncle to 0’S. More,

Dermott Mac Owen Sullivane.

Teig Mac Dermott Sullivane.

Teig Mac Cnogher Sullivane.

Owen Mac Swidy.

Onogher Mae Teig. -

Damiell an Trughy.

Donnogh Mac Teig.

Gullyenddy Mac Teig.

Owen Mao Teig.

Owen (2) Mac Teig

Teig Mac Cnogher Mac Teig.

Dermott Mac Teig.

BARONY OF IVERAGH (100).

Daniel Mac Morris Brenean
Hanora Breneane

Honora Brenane

John Oge Brenane

John Mac Donogh Brenau

John Mac Donogh Brenane
Thomas Browne, Ballyhalikey, Cork
Murrogh MacDonogh, Brenane

Teig MacDaniell Brenane

Owen Mac Daniell Mac Buoige
Owen Mac Mortagh Mac Buoge, Kunuge.
Cnogher MacDermott Croghon

The Executor of Fdward Trant
Cnogher Mac Croghon, Litter

.

Teig Croghon, Litter

John Oge Croghon, Rynard.

Morrish ME:MDO h Carth

Mortogh M nogh Carthy

Owen Mac Fynine Carthy, Killycallylagher.
Charles Connell i

John Connell, Ballyheirny

Owen Oge Carthy, Killighterrow

John Connell

Daniel Mac Carthy, the Elder

Daniel Mac Carthy, the Younger

Daniel Mac Cormock Carthy

Bhilly Carthy, his mother

Daniell Mac Carthy, Sugreny

Donogh Mac Teig Carthy

Teig Mac Owen Carthy

Owen Mae Cormoclk Carthy, Comra
Damniell Oge Carthy

Teig Mac Dermott Carthj

Maurice Connell, Cahir Brenagh.

Heirs of Daniell Mac Fiynyne Carthy
Daniell Mac Teli‘g‘Carthy 1

Daniell (2) MacTeig Cartdy, heir to
Teig MacDaniell Carthy, e :
Daniel MacTeig O'Carthy, Lissaba Coni-

hil
Hens oyf Donogh O'Cluvane
Daniell Oge Carthy, Curraghbegg
Peter Connell, Cloghanemacquin
Daniel Mae Jeotfery Conne ¥
Teig Mac Daniell Carthy, Turomoile
Ffynyne Mac Teig Carthy, Turomoyle
Ellin gomzeoil, ﬁlias Liyne, ore
John Oge Croghon
John Cﬁnnell,g Dublyn, proved his good
constant affection, 20 Sept., 16565.
Morrice Connell
Morrogh Connell
John Connell, Ballyheirny
Mortagh Mac Teig Croghon
Morrice Connell
Daniell Mae Dermott
Dermott 0’ Doole
Dermott Mac Daniell

. John Mae Donnogh

Sheely Mae Dermod, Ballyheirny.
I'flan Mac Egan

Carbery Mac Fgan

Donnogh O'Ffalvey i
Dermott O'Fialvey, Ardgill

Teig Ffalvey

Donough Fialvey. Allaghae
Dermott Mac Gully

John Hussey, Kilmelyne, Eastmeath
Petter Hussey, REai

Petter Hussey, Coolmeileens
John Hussey

Jonn Hurrigh

Elleene Tyne

Daniel O'Lyne
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Cnogher Maghon
Dermod Mac MO{L& h, Oeto

Dermod (2) Mac Mgorba.glh

John Murphey

John (2) Murphey

Owen MacMurtagh

Dermod Mac Mortagh

IL\“fa.nlis 0O'Neale

“nogher Mac Ow i glasse
Hon%)ra. N Owenen, oo
Morogh Mac Owen

%’_Iqrrig}}:ﬁ{ Mac Owen

eigh Mac Owen, Rincharagh

Teig (2) Mac Owen 8

Owen Mac Daniell Mac Phillip, Kilboning

Dermott Mac Ryry, Cloghan
Dermod (2) MﬂcyR%rrjry Stk
%ermod Roe
eig Mac Dermod Mac R
Daniell Mae Bhane, Rina.rﬁry
Dermod Sullivane, Killaloge
Dermod O’Sullivane
Dermod (2) O'Sullivane

Owen O'Sullivane, Killmare

Owen (2) O’Sullivane, and his son,

Dermod "O’Sullivan, both of \

Gillinowlan

Owen (3) O’Suollivane

Owen (4) O'Sullivane

Philip 0’Sullivan, a minor

Christopher Segerson

Owen Mac Teig Sullivane

Dearmod Mac Shane

Connor Mac Teig Sullivane

Iileene Mac Teig

Fivnyne Mac Teig

Dermott Ffalvye.

There are no O’Sullivan names in Corka-
guiny, Magunihy, Clanmaurice, Iraghticon-
nor, or Trughanacmy lists (which will be
printed elsewhere in this History of Kerry).

A contract was made with Dr. William
Petty, physician to the forces, to make maps
of the forfeited lands belonging respectively
to the Government and to the army in
Leinster, Munster and Ulster.

Connacht was aesigned to the Irish and
the work of national plunder was undertaken
with all the sacrilegious and hypocritical
forms of religious ceremony which marked
tae official thanksgiving indulged in when
O:'o,mwlel thanked God for the great
“mercy’’ after he had perpetrated a whole-
. 8ale butchery of innocent women and chil-
dren. The religious ceremonies tool place
in _1.he. chamber of Dnblin Castle on Dec. Ty,
1654, in the presence of many of the chief of-
ficers of the army, and a eolemn blessing on
the great work that had been accomplished.

The History of the Down Survey of Ire-

Ballymae-

land by Sir Wm. Petty, 1665-6, edi b
ToAL , Dublin, 1851, Pp. 424,%1:0’.{
gives an account of the disposal of O'Sulli-

va.;h a : ds. i .

e Survey of Ker John Humphreya

and Lewis S)@{nith is :iyescrylbed by tha}l’a. y.
30 June, 1656, Petty calls it a patheticall
though plaine narrative, which spitefull and
ignorant persons, deafe adders that will
not hear, though they bee charmed never
s0e wisely, and with whome brayeing in a
morter will beat noe reason into. In the
eight baronies Petty returned 408,120 acres
profitable out of 460,925 total area.

Lewis Smith and one John Humphreys
were principally concerned in laying down
the survey of Kerry. Smith addressed a
long letter or narration on the subject ‘“‘to
the Right Honourable His Highness, the
Lord Protector’s Council for the affairs of
Ireland.”

In this document he states that he and
his colleague, Humphreys, had finished the
admeasurement ‘six monthes since’ (the
]4‘Lth.«;‘ is dated Dubl. ult. Junii, 1656), that
they were losing their time and their money
waiting “to goe about the perfecting the
said sub-division,” which was delayed, as
they were informed, “after frequent com-
ming and goeing to the said doctor’ (Petty),
on account of the great debate or trouble
concerning the quality of lands in the said
Co. of Kerry. I?e then describes the manner
in which he proceeded to make the survey;
declaves that he and Humphreys were
strangers to each other, and had not met
until they agreed to hold a epecial confer-
enee on Kerry difficulties; he deplores the
necessity of deciding between profitabla and
unprofitable land, which he wes required to
do by Act of Parliament; hut the Kerry
peasant was industrions, made the most of
his poor land, reclaimed it, and if land
which could -be reclaimed or tilled was to
be returned as profitable—why, the whole,
or nearly the whole of Kerry, was profitable.
He concludes by “eraving their lordships to
harbouy a charitable opinion” of himself and
his colleague.

C“When we came first in the countrev, wee
viewed the place in a general way, consider-
ing the land to be exceeding bad, and was
about not to return any part of the said
conntrey profitable but .only arable and
good pasture. though our instructions did
not mention of the severall kinds of pasture,
which did include and reach the worst
pasture, viz., rocky, fursy, heathy, moun-
taine, and bog, etc., but vet it was so bad
that wee intended to proceed Butt then
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ing te the more remote Eut,nz, Iver-
:;I]:%u.nkamn, Glanneroughty barronyes,

the greatest part of Cork iny barroney,
the parishes of Kilcommen, Killagha, etc.,
and the west firaction in = Magunnity, {
much of the mountaine called Sleavelogher,
in the barony of Trughanackmy, Magunity,
Clanmorris, and Traghticonnor, wee were at
a loss for the like quantity, and wee about
to returne unprofitable in the more habitable
places was even as good as many whole de-
nominations consisted of in the said places,
except some small spotts of arable that was
in some of them, and yet goeing by the
names of plowlands and parishes, ete.,
some men's whole estates consisting of such
like ; some of the said denominations wholly
without arable, soe that we did not know
what to doe, but was very inquisitive of
those that had been inhabitants on the said
places, and of our bounders; soe that we did
clearly see that something had been made of
thoss places, and something might be made
of them again if stocked with cattle; and we
did not judge it safe vo take upon us to cast
away towne lands, parishes, nay, even allmost
barroneys, wholly for unprofitable.

‘“Wee could, althcugh we did at first soe
judge, having never been in the like places
before, yet having information of the afore-
said and seeing that the said places were
twned in the abstracts, and ae plowlands,
and ae parishes, and were some men’s whole
estates, and that we were informed that the
said course plowlands formerly paid contri-
bution or taxes with the rest of the count-
rey, when the same was levied by plow-
lands, therefore we could not but judge
these places good for something, and re-
solved to make something. of them.

“Neventhelegs, one of us sent to the said
Dir. Petty for his advice in the case, who re-
turned His answer to follow our instructions,
which said instructions did not give us any
information what land to call profitable or
unprofitable, saveing profitable lands by
geveral titles, viz., avable, meadow, and
pasture; and then make mention of the
several kinds of pasturve land, wviz., rocky,
fursy, stony, heathy, mountainonse and bogg,
eto., as aforesaid. Soe that according to in-
structions and information of the said count-
rey that we doubted of, was, and must, of
necessity, be called profitable in.ite kind;
but yet wee were in doubt, judging that it
was not fitt that such lands should be ac-
counted and given ont in being noe provision
mave 1n such cases, wee did what wee
thought most convenient and safe, which
was that wee have now done, and presented

to your lordshipps in our | and books.'
Iyimy was bﬁﬁy acc of unfairness, il

not of sctoal dishonesty, in his work, and
as these accusations were made during his

with life-time, he compiled a treatise .to defend

his conduct, which he mentione in his will
as the ‘‘Book of the History of the Down
Survey,” and describes, in his *‘Reflections
upon some Persons and Things in Ireland,”
as “‘A history of the survey and distribution
of the profitable lands in Ireland, and with-
all a series of my own services and suffer-
ings with reference thereunto and to that
nation.” This .valuable and important work
has been published by the Irish Archaeolo-
gical Society, with a preface and notes by
Major Larcom. In this work he states the
complaint made against him that ‘he caused
too much to be returned profitable for his
own lucre.”

It need scarcely be said that he defends
himself vigorously from this cha.rge. Kerry,
he says, was the ‘‘great sceme of the clam-
our.” H
Dr. Petty. who made the survey, says in
his official report that “‘as for the blood shed
in the contest for these lands. Gbd best
knows who did occasion it; but upon the
playing of the game or match the English
won, and had, among other pretenses, a
gameeter’'s right at least to their estates,
and, like gamesters, they proceeded to divide
the spoil.” The lands they had won swere
gat out to the army by lot, and assigned to
the different regiments in the several pro-
vinces. So it was ordered that the several
regiments ‘whose Jots had fallen in any of
the three provinces should be put in poeses-
sior of their lands successively, one after an-
other. =

The vegiments in each provincial lob cast
lots to ascertain in what county and baron-
ies each regiment should be satisfied. A lot
or ticket was then made for every troop or
company, containing the names of the seve-
ral officers and soldiers, the arrears due to
each and the number of acres due to the en-
vive troop or company. These lots or tickets
were prepared on paper of equal size and
sealed with wax wafers of glue, so that one
might not be distinguished from the other
without opening them. They were then pub
into a box, out of which they were drawn
by lots, to distingnish in which of the
baronies the proportion of land due to each
company was to fall.

““The principall care was to avoid Keire,
by those who possibly might fall there, an
to have it swallowed was the designe of
others, in noe danger of coming meer it, .




405

which was partly by artificiall interpretings,
and supplying tge said grand resolves, bg:t.
chiefly by asserting or urging down the sur-
vey 1f Keery as it was returned to containe
fi);&lt:’four hundred thousand acres of payable

The baronies of Iveragh and Dunkerron
were specially objected to by the soldiers.
They had signed a “‘solemn paper,” wherein
they declared voat “‘they had rather take a
lott uppon a barrene mountaine as a portion
from the Lord, than a portion in a most
fruitfull valley uppen their owne choice.”

. The result was that those who got the

‘fruitfull valley’ were entirely satisfied with
the designs of Providence in  their regard,
while those whose lot fell “uppon the barrene
mountaine” objected loudly to its decree.

The baronies of Iveragh and Dunkerron
were considered quite out of the pale of pro-
vidential interference as far as the soldiers
were concerned, and it was further required
that *“if the barony of Glannaroughty may
not be laid aside, that some way of repay-
Ing all may be thought uppen for such who
saall fall there and in the rest of Keerey,
they being persnaded that not one-fifth of
the return in Glannaroughty will be ad-
I]udgved profitable lands, and not one moiety
in the remainder of Kerry."

The case of the Kerry Quit Rent, 1681, is
an interesting account of the time.

This old folio volume of 18 pages dealt
with the case of John Marshall and James
Waller, gent: plaintiffs; and William Mus-
champ and Daniel Burges. Fsq.: defendants.

By two certificates of the Court of Claime,
30 December, 1668, certain lands m the
baronies of Iveragh, Dunkeron, and lano-
roght, now let in custodium te the defend-
ants at £1120 yearly, were set out unto
Robert  Marshall as assignee to Sir \vm.
Petty, Knight.

Sir Wm  Petty maketh oath neither him-
self nor Robert” Marshall, did receive any
vents from Easter 1660 until date of certi-
ficates, and until Easter, 1681, not more
than three years rent, nor above £2,392 13s.
Deponent is the sole surviving trustee for the
above 900 soldiers, commonly called the three
regiments, for the lands of Donlogh. De-
ponent had certain lands in the parish of
Drumod and (lancaragh past to him of 7th
May, 1659, and for 18 years he mnever re-
ceived any rents but as a custodee out of
the same. And as he was the chief director
of the Down Survey he intended that the
reduced column should contain the number
of acres according to which the quit rents
were to be charged 25th July, 1681.

Petty, writing of Ireland, generally ob:
serves  that “it lieth commodionsly for the
trade of the new American world, which wa
see every day to grow and flourish.” Ha
little anticipated how closely united the
countries would be after a few centuries;
or how much American trade wounld depend
upon Irieh industry. *“It lyeth well = for
sending butter, cheese, beef, fish, to their
Elrl:p:fl ma.nket.s‘;k;hi(l:lh are to the ﬁbmfnanm
¢ e planta of America.”” Ireland, he
declares ?n, by nature, fit for trade, but other
wise very much unprepared for the same.
He evidently did not think it prudent to give
the real reasons of this unpreparedness. He
remarks especially the education of the

eople, and says the Latin tongue is very
requent amongst the poorest and chiefly in
Kerry, most remote from Dublin. Of Kerry,
he says further:

*“Concerning the Aubergrene, taken upon
the western coast of Iveland, I could never
Teceive any ‘clear, satisfactorie mention of
its odor, nor any other vertue, nor what use
was or could be made of that stuff which
has been so called, which is of several ap-
pearances. What is said of the herb Mackle-
berry is fabulous, only that 'tis a Tythemal,
which will purge furiously, and of which
there are vast quantities in that part of
Kerry called Desmond, where the Arbutus
tree groweth in great numbers and beauty.
There be in Ireland not ten iren furnaces,
not ahove 20 forges and bloomeries, and but,
one lead work which was overwrought. There
are many in view, which the pretended pro-
prietors  have hindered the working = of.
There is also a place in Kerry fit for an allum
work, attempted, but not fully proceeded
upon.

“There are in the west of Ireland ahout

20 gentlemen who have engaged in the Pil-
chard fishing, and have among them all about
160 saynes, wiherewith they sometimes take
about 4,000 hogsheads of “pilchards per an-
num,
. ‘“‘Registers of burials, births, and mar-
riages are not yet kept in Treland, though of
late begun in Dublin but imperfectly.
English in Ireland, growing poor ‘and dis-
contented, degenerate into Irish; vice versa,
Irish. growing into wealth and favour, re-
concile to the English.”

In the Life of Sir William Petty, 1623.-87,
by Lord Edm. Fitzmaurice, Lond., 1895, 8
vo., pp 335, we find a full account of this
confiscation of Desmond.

In 1661 Petty was able from Mount Man-
gerton to hehold 50,000 acres of hiz own
land, moetly in Iveragh and Dunkerron,
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In. 1692 his only daughter, and ultimate
heiress, married Lord Kerry; and the O'Sul-
livan lands passed into the possession of the
Fitzmaurices of Lixnaw.

According to the return of landowners in
1876, the Marquess of Lansdowne had
94,983 acres of land in Keiry.

The following extract shows how the new
owner started to anglicise South Kerry in
16066 :—

“Mr. Cheesey—Instructions for Kerry—By
Sir William Petty.

“l. When you goe into Kerry find out
Corneliug Sullivane of Dromoughty, in bar-
rony of (lanneroughty, and take directions
from him for goeing into all the woods in
the two barroneyes of Glannerroughty and
Dunkerron and particularly those of Glax-
curragh, soe us to satisfie yourself what clift
ware, aﬁi‘p tymber, house timber, and other
wooden commodities may bee made out of
them, and at what charges they may be
brought to the water side, how far each re-
spective wood.

2. I would have you take the hest
account you can of all the staifes and other
clift-ware which now lyeth upon the river,
and examine by all the meannes you can
what part of them was bronght from any
other than my woode, and to oppose the
shipping of any untill all contreverseyes of
that point bee cleared to prevent the cutting
of any wood but by my order, to bringe in

English and Protestante workmen in the
greatest number you cam, assureing all such
who are able and honest, they shall have the

best incouragement in Munster, and forbid-
ding all tenants from paying any rent to any
but, myself or my order.

“T would have you encourage Sandford
and Sellberry, and let Sandford goe on with
his boate, slender worke, such a one as may
bee able to carry 20 tunne to Corke or Lym-
mericke, and sett as many hands as you
thinke convenient to worke upp the timber
alveady fallen into clift-ware, and sawing-
timber, according to such scantlings as I
have given you.

“And to aered with 4s many as you can
to take the rent of the land or stocke for
their wages.

“To take care that noe pipe staffes com-
ing from any other woods not to he shipped
before thev have paid the lawfull dutyes and
customes fop the same.

“To consider what conveniency is for mak-
ing of sale for beefe and fish.

“Dublin, dated the 24th of May, 1666."

A further extract gives a view of South
Kerry, about this time.

“Report on the State of Kerry, A.D. 1673,
May 27th, by Lord Herbert of Castle-
island and others :

“To His Excellency the Lord Lieutenant
of Ireland.

“In obedience to your Lxcellency’s orders
of the 24th March last, we, the undersigned
Justices of the Peace for the countie of
Kerry, have considered the state and con-
dition of the three haronies of Iveragh, Dun-
kerron, and (lanerought, in the said county,
unto which we consider the conditton of
Beare and Bantry to be very like; and, so
in the whole matter, find that the said county,
viz., the said four baronies, are obnoxious to
the following evils: First, to be preyed upon
by any enemy’s shipping, piccaroones, and
that ‘the people thereol are under many
temptations, and have manie opportunities
to correspond and comply with such vesgels
for their relief and refreshment as may ap-
pear by the situation of land, condition of .
people, hereafter mentioned, ard several late

instances. : j

“I[. That the said county being inhabited
for the most part by such people as are con-
cerned to oppose the present laws, and that
others not being enough in number to procure
the execution of what the magistrate com-
mands. it nath happened that the ministers
of justice have been so abased, in either their
persons and goods, that they have been
gither terrflisd from proceeding in their duty,
or else wearied into a compliance with, or
connivance at, those whom they before sought
to punieh; the cause of which two general
svils we humbly conceive to be as followeth—
First, that the remotest part of these baronies
are one hundred and eighty Engiish miles
from Dublin, and neay forty miles from the
places where Assizes and Sessions are held ;
and the waies for the last thirty or forty
miles are the woret of all Trsland, impass-
able in the winter time, and requiring an
hour’s riding, with much trouble and danger,
for each mile, so as the minirters of justice
cannot, from the inhabitants of these places,
who are verie poor, find anie satisfaction for
their troublesome journey after them, nor
will the causes in which these people are
concerned bear the charge of sending men to
make affidavits or to be witnesses n them,
etc.; mor are there yet manours enough
created in a eufficient order to try small mat-
ters upon the place.

“In all these baronies, being one hundred
miles in compase, there is resident but one
winister, and he withont churchwardens or
service-hooke, officiating only now and' then
in one place, and who, although we have




407

abovo£300duetohim,i.unow}vead is ti i nger i
) | y to this time of special danger then i-
g;.n:hhefc;; jﬁfﬁ. n;fnzém:;)texmnze, a.n?o .s?l 'vexgd iun. ‘in any ut.h{:re part of gln'a l:ounlgraofa ::.-11-'?
1 ; uses done to him ver since th i i y
the Papists, that he finds easier to suﬂ'ei I do ::ot::e Lhit?ksu_spemwn o e skeldaney
than to seek relief, whilst the said county

officers and fria o i “The Irish of this countri | branchea
"Jfé‘ hziemelefeén%mwgﬁgyﬁ&e l:}‘llg;vl.:;cg? :ﬂfxg, &w tifa.mi{]ie:, and cilfia!i; fﬂf}aﬂ é’iuva.m
o tin rlies, but most b Sulli

¥ ;%:],c:jﬁ; i:f S‘;mi‘;lin;‘;"d::; . 11}:&?8 dbee-!::- of late Px?opn",:to&mull:);mrﬂészheo);
] : eople ands here, as may appear by the sup-
gaﬁﬁ.ftgfﬁef;a above 66 acres English of veys on mcord’; and t{js‘pp e s.ur

of two chimneys in each, nor one inhabitant judged innocent, nor have any benefact of
' _ he of te Aect of Settlement, d
;)aj; :Sfec.mgf o }?;l ;h(%rsigf. ]fhc’-o lljemdel of m.-:%\:;)- lvis et modis enjoy cun.sidera.bleop::t‘;eggh&]lg?:
: ¥ : of oysters, low wa ate estate, and “that without i i
even in this place, which, before the dis- rent to his j mpa.ymg e
X ‘ ] ajesty for the
covery of Newfoundland, was the fisher e s, arotabL R T
C . 5 "Iy of mnocents are obliged to do i
Liaurop{, and no employment but the grazing are able to engag-g great n-x’lmwbl;i:elg tt}f:ir
of ]8{.'!1..1.1] cattle in the summer time, without name and families to assist them in such their
jr’x'm.{mg; any hay for winter - but a general Progresses and intrusions. Besides, the last
ace of poverty =nd rudeness hath = over- of these three hath lately acted as a justi
:]ﬁ'iimti‘;t"b uéml \Iflf,iun tl,hsge litst, five years, of peace himself while the English tojwhox
ab Lne trades of iron, Je »,Shippnig, ‘rape- these lands are passed i i
gt:ﬁdﬂ ; ﬁtil:l I-:Ii] g of ai:]“ aor‘ts,tﬂ:.}t:.mng, II-];ld }slevera.l legally come byp lhem.mPC:g'rlltzsmﬁle;:recaggeotf
Aer trades subeervien ereto, hath heen stopped from i wti 2
:v1'-th great difficulty introduced by one or In qudelspﬁs{;{\r}g aﬁg;ssuocfhnog;tggca&m.
WO persons, so as the people, by reason of attempt is made to describe Ronth Kg,, r:n
their poverty and the fastnessea of . their 1750, and more especially Tuosist and K'In
country, are urepressible either in their per- makilloge where Mac Finneen Dhuy resid :i
8OD§ or ty:.zooda for anything they do amise, In 1689 the Ja ‘nbi-t' Ry ; ml-“ i
?{;:rre:«’axin};em e-']_bll_l);c r;';:;g:&tl‘ute upon tae place Petty's colony f::f:m i\i!ilﬁ:\:;tﬁd S’\]; ‘a?c-lc])llm
ey A of this affair was printed in London (o
"IV, And the said county is not only e L R rh i

; Or en, a; & r r
't.hmly pecpled in general, but the proportion é)outh ?f“.t f()'r ay 'Pett;) ;i :
:]:a Iinglieh and DIrotestants is smaller here $(Nedeen &g:}fl‘;n;]ell gi?utlhu:odescr]bed CEE
Shan nglwgmgzd _g;:ir:: gff }E:‘*lr“;““ } mﬁgirs t}ggﬂ:; situated on the noble river ?(enmjér;?l{vl;‘ei]el
thirteen pa.rishes_, there _nrer'not in this time f,?:fihoilso tfous. burden come up. There are
E?l 11:‘::“;”2”% fﬂ'mlllhei ] faven of the]sel,id to thelr:n(t:: ?tfuisg%(;?yhglijis‘ﬁesult to tell - i_q:
't arishes—that is to say, not ahow 4 c e B haa
one in one hundred and fifty f.-r.?nilies of t.hg E];’ey fﬁ:’ her[z (nl.;la:r {I\en{na.ne), fop land 1s Je}
Papists, as may appear by the collector of gheeves to }t))r ugl inhl ftéld gnecva styelve
}.he hearth-money of the said connty, nor was lands the s =B o%-i 2nd, but o two plow-
the other two parishas betfer furnished, till 1,000 i ‘lm‘; oo farms are from 40 to
;\;1!.11[1:& these four years, Sir William Petty <014 f(‘:: Ifs;lt;ash,ﬂﬁntgeaco?upon erop., Cows
?-‘:: ed some iron works t-hew: ago are now gold forg£3 -Plzﬁbas Z.xa':rsgfdt}gg
% V. This country was, by the last powers two shillings and two pm’lca each. Upon m
at subdued it, laid waste for many years, asking if they ploughed with horses or oxeny
B0 a5 it was death for any man, woman or I was told there was not-a lough in the
child  to be seen in it, neither, since the whole parish of Tucsist whxe.-h is
militia hath been settled all over the king- miles long by eeven hroad.
dom, hath any notice been taken of this place, cabin without land is six shillings a year,
glther to protect it by part of the army, or with an acre of land, £1 2s, 4. The labour-
ly a militia of its own; even from an enemy’s ers receive from farmers a cabin, three pence
ong hoat, which, with forty musketeers, may a day (!) and two meals, Lord Shelbourna
do what they please in this country; nor at has a plan to improve Kenmare by building

B

' settlements in the town. T e state of the

408

ten cottages, with ten acves of land attached with diet, they have no employment the rest
to each, to be given rent free for twenty- of the Yyear. 'I'welve ounces of bread are sold
one years, also to form twenty-acred allot- for 2d.; potatoes are 2id. a stone. The
ments for parks, with design to encourage general diet of the poorer clagses is potatoes
with sour milk. There is no dispensary or
poor in the whole county is exceedingly hospital. Thirty years ago I remember to
miserable, owing to the conduct of men of have heard the first Lord Lansdowne call
property, who are apt to lay the blame on Ireland a Siberia, and a Siberia it is still.
what they call land pirates, or men who In that lapse of time, from 1792 to 1882, the
offer tiwe %ighmt rent, and who, in order to only improvement is the introduction of A&
ﬂay— it, must, and do, re-let all the cabin public coach and one good road. Wages in

uds at an extraordinary rate, which is as- the negobourhood of Castle lsland, 8d. a

signing over all the cabins to be devoured day, the quarter loaf sold there for 64d. At

Tralee there is a fever hospital, but no char-
itable society.”’—Lord Brandon's Report on
Kerry, A.D. 1822,

Lord Charlemont writing in 1764, at-
tributes the White Boy disturbance of that
time to the excessive misery of the peasantry,

by one farmer. The cottiers on a farm can-
not go from one to another to find a good
master, as in England, for all the country
is on the same system, and no redress to be
found. Such being the case, the farmers are
enabled to charge the price of labour as low
as they please, and rate the as high as whom he calls “‘wretched starvers on potatoes
they please.» This is an evil which op and water.””—V. Hardy’s Life of Lord
them cruelly, and although the origin of it Claremont, vol. I.

is in the landlords, when they set their farme Glanarougit, Dunkerron, and Iveragh are
setting all the cabins with them, instead of the most aouhhen:‘l’g baronies and are described
keeping their tenants to themrelves, the op- by Smith in 1756 as “‘being the rudest amd
pression is in the former valuing the labour miost uncultivated tracts of the whole county."’
of the poor at 4d. or 5d. a day, and paying This description is certainly not applicable to
that in land rated much above its value. the two former baronies at the present time.
Owing to this the poor are depressed. They L'he improvement in these baronies may be
live on potatoes and sour milk, and the poor- attributed to the former and to the present
est only on salt and water and a herring. Marquis of Lansdowne. The Rev. J. Rad-
Their circumstances are incomparably worse cliffe writing in 1814, mentions that the then
now than they were twenty years ago. . . Marquis allowed 20 per cent of the reserved
Improvements have been made at Castle rent to be exlpended in making roads or fences,
Island hy fifteen or sixteen Palatine families '£20 per mile, a liberal sum in aid of the
brought ~ there from Limerick by Colonel county presentments, for any roads made
Blennerhassett. They plough with a wheel through his estate. He also’ mentions the
plough, and have cars with wheels, whereas exertions of Mr. Mahony, of Dunlow Castle,
there were only sliding cars before in the who had introduced a “Scatch cart,” and
district. They  also sow potatoes in drills, from whom Mr. Radcliffe heard, for the first
and plough them out. and this with great time, ‘of the importance of giving salt to
success but no one follows their improve- sheep. Mr. Bland had improved the breed
ments, Oysters are sold for two pence and of sheep considerably by a cross of the Sonth
thres pence a hundred at Tralee; salmon, Down “on the mountain ewe, and had re-
three half-vence per 1b. ; lobsters, a penny claimed a considerable tract of ved bog.
each: potatoes, 1s. 6d. per owt. . . . IN  «The landed property in Clanmaurice,
Tuosiat they have a way of letting land by North Kerry, hequeathed by the late Rarl
the ounce (1) in the arable part near the sea. of Kerry, to the Marquis of ia.nsdowne, who
An ounce of land is the sixteenth part of a succeeds to the title, is quite inconsiderable ;
foecve, and is sufficient for a potato garden. 4 consists of only a farm, which was reserved
They pay a guinea for it. Near Tarbert the by the late Earl, when the remainder of the
land is et at: about 14s. an acre. . ' The }e;rry estate was sold—in conseque_uce of hav-
number of horses kept by many gentlemen ing

amounts to folly. Mr. Bateman, for instance,
keeps thirty. Lord Glandore, filty. Mr.

upon it, the ancient burial place and
Monument of the Lords of Kerry—(1818).
In 1880, Charles Russell (Lord Killowen) de-

Titzgerald, * twenty-one. and Mr. TLeslie ibed the state of South Kerry, especiall
twenty-four.”—Arthur Young's Tour in Ive- :ﬁ: ']'rjnjt,; College and Lanadonns E:{Lteey_
land, A.D. 1776. This led to a heated correspondence between

“The labourers’ w. throughout. Kerry the author, Lord Fitzmaurice, Mr. Morrogh
in spring and hnrvesi',ngOd. andghﬁd. a day, Bernard, Miss Cusack, Canon Brosnan, Lady
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Piﬁzge-ra.]d, Mr. Trench, Father Lawlor, and

ethearg,
The (Sulli

! vans are the most numerons
family in Kerry, and the third in numbers in
all Ireland. From the Kerry Voters’ List, I
have compiled the following figures ; —

Division. |Total Voters. O'Sullivans.l per cent,
South Kerry | 7052 1150 101 30
Fast 6.000 } 480 095
West 4.000 240 474
North 6,572 175 2,00

Totals 27,472 J 2,185 73T

e e = n Sl S R

Assuming the usual average of five per
householder, there probably are not less than
10,000 O’Sullivans in Kerry. There are about
43,000 of the name in all Ireland. The
O’Sullivan Bere hranch in Corlk will account,
for several thousand in that county. The
O'Sullivans in other parts of Ireland are very
likely descendants of the clan who got scaf-
trerec{ from their original home in Tipperary,
but did not come to Desmond when the main
part of the clan settled there,

The O’Sullivan Mor arms were : A dexter I

hand couped at the Wrist, grasping a sword
erect. - Crest: On a ducal coronet or, a robin
redbreast, with a sprig of laurel in its beak.
Motto: Lamh foistenach abu,

A robin redbreast perched

upen a crown;
Two lions ram

pant, with a dreadful frown ;

6. O’Sullivan of Cappanacuss.

7. O’Sullivan of Capiganine.

8. O’Sullivan of Fermoyle and Ballycarna,

9. O’Sullivan of Ballyvicillaneulan,

The histor
in detail, a.ndy
invited while
in the “‘Kerry People.”

L—O'SULLIVAN MOR.

O'SULLIVAN MOR, lords of Dunkerron.
of the line of Heber, are descended from
Donal na Sgreadaidhe. Hig son,  Donal,
died in 1580. His Son, Owen, died in 1623
His son, Donal, died in 1633, and was buried
at Muckross. His son, Owen  (VSullivan
Mare, or The O¢Sullivan, Dunkerron Castle,
forfeited his
His son, Donal, died in 1699,

Rory Ramhar. His son Donal O’Sullivan

Mor died without heiys on 16th April, 1754. |
i Suildhubhain, Sulivan, from whom the |

sept of O'Sullivan took their tribe
was  descended, according  to
Linca Antigua ~ (Ulster’s Office),
Pedigrees, and otoer Irish
from” Finghin, op Flovence,
tian King of Munster. Eochuid Suillobhain
lived A.DD., 950.
rean or Lawrence MacSullivan.

3. Buadha or Vietor O'Sullivan, called
Athacm, e, Atheru of the Bloody Ford.
He was the first to take name of (’Sullivan,
4. Aodh or uugh O’Sullivan.

Charles O°Sullivan,

. r Vietor O’Sullivan, ancestor
of Vera (¥Sullivan.

7. MacCraith or Magrath

O’Clery’s
Genealogies,

O'Sullivan, son

of prosperitkr. ’
A stately stag and a gricly boar do stand 8. Donal \Moe O’Sullivan. He had two
eneatn a nervous and uncounquered hand, Sons, who were ancestors of the 0’Sullivan
That grasps a sword, around whose blade More and O’Sullivan Beare branches, Tha
4 shining, sparkling evet is displayed.”  eldest son was

The war cry of the 0'Sullivan Was :
“Foistineach Steallach Abu.’’
Steady (and) Stalwart fop ever,
The motto: “Lamh foistenach abu.”
The steady or firm hand.
O'SULLIVAN FAMILY.—The O’
territory was directly subject to O’Sullivan
Mor of Dunkerron and Dunloe castles, whose
over-lord was MacCarthy Mor of Castle
Lough, Pallis, and Ballycarberry. The nine
branches of the O’Sullivans are ; —
- MacGillicuddy.
. O’Sullivan  Cy
rihirtigg,
. O’Bullivan of Glenbeigh.,
- O’Bullivan of Caneah and Glanacrane.
. O'Sullivan of Culemagort.

Sullivan

0D =

muthagh or Mac Muir-

E.

(= =T

descended the chiefs of
line of O'Sullivan Maore,

O’Sullivan, ancestor of
O'Sullivan

Banhlj}lrj and O’Sullivan MacFineen duff.
10.

Oge O’Neill,
lain in 1432,

9. Gilla Mochuda O’Sullivan, from whom
the sept know as the
9a. The second son was Gil'a na bhflan

the branches of
Beare, Lords of Bearhaven and

unlong op Dunlaing,
11. Murtogh, Muirchertach.
12, Bernard.
13. Buochan or Buaidhigh.
14. Dunlong,

15. Ruadhri, Roger, m. Una, dau. of Neil

Prince of Tyrone, who was

16. Dwoinal,
17. Donal,

estates, in the wars of 1641.54,
lis son was |

name,

O'Ferrall's

the 14th Chris. |

|
|
!

of each branch will be given
any additions op corrections are
the work is appearing serially

|
|
i
I
{
i
|
\
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Had two sons,

18. FKoghan, Owen. ]
Dorial na Sgreadaidhe.
ancestor of O'Sullivan Mor br:;!;:h!; )
M.S8. history refers to this branch :—
"I"%‘i’e ?gudson of the aforesaid Redoricus
of the fair hair, O’Sullivan More, built Du}.?-
kieron Castle, as did, very soon after, the
graudson. of the aforesaid Macarius, who
was likewize O'Sullivan More, during  his
life, as aforesaid. (The Normans built the
fivst stone castles in Kerry, Many of the
castles were taken by the Irieh, after the
Norman defeat at Callan, and were left in
their possession on praiymg head rents to the
Earls of Desmond). The Castle of Cappana-
cosé and Templenoe Church, having = that
name, it being the last that was built in the
aforesaid county of Desmond, and bestowed
a glebe on said church, whereby the dmel?
dants of said grandson of Macaruis, {
name Cor, son to Daniel McCrah, who los
the title, etc., of O’Sullivan More, said Cor
and his offsprings, for two or three genera-
tions, had bﬂe choosing of a clergyman in
the parish of said Teu}plenge_, but as the;u-
affspring neglected having this privilege re-
corded in Rome, it was forgot bub by
ancient clergymen and superiors as knew
the nature of the case, who had still regard
for the vote and commendation of the
chiefest, or eldest of the family of Cappana-
coss_in such cases. These two_ castles of
Dunkieron and Cappanacoss, which were
built about 300 years ago, were burnt by
Lord Musgry, in’ Cromwell's time, to pr_l;—
vent their being made garrisons for sai
Cromwell’ rby. ;
1t ‘:vaa iﬂﬁl—a Izmarkable that every O'Sul-
livan More of the descendan® of the afore-
said Redoricus of the fair hair was either
endowed with manhood, great sense, or ed{.E
cation, or great generosity, and most of sai
qualifications concurring in most of them be-
sides the hereditary qualifications in all the
family of being noted horeemen, _px\oved in
the famous Owen Roe, father to the 1t
O'Sullivan, who was the most noted of his
rank in the kingdom therein. Yet. for
brevity's eake, T shall speak but of a few of
them. and T shall begin = with O’Sullivan
called Donall na  Scraddy, who proved to
be a man of great courage and conduct, and
particnlarly in a day of battle, where he was
commander not only of his own army, but
also of the McCarthy More’s, who were
often put inte disorder, and as roften
brought to their proper ranks; not only by
his activity, bul also by his continual shout-
ing and vehement screeching, sometimes

Der- crying out victory in a time of Fut- despar-
Donal was :;y, whereby he obtained the day, and got

imself the name of Daniel na Scraddy.
f 19. Donal na_ Sgreadaidhe, shriek (from
his continual shouting during a 1\l;at.{'.lta).d
20. Donal of Dunkerron, m. Mary, dau.
of Cormac Oge, Lord of Muscry, and, dying
in 1580, left liesug—
eir.
T e m. Julla, dau. of Oven
N 'thy, Reagh, o TY.
1?0“]‘1{“:]%11«2, wﬁo,m. the dan. of 0'Dono-
dau.

vs(:;- oﬁif:el;filo m. Una, of FEdm.
e s L TR
Wigowﬁil?iu}hnﬁ (E(i)mﬁﬂd 'O’Sulliva.n_ Beara.

g. A dan. who m. John, XKnight of
K?II"}I;\:: following references to the O'Sulli-

vang of Co. nerry appear in the Btate
lParZ.mihny 20. The Earl of Desmond to

suffer 0'Sullivan More to remain in
‘s peace.

Sigf. (%g.eenO’S?ae].livan More's son and
heir, accompanied vhe Earl of Clan-
carthy, when TLord Roche, Castle-
town, was defeated

1568.

579. Dec. 2. Twao sons of O'Sullivan More
e gve joined the rebel Desmtmd
1580. Sept. 17. O’Sullivan More has come

in.

. Owen of Dunkerron, son of Donal, m

.Tvuzla}a (living 1603), daughter of Donogh Ma.b;

Carthy Reagh, Prince of Carbery, simterz3

Florence Mac Carthy Mor. He d. in 1623,
leavin issne:h-:- £ R ‘

1 .
b, 03:.‘311,' living 1640, . who! had. s son,
Dermod.

c. Dermod.

d. Mary.

e, Ellen, ° :

f. Julia, who m. Thomas 0’'Connor-Kerry

In 1585. this Owen Mor attended Perrott’s
Parliament in Dublin.

e following venealogy of Owen O'Sulli-
\va'rln‘hl\lore was written by Carew, (lovernor
of Munster: Owen married Shylie Mae
Carthy Reagh. His danghter, Shyhe, mar-
vied Thomas O’Kunagher. His son, Donel,
married Honora Fitzgibbon, daughter of the
White Knight. bot she had no children.
Donal married secondly, Joan, daughter of

Lixnaw. g d
Loégn-ew givee (FSullivan’s forces in his
time as follows:
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BOO’SuHivn.n- Beare, 30 companies, in Bantry,

Mac Fineen Duffe in Beare, 20.

Clan Lawra, in Beare, 30.

The Coubsey, in Beare, 40.

O’Bullivan Maore, in Dunkerron, 160.

MacGillicudde, 100.

MacCrohan, in Iveragh, 40.

In the Lgerton M.SS., p. 616, it is stated
that the O’Sullivans were a much more con-
siderable sept than the 0’Donoghues, and
possessed as large a portion of Lough Lene
and Lough Barnasnaugh (Lower a.ng Upper
Lakes of ..illarney) as O’Donoghue, and did
not forfeit till 1641.

Owen Q'Su]:]iva.n was Lord of Dunkerron,
or the O'Sullivan More, to the end of the
17th century. His son, Domnel, lost all his
property in the Orange confiscations except
the few townlands at the Toomies forfeited
by Lord Kenmare, which remained in the
fﬂJS.I]'_V up to 1762,

wen O'Sullivan More, who was married
to Calia McCarthy, the couple who built the
court’ at Dunkieron; the said Owen, alwavs
much noted for great sense and fovesight
particularly proved in him when the greatres;a
warrior, Uwen Roe O'Neill, eent a courier
from Ulster to him, the said Owen O’Sullivan
More, Florence McCarthy More, and Danial
Caum O’Sulhvgn Bear, to meet him in a
certain place in Munster, which they ab-
served. The said Owen Roe O'Neill at said
meeting earnestly invited them to join him
In opposition to the Queen, alleging that he
had good strong allies in the kingdom, and
great promise of considerable supplies from
abroad, to which Florence McCarthy More
and Daniel Caum O’Sullivan Bear agreed.

But the said Owen O'Sullivan More not
only refused to join them, but also abso-
lutely told them their undertaking would
prove in vain, that their allies at home were
not suflicient, and may be dieappointed in
their expected succours from abroad, whera-
upon he was made captive Ly the said Owen
RToo O'Neill, and by some histories taken to
Dlster; hut as I had it from ancient know-
mg people, his being taken to Ulster is an
error, and as said histories erroneously men-
tions that the eaid Daniel Caum was the son
of O’'Sullivan \ore, as undoubted he wae
not, but the son of ‘0'Sullivan Bear, called
Donall Cnocanti, and the Earl of Tuamond’s
dnughter, but was Owen O'Sullivan More’s
san-in-law, married to one of his daughters,
Helena. The eaid Owen O'Sullivan More did
not join in this enterprise. and at last dis-
suaded the said Florence McCarthv More, who
was his brother-in-law, from being con-

cerned, which saved him, the said Flo
McCarthy, his estate; but all his uasions
could not prevail with Daniel Caum from
gy Bl e
! . James Myaghe. H Moyla
ﬁ.nging a proudy;gnt min BZD-
mond, named O'Sullivan More, to be
my enemy, for having imprisoned cer-
tain of his men, wherefore Moyle re-
mained at O'Sullivan’s house for eight
days framing filse articles and books
against me.
- May 10. O’Sullivaw’s More's lands weat
:llsaye by descent from the father to

BOIL.

- July 26. Mr. Edward Denny, Tralee,

reports: A follower of ('Sullivan

Mare brought in question, for saying
he knew no other queen he had but
0’Sullivan More, and adjudged to lose
his ears. !

June 30. Tract by Sir Wm. Herbert.

The third country is (’Sullivan More's ;
it containeth 100 polugh lands. He,
M*Carthy Mor, claimeth there the giv-
ing of tl rod, the finding of 50
galloglas, rising out, and in yearly
5 mndig t.}&?] value of £20.

Jec. 51. The people of Munster are
so linked together by affinity and
consanguinity, they will not do ‘servica
against one another. Dermot O’Sul-
kivan. second brother to (’Sullivan
More (20), is married to Sir Owen
MeCarthy's  danghter. O'Sullivan
Bere is married to 0'Sullivan More’s
sister, O'Sullivan More is married to
Florence McCarthy’s sister. O'Sulli-
van’s More's sister, mother
Knight of Kerry. O'Sullivan More’s
son, to Tord Fitz Morris’s daughter.
O'Connor Kerry married to O'Sullivan
More’s daugchiter.

1600. Feb. 15. Florence MecCarthy,
the first of last January, went into
Desmond with some 500 men, and
there on a parley hill had a rod given
him by O'Sullivan More, after the
Irish custom, and 8o was made McCar-
thy More. On May 14, Florence
writes to Carew asking that the title
be aholished in him by that means of
creation that it was abolished in his
father-in-Taw, Farl of Glencar.

1600. June 17. O'Sullivan More was left as

ledge at Askeaton, by Florence Mac-

rthy. that he would bring \MacCar-
thy's soldiers to aid the Farl of
e

Tyrone.
1592. Oct. 21. The Commissioners for mak-

1588,

1599.

about

to the .
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ing the composition of Munster fixed
the sum of £14 13s 4d. out of O'Sul-
livan More’s country.

1600. Nov. 2. Carew writes: To abate the
greatness of Florence MacCarthy, I
have taken the O'Sullivans, O'Donog-
hues, ete., from him, and put them in
pledges for their own loyalties and not
to depend upen him.

Sir George Carew, Lord President of Mun-
ster for Queen Elizabeth, in his valuable
genealogical and hisforical MSS. preserved in
the Lambeth Library, says of the O'Sullivan
Mor family between 1590 and 1604, his con-
in
war and peace, whose alliance it was one of
his special duties to watch and note:—

“Owen (FSullivan Mor married Shylie
ny Donogh MaecCarthy Reagh,

Sﬁyﬁe. who married Thomas 'Connor,

and Donnell (’Sullivan Mor, who married

first Honora FitzGibbon, dgughter of the

White Knight, by whom he had no chil-

dren; he married secondly Joan, daugh-

ter of the Lord of Lixnaw. The brothers
of Owen, hueband of Shylie, were: 1, Des-

mond, tanist to his hrother, married a

daughter of MacCarthy Reagh: 2. Buogh

married the daughter of O’Donovan;

3. Connor married the daughter of the

Knight of the Valley; 4. Donnell married

the daughter of Dermot ‘O’Leyne and

widow of the MacGillacuddye.” (Carew

MSS., Codex 625).

There existed, in the rnined Dunkerron

Castle, near Kenmare, a curious confirma-

tion, nearly three hundred years old, of the

earlier portion of this genealogical mnote,

written by Carew in or about 1600. On a

stately carved mantelpiere in a roofless

chamber of the castle, sculptured with
figures of the chieftain and his wife and

their attendants cn a hunting expedition,
with horses and doge, is the following in-
scription : —

“L.H.S. Maria Deo Gratiast. This
work was made the 20th of April, 1596,
by Owen O’Sutlivan Mor and Sylie
ny Donogh MacCarthy Reagh.”

In the Fiants of Quesn Elizabeth, celendared
in the publiched (17¢h) Report of the Depnty
Keeper of the Records, at page 262, is a Jong
list of Kerry rebels pardoned in 1601
Amongst  others mentioned are—**Owen
O'Sullivan Mor and Sylie, his wife: Donnell
MacOwen O'Suikvan and Joan alias Jane
Fit:daurice, his wife.'”” and a Connor Mac-
Donogh 0'Sullivan, who seems to have been

- the son-in-law of Birhop Croehie. In 1603.

when the civil troubles of Munster were

drawing to a clcse, Sir Charles Wilmet, the
befare--mentioned grantee of Bodismineen,
wrote to Lord President Carew a letter from
Cork City, which is also preserved at Lam-
beth, in which he says:—

“Nowe I will tell your Lordship some
newes of the State of Munster, there iz not
one stirning in all that province but those
that ave in the Castle of Ballingarrye in
Clanmaurice, who are there blocked up by
Captain Boig with eigaht hundred {oot.
There is within it MacMaurice himselfs,
Gerrot Ruagh Stack, Donnell O'Sullivan
Mor, Hussey the scholar, and manie mors,
but these are the chiefe. 1 do not see how
possibly they can escape, for the place is
within a huge cliff on the sea, and no way
to come in or out but by a bridge (draw-
bridge) ; the rock is fiity fathoms down inta
the sea. The water Captain Bois had taken
from them, and there arve within about a
hundred souls.” .

This Donnell (’Sullivan Mor was the husban
of the sister of his companion, MacMaurios,
of this letter, oltherwise the eighteenth Baron
ot Kerry and Lixnaw, of the above genealo-
gical note from the Carew MSS. and the par-
don of 1601. Tt is likely that O’Sullivan’s
uncles, Connor, the son-in-law of the Knight
of Glin, and Donnell, the husband of Mae-
Gillacuddy’s widow (daughter of Dermot
('Leyne) were amongst the “hundred souls"
of Wilmot's Jetter who were beseiged atb
Ballingairy. They ultimately surpendered to
Bois; some were executed, but Lord Kerry
and his brother-in-law, O'Sullivan Mor, were
pardoned, and restored by James the First to
great part of their estates. The manor and
castle of Ardfert, ‘‘except such lands as
Stephen Rice, Fsq., of Dingle, was then pos-
sessed of theve,” Tubrid, Fenit, Bannagh,
Cosfealy (Duagh), Trrymoore, Beal, Lixnaw,
Kilfenora, and many more denocminations,
were restored by patent grant of 1612 to Lord
Kerry, but others passed to the Crosbie
family, to Sir William Taafe, the Dennys,
etc. He continued faithful to the Crown
for the rest of his life, and, dying at Drog-
heda in 1630, was buried in the tomb of 8t.
Covmac in the chapel on Cashel Rock; the
ancient burial place of his gncestors until
1590 having been Ardfert Abbey, which in
that year was parrisoned by a troop of sol-
diers, and afterwards. until about 1630, was
the residence of the Bishops of Ardfert, and
ultimately remained with the Crosbies.

1603. Bept. 27. King James I. accepts a
surrender from Dermot, son of Donel
O’Sulyvan More, deceased, and the
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said Donel's younger brethren. Dough,
Daniell, and Cnuuigher O’Sullivan, so
much of their late father's country and
lands in County Kerry held in tauistry
and such other Mands as they wre
peaceably possessed of : viz., the town
aud lands of Formiyle, Soltcke,
Oughugaduh, Cluhwracgh, Cianimkin,
Cily, Bohassil, Nullinraigne, Cludagh,
Irhirack, Dunloyhy, - Nu-Cappuillh,
Cappaigh, Aunynkyasse, Cnoysse, Dat-
alligh, Dromeuynugy and Letter, Cahir,
Donill Jerragh, Nugollaine, Kaypagch
in Ruisse, Lyftyknougher, Durime,
Aughhyffe, Durryeletter, Coysh, Many
Flanigh, Numyllech, Bracaharracgh,
Carrubbey, Fyarrin, Nunapde, Behicgh-
anne, Slyactun, Dullimgh, Myanus, and
the chief rent that the said Dermet
has with that part of Myanus, with the
rent due to him yearly upon the lands
called Pobble S8liactu, McCrahe, and
Jurrahagh ; and to regrant said lands
for ever; yielding to the King the old
rents and services.

3 Ju,l‘\r 30. Owen O'Sullivan More,
having surrendered his lands and the
Irish title of O'Sullivan More to be
extinguished as others did, the King
to  graht the lands to be held by
Iinglish tenure, and with the title of a
baron. His request is to be considered
at the next Parliament in Ireland.
23. Deonal, son of Owen, m. twice. His

first wife was Honoria (d.s.p) dau. of Tdmond

Fitzgibbon. His second wife was JJoan, dau.

of Patrick Fitzmaurice, Lord of Kerry, who

loft issue:—
SA.) Owen.
b) Donal, m. Mary, dau. of Jenkin Con-
way of Killorglin.
{c} Philip (colorel) went to France.
(d) Dominick.
fe) E;lifn, who f. Finin MacCarthy of Gor-

galt.

(f) Mgzly. m. 1641, Col. Donogh Mac Gilli-

cuddy.

(g)) ]I)or_mud (colonel), went to France.

Julia.

This Donal died in 1633, and was buried in
the abhey of Trrelagh, Mucrus, Tia wife.
Joan TFitzmaerice, hrought the English royal
blood into the family, y A

Briefly  stated, this royal descent is as
Sollows : —

Humphrey De Bohon, Barl of ereford,
killed in battle, 1321, md. Lady Elizabeth,
danghter of Fdward I., King of Rugland,
and had a danghter.

I. Lady Eleanor De Behun married James
Butler, 1st Farl of Ormond, and had

1. James Butler, 2nd Earl of Ormond,
Lord Justice of Ireland, md. the dau of Sie
John Darcy, L.J., of Ireland, and hag
IIl. Lady Ellen Butler, md., by the King’s
command, Gerald, fourth Karl of Deamond,
and had, with a dau. Joan, md. Maurice Fitz
Maurice, sixth Lord Kerry, a younger som,
who, on the death of his elder brothers and
their lssue, succesded as

IV. James, seventh Farl of Desmond, md.
Mary, dau. of Ulick De Burgh, Lord of
Clarrickard, and had (with a daughter, Lady

Honaora, wife of the 8th Lord Kerry), a som, .

V. Thomas, eight Earl of Desmond (who
alsq, by his De Burgh wife, was the cousin
of Edward IV., and for a time high in favour
with that king), founder of the Collegiate
Church at’ Youghal, md. Lady Eilice Barry,
dau of Viscount Buttevant, and had, with
other issue, a younger son, who ultimately
succeaded as
VI. John, thirteenth FEarl of Desmond
(wrongly called by Lodge and others the
fourteenth Earl), md. Maud, dau. of Mahon
O'Brian, Lord of Carrigegunnell and Pobble
O’Byian, in Limerick, and, dying in Trales,
where he was buried in the Dominican
Abbey with his ancestors, left a son.

VIL  James, fourteenth Earl of Desmond,
md. Maud, dau. of O'Carroll, Lord of
O’'Carroll Ely, and had, with other issue, a
son, Gerald, last Palatine Earl of Desmond,
killed at Glaunageentha, near Tralpe, in No-
vembar, 1583, and a daughter

VIII. Lady Margaret FitzGesald, called
“Margaret the Fair,” who md. Thomas
FitzManrice, 16th Lord Kerry, said to have
heen the handsamest and strongest man of
his ttme in Ireland. He is the hero of the
romantfc story illustrating the strength of
fosterage ties m old Treland. He died at Lix-
naw Court in 1590, and Captain Zouch, who
then commanded the Queen’s troops in Ard-
fert Abbey, refused to allow him to be burled
in it§ chiurch with his ancestors, He was,
therefore, buried in the tomb of Bishop
Stack in Ardfert Cathedral. He left by his
wife, Lady Margaret FitzCerald, a son. ’
_TX. Patrick Fitzmaurice. seventeenth Lord
Kerry, who was in his childhood sent as a
hostage to England. He lived in the Court
of Queen Mary Tudor and that of Queen
Elizabeth until he was more than twenty
years of age, and then refurned to Irelan .
where he soom entered into rebsllion, He
burnt his castle of Beale (or Beanlieu) to
prevent it being garrisoned by the WEnglish,

»
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and was about to destroy Lixnaw, when the
succeeded in taking it. He fell ill throug
grief at seeing them possessed of Lixnaw,
and he vetired Lo Dunlo Castle (then owned
by his son-in-law, O’'Sullivan Mor), and died
there on the 12th of Angust, 1600, where
he was huried with his aunt’s husbund, Mac-
Carthy Mor, Farl of Glancar, in the towb
6till to Lo seen in Mucruss Abbey, Killac-
uey. By his wife Jane Roche, daughtes of
Lord Fermoy, he had (with a son Thomas,
areat grandfather of Thomas FitzaMaunce,
21st, Lord and 1st Earl of Kerry, ancestor
of the FitzMaurices, Marquises of Lansdowne
and the Farls of Orkney), two daughters,
Elinor, wife of Charles, second son of
Flovence MacCarthy Mor, and

X. Joan Fitzmaurice, who md. Donnell
O’Sullivan Mor of Dunkerron and  Dunlo,
and had by him, with other issue, a younger
daughter,

XL Mary O'Sullivan md. in 1641 Colonel
Donogh MacGillacuddy

To return %o the aforesaid 0'Sullivan More,
who, by his conduct and foresight in not
joining the aforesaid Owen Roe O'Neill,
maintained his estate for himself and pos-
terity fer two or three generations, and for
the other families that had their estates out
of his and his ancestors’ house; he lived in
great prosperity during his life.  Daniel
O'Sullivan More, the said Owen’s son, mar-
ried to Joan FitzMaurice, daughter to Lord
Kerry, as well called Mc Maurice Kiery.
The grandeur of this renowned family is re-
ferred to the author of the intended histery,
to whom it must be well known. (The
0'Sullivan of Cappanacus, in default of male
sesue to the O'Sullivan More, would succeed
to his inkeritance as next in seniority).

The said Daniel O'Sullivan More had four
sons by the said Joan WitzMauvrice, wiz. :
Owen O'Bullivan More. lthe two Colonels,
Philip and Dermod of great vepute, both at
home and abroad, ard Danicl Oge O’Supllivan.
The said Daniel O'Sullivan More and Joan
FitzMaurice maintained and enjoyed their

;_at.utm and lived happily during their
ives,
1613. Vlay. In the Dublin  Parliament

Daniel 0’Sullivan and Stephen Rice repre--
sented Co. Kerry.

31. Jan. 21st.  Jas I. Owen O'Swillivane
More was eeised in fee of a chief rent of
6l. Engl. out of the 12 carnicates in the ter-
ritory of Glnnbehie. and by his deed of the
22 August, 1615, aliened the premises to
Thomas Hussey of Moylhussey, James Dela-
hoyde of Moyclare, and Donald Kegog, of

Barrere, and their beirs and assigns for ever;
to hold to the use of Martin Hussey, his
heirs and assigns, subject to redemption, as
appears by said deeds and a certain inquisi-
tion taken at the town of Tralee, on 9th
April, 1623. Pardon of alienation made in
consideration of a fine, as such required the
license of the King.

(1625). Owen O'Sulyvane, Ieq., of Down
Keyran, petitions the King. Is desirous to
seitle his estate and create English tenuvres,
mnanors, court leets, and fairs and markets at
an increase of £5 on former renk.

1651. After the sack of Ballimore, the
lord-president, St. Leger, reported on the
precautions taken to secure the coast against
the Turkish pirates: I have directed ()'Sulli-
van More (who lives in the river of Kin-
mair) to take warning from the heacon over
the Dorseys; and by one of his own, to as-
semble his tenants and eervants. at his strong
and defenceable castle. Buat, I think, this
precaution needless, as the inhabitants on both
sides that rviver are but faw, till.aps far up as
us Glanercught, where the pirates dare not
venture. At Dingle there are great numbers
of honest and well effected people, and a
company may be placed there to eecure them.
Tralee is in the same situation as Glanerought,
but freer from danger, by the resideuce io
Sir Edward Denny and Sir Thomas Harris,
who are well provided with will, judgment
and arms to defend themselves. 4

On 14 November, 1632, Daniell 0'Sullivane
More of Dunkieran, made his last will, order-
ing his body te be interied in the family
tomb in the Abbey of Irrelagh; appeinting
hig eldest. son Owen to be his heir; leaving
lands, etc., to his wife, Joan Fitz Morish ;
£300 to his daughter, Syly; £170 to his
dangnter, Ellen; £130 to his youngest daugh-
ter, Mary. The arbitrotors were: Jeames
Kunowde, Esq.; Donell Feorys (Ferris). Isq. ;
Fdmrond Hussey, gent; Donell O'Sullevane,
gent : Dermott Leyne, gent.

1633. The Gentlemen and Freeholders of
O’Sulivane More’s country petition the King,
showing that:—

In 1592 they paid a composition rent of £7
10s. a year for three years. When the Com-
missioners in 1604 were appointed to setile
the rent, O’Snllivan was absent in England :
One Farres (Ferris) appeared before the Com-
missioners (with no othar anthority than a
letter of ’Sullivan More's wife), and con-
sented to a doubling of the composition upon
petitioners’ patrimony Lately, in 1633, a
green-wax issued to the Sheriff to levy arrears
of surcharge. They pay Os. 4d. a year to the
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King out of every quarter, and 30s. a year for
the same to 0’'Sullivan More, though the rent
which they can get is not at best above £4
a quarter. They pray for relief.

23. Owen, son of Donal, m. Mary, dau, of
Bir Edm. Fitzgerald of Ballymalow, Cloyne.
He was one of the forfeiting proprietors of
1641-54 wars. The said KEdmond Fitzgerald,
had two other of his danghters, sisters to the
said Mary Fitzgerald, one of them married
to the Earl of Inchiquin, and the other to Lord
Kerry, nephew of the aforesaid Joun TFitz-
mauvice. Owen 0'Sullivan Mor murried Mary
Fitzgerald, the daughter of Sir Bdmund Fitz-
gerald, of Ballymaloo, Cork County, by
lonora, daughter «f James FitzMauvice Fitz-
gerald (who brought the Spaniavds to Fort-
del-Ore); and, as the niece of this Mary,
daughter of Sir John Fitzgerald of Cloyue,
married Patrick Fitzmaurice, 19th Lovd Kerry
whose brothers weve in the Irish Army in
1641, and made war upon David Crosbie,
driving him from Ardfert to Ballingary.,

24 Donal. eon of Owen, d. about 1699,
He resided at Toomies on some lands forfeited
by Lord Kenmare during the Ovange con-
tiscutions. This Donal marvied Ellinor Brown.

Daniel O’Sullivan Mare, son to the raid
Owen O’Sullivan More and said Mary Fity-
gerald, was married to Ellinor Brown. of the
noble family of the Lords Keamare, a fumily
very much noted for generosity and forward-
nese to serve Lheir country ; their alliance was
great with some of the Milesians princes and
with the renowned family of the Butlers and
Fitzgeralds and others of the English con-
quest,

The s2id Daniel O’Sullivan More and Ellinor
Brown enjoyed their estate but for a short
time, ae the said Daniel O’Sullivan More
joined Daniel MeCarthy, Terence 0’ Brien, and
the aforesaid two colonels, uncles to the said
O’'Sullivan More, and in opposition to Oliver
Cromwell.

The first action. as far as I could learn. that
they were engaged in was at Dromecassaragh,
where they were defeated, though hehaving
cenraegously. where one of the said colonels,
I'know not whick. distinguished himself great-
ly, veritied by a hernic verse composed by a
connty Kerry post.

The next action was at .Cnock na Noss,
where the Irieh, after a resolute dispute,
were defeated. after which several treaties
of peace. which did not hit; on which Cnoe
na Clarsi, by mutual consent of both par-
tiew. was fixed for the field of hattle. and
though a passage which happened the night
bedore said battle is not altogether pertin-
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ent to the purpose, yet I shall set it forth, .
a3 the Ear] of Inchiquin, who was general |
of Cromwell’s party, hearing of a wizard, |
or a man inspired with the spirit of pro-
phecy, to live in the neighbourhood, sent for I
him, and desired to have his sentiments who
would be next day defeated, on which the @
said man was much daunted, which the |
Earl ohserved, and desired him to declare
his thoughts, and that he should not be in
the least molested, on which the man told
him by what he could prophecy that the
Irishman would maintain  the = field with
credit, and the Englishman totally defeated.

The Earl answered he was right, as he
himself was the Trishman, and O'Brien a
Milesian, and Count Taafe, general of the
Irish party, an Englishman by extraction,
which happened as the Earl interpreted; as
the Count, with his party, after a desper-
ate bloody dispute, were defeated, Soon
after said battle, the aforesaid Daniel McCar-
thy, Terence (Brien, and many more, sub-
mitted to wuch more moderate conditions
than they could have before, but Daniel
O’Sullivan More, who here lost a good many
of his regiment and name, marched to that
nart of the county of Kerry, the baroniee of
verahegh. Dunkieron, and Clanarough, ex-
pecting by the bad passes and reads there-
to leading that he could maintain said dis-
tricts till fnrther suprlied or relieved; hy
this time. the aforesaid two colonels, uncles
to the said O'Sullivan More, seeing no fur-
ther prospect of snccess, declined that ser-
vice, and went to France. Soon after this
the said Farl of Inchiquin, having @ concern
and tenderness for the said O’Sullivan. sent
to him earnestly desiring and advising he
may suhmit, and that the said Rarl would
uee his hest interest with the Government to
get him good eonditions,

Lord Inchiquin, who wae
urcle of O’Sallivan More,

maternal
strennoua
efforts to induce him to submit, but the Cel-

the
made

1
tic chieftain was equally insensible to ap- |
peals of interest and affection. e retired i
into Iveragh. and the government decreed

that the districts which he ruled should he
invested by eea and land.

A small fleet was prepared in Tralee Bay |
under the command of Captain Vauclier. |
O’Sullivan had his fleet concentrated at Glen-
begh, when he was informed that these
ships were coming to anchor in Ballingkel-
ligs Bay. THe therefore divided his men into |
two companies, one of whicih he sent, under =
the command of Captan Owen O’Sullivan, to
Ballinskelligs, the other he led himself to-
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wards the harbour of Snime (Sneem). When
Owen arvived he found that the English had
ffected a landing, and dividing his com--
pany, he tried to surround them, and recover
their buoty and prisoners, The result was
@ sharp engagement, which resutted fatally
for the party under Vanclier’s command; he
-escaped himself with difficulty hy rlmm'n%1 to
‘his ship, notwithstanding tie wonnds he had
zeceived, In comsequence of thie defeat a
garrison was placed at Nedeen, now Kenmare,
and another at Valencia, to suppiess, if pos-
sible, the jrrepressible O'Suilivans. The site
where the encounter between 0'Sullivan’s
men and Vaucliers soldiere took place is still
;ﬁointed out as the Traigh-na-Sassenach, or
Englishman’s Strand.

Vauclier made a deposition on the sub-
ject of this and other losses, which is still
preserved.  In the Book of Claims appears
-entry ‘‘No, 1289, Daniel 0'Sullivan More
claimed an estate in fee on two plough ands
of Toomies by descent from Daniel O°Bulli-
van, his grandfather. Forfeiting proprietor.
Nicholas Browne, alias Lord Kenmare."

25.  Rory Ramhar, eon of Donal, m,
Juliana, dau. of Philip O’Sullivan Beara.

IRISH CIVIL CORRESPONDENCE.

(Castle MSS.)  Last of April, 1714.

Dear Sir,—I find by your last letter about
the licence of arms that you mever adjourn
Your resolution of serving your friends as
long ae their application appears to be well
grounded. I very heartily thank you for the
favour of your last upon that subject. I
have just now heard that there is gome in-
formation or affidavits given to you against
a principal gentleman of this county, 0’Sul-
livan More, and this is no more than what
my Lord of Kerry, the High Sheriff of the
County, will assert as I. T therefore pray
that favour and justice of you that if any
such accusation be gone to Dublin to give
it no credit till you are informed at large
by the best men of this country of the occa-
swn of it, and how it came to pass. In this,
sir, you will very much oblige a worthy
gentleman.—Yr. mest obliged servant,

- MAURICE HUSSEY.

26. Donal O’Sullivan Mor. son of Rory, m
Hester 0'Sullivan. who d. 17 Jan.. 1796, and
was buried in Killarney. They had no issne.

There are in Kerry many descendants of
younger sons of the 0’Sullivan More family.

The last O'Sullivan Mor died at Tomies
in é752. Another account says on 16 Apr.,
1754 : —

Sir Ross O'Connell says, in the ‘Last
Colonel of the Ivish Brigude,” p. 53, vol. 1:—
The last O'Suilivan Mor died at Tomies in

1762. He left an illegitimate son, whose
grandson is a fisherman at Killarney. This
grandson told me that when a boy, some

30 years agohe wenut to see his grandfather
lying dead at Tomies. He saw in the room
of the dead man a great pile of old papers,
maybe three feet high, most written on
skins in Latin aund Trish, and faith, T was in
dread they might fall into the hands of the
Mahonys or some other new people in the
country, and they might ‘get more of the
O'Sullivan estates, &0 I burned them all my-
self,

Arms: A dexter hand couped at the wrist.
grasping a sword ervect. Crest: On a ducal
coronet or, a robin redbreast with a sprig
of laure]l in its back. Motto: Lamh fois-
tenach abu.

It iz worthy of remark that as the 0'Sul-
livans claim to be the senior bhranch of the
House of Heber (eldest son of Milesius, whose
flag represented a dead serpent entwined
round a rod, because Moses by his rod cured
the neck of Gaodhal when stung by a ser-
pent), their anciens arms was a dexter hand
couped at the wrist, grasping a sword erecs,
the blude entwined with a serpent.

O'Sullivan fygnily hoast :—*“Nulla. manns—
tam liberalis = atque generalis—atque uni-
versalis quam Sullivanis.”

('SULLIVAN STANDARD.
Bearings of O'Sullivan in the battle of
Caisglinn.

I see mightily advancing in the plain
The banner of the race of noble Finghin,
His spear with a venomous adder (entwined),
His host all fiery champions.

The ancient Irish sword entwined with a
serpent. Later saymbole are additions derived
fram the Anglo-Norman system of heraldry.
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II. THE O'SULLIVANS OF CAPPANA-
: CUSHA.

—

O’'SULLIVAN OF CAPPANACUSHA,
CEAPA-NA-COISE, TEMPLENOE PARISH
SENIOR BRANCH.

This brauch of the O’Sullivan clan were
often called MacCrah. They were the senior
branch, but through the laws of tanistry,
Dermod of Dunkerron, was succeeded by a
younger brother Donal na Sgreadaidhe or
Shriek, and the latter’s sons excluded the
nephews from the chieftainship. The Sliocht
Mae Crah had to content themselves with 20
ploughlands, wnd the right to succeed if the
ruling house should become extinct.

Arms: A dexter hand couped at the wrist,
grasping a sword evect. Crest: On a ducal
covonet or, a robin redbreast with a sprig
of laurel in its beak. Molto: Lamh foie-
tenach an nachtar.

1. Buadhach O'Sullivan.  who first  as-
sumed the surnanie. le is said to have mar-
ried a Slavonic wife. From her this branch
of the clan are known as Vera O'Sullivauns.
Vera means fuith, in the Slavomic language.
In the 15th century, among the families in
Desmond, were the 0'Sowlevans More, Verra,
and Beare.

Maceraith.

Donal AMor.

Gilla Mochoda, had a brether, Giolla
na BhHainn, ancestor of the O'Sullivans
Beara.

o, Dumlong, in 1196, left Tipperary and
settled in Kerry.

P9

6. Murtogh Mor, m. Catherme. dau. of
MacCarthy Mor. He had a brother Gille
Mochodh.,

7. Bernard. m. Mary MacCarthy, of

Carbery, and had two sons  Buochun, and
Philip. Philip was anceslor of the junior
branch of the Vera O'Sullivans of Cappana-
cusha, the pedigree of which appears later
an.

8. Buochan,

9. Dunlong.

10.  Ruwadhri, Roger. had a brother named
Craith. Ruadhri m. Una. dau. of Neil Oge
O'Neill, Prince of Ulster, who was slain in
1432,

11. MNaonal.

12. Donal of Dunkerrvon,

13. Eoghan. Owen.

14. Dermod of Dunkerron, had a vounger

teather Donal na Sgreadaidhe from whom the
('Suliivan Mor family is descended.
15. Connor, son of Dermod.

16. Donal.

17. Owen Ruadh.

18. Owen of Cappanacusha Castle, for-
feited his estate in the war of 1641-52. His
dau., Mary, in 1641, m. Daniel, son of Ary
Oge O'Keeffe, of Ballymacquirk Castle, Du-
hﬁow

19. Dermod had seven sons:—Murrough,
Murtogh Fion, William Leim laidiv, Philip,
Thige laidir, John Vera, Timothy Murtogh.

Sir John O’Sullivan, a TFrenca soldier of
nots, of the Cappanacoes branch of the
family. At tne age of 9 he was in Paris, and
at 15 he went to Rome; he became tutor to
the son of Marshal Maillabois, and later
joined the French army. He was com-
panion to Cherles Stuact, and managed his
affairs.

This John Verra William O’Sullivan was
born in Kerry in 1700; educated in Iaria
for the Catholic priesthood; entered the
French army under Marshall Maillabois, with
whom he served in Corsica, 1739, and later in
Ttaly and on the Rhine. In 1744 he joiued
the househed of the Prince of Wales, and
was appointed Adjutant-General. He landed
with him at Lochnanuagh, 5th Aung., 1745,
and was his chief advisep in civil and military
affairs. He commanded with Cameron of
Lochiel the 900 highlanders who captured
Edinburgh, 16th Sept., aud was leader of the
Trish party. He was Quartermaster-General
of the Prince’'s army.
the Prince’s companion until the escape with
Flora. MacDonald. He then went to France,
1st. Oclober, 1746, in Captain Dumont’s
French cutter, and went to Versailles to ar-
range for the Prince’s safety. On 18 Dec.,
1746, Prince Chavles wrote to his father at
Rome, urging that O’Sullivan deserved his
Majesty's favour. The King made him a
Knight on 17 Apr.. 1747. On 9 May, 1753,
he was, as Sir John 0'Sullivan, knighted
some years ago for his attachment to us and
his services to Charles. Prince of  Wales,
created by James IT1. and VIIL a Knight
and Baronet, with remainder to the heirs-
male of his bhody. He married, 17 Apr.,
1747, Louisa. dau. of Thomas Fitzgerald by
Louisa O'Connor.

Sir Thomas 1ITerbert O’Sullivan., second
Baronet, only son and heir to Siv John W.
O’Sullivan, was an officer in the I[rish Bri-
gade in the French eervice, but having horse-
~hinnad his superior officer, the notorious
Paul Jones, he fled to America and entered
the British service under Sir Hemrv Clinton
at New York., Te served throngh the Ameri-
cun. War mntil the peace of 1783. when he
entered the Dutch serviee, in which he con-

After Culloden he was

o ————

i»

418

winued until Lis death in  Hollund, 1824.
He married, first, in New York, Mary, dau.
of Thomas MCready; and, secondly, in
1818, Adriane des Portes, d.s.p., 1833, He
had issue a son, Sir John, and a dau., Bar-

bara.
Sir John William Thomas Gerald 0’Sulli-
‘vau, thivd Baronet, was educated  at

Montreal, and became an American citizen.
He was U8, Consul General to the Barbary
States, and perished in a shipwreck in May
1825. he married Mary, dan. of Rev. B
Rowley, and had 1ssue:—

1. ®ir William O’Sullivan.

y

-2. Siy John Louis O’Sullivan,
9. Thomas Samuel O'Sullivan, m. Mary
Allen, and had issue two sons, Herbert

and Lewis, who died in infancy. He
died s.p. Nov., 1855.

‘4. Charles Herbert Titz(erald O'Sullivan,
died unmarried, May, 1846.

5. Mary Juana O’Sullivan, m. Cristoval
Madan, d. Apr., 1867.

6. Adelmde  O'Sullivan, a nun, was
Superior of the House of Discaleed
Carmelites in Guatemala, until the
nuns were expelled in 1872, They

settled at Leon in Spain, where she
died, in 1893.

Sir William O’Sallivan, fourth Baronet,
‘was a Licatenant in the U.S, navy, but his
ship was never heard of after sailing from
New York. z

Siv John Louis O’Sullivan, fifth Baronet,
was born at Gibraltar, in Nov., 1813; edu-
cated at Sorize in France, and in  West-
Mminister School; was American Minister at
Jashon (1854-8) : and died e.p. in New Yok,
24 Mar,, 195, when the Baronetey becama

. extinet. He married 21 Oct,, 1846, Susan,
w_Y{a.ui( of Dv. John Kearny Rodgers of New
ork.

20. Murrogh, son of Dermod (19).
21. Thige Laidir, strong Timothy.
. John
23, Timothy
24, Timothy  Murtogh, an officer in the
Didian  Commissariat at Fyzabad, Oude, in
1887. m. Illen Fitzpatrick, having iseune:—
William John Timothy Murtogh; James
»Thomas ; Henry James. John; FEugens Sex-
tue: Koghan Tonal; Fugh: Mary Ellen ;
Nelly  Fleanor; Eveleen ; ‘Catherine
Veronica; Nora Mary; Nesta Luey; Mary
ina ; and Finnola. : :
LCant. iT. M. Vera-0'Sullivan, now of Chee-
| nar, Bengal, is 12th hereditary Lord Baron
Bonavwer (created 2nd year Queen Fliz.).

25, William John Vera O’Sullivan, Tiving

in India in 1887, and serving in Bengal Com-
missariat Dept.

The anonymous history  sefers
branch as follows ;—

6hly. The family of Capanacoss, other-
wise called Sliocht Macrah, i.e., the descen-
dants uf Macrah, i.e., Mucariua, brother of
Rury Doun, i.e., Redoricus of the fair haiv.
Sullivan: More, "in the book of genealogy,
mentions that said Macrah was O'Sullivan
Move during his life, and eays no more of
being the eldest of the two O Sullivans, but.
that his descendants challenge it. Tas so:
of said Macarvius, Daniel, was obliged, when
his undle, the said Redorrick of the fair haje
came in to be (’Sullivan More, to con&mﬂ
himeelf with twenly plough lands, that is,
eight in the pavisi of 'Pemplenn-e, and twelve
in Ballybog (Sneem).  The estate generally
called the estate of Capancoss, the mansion
house of said family, which. was very popn-
lous; there were four branches of said family
that had of their estates oubt of said house,
that is, the family of Caparce, the family of
Lakeen, the family of Driminus, and the
family of (rienane; but all notwithstanding
call  themeelves the family of Capancoes,
from which house they had their estates, as
aforesaid.

This family for
generosity and
was hut. small,

to  this

a time were of good note for
education, and as the estate
| and the family populous, as
aforesaid, many of them went abroad and to
other parts of the kingdom, some before
Queen  Elizabeth’s time, as the family
settling at Cleangluish, of whieh were not
long ago, several good clergymen, but now
I eanuot give an account of any of them to
be of any great note.

There was another family of them that
satiled in Ulster about that time, and made
an acquisttion there, and of them and of their
station T cannot now give an aceount. ‘

Another family, in I inater, of whom {here
Were some pereans of note ahout thitty years
igo. but could mot learn in  what station
they or their descendants were naw. [t wasg
remarked that after these families and athors
that went abroad, that, in Cromwell’s war,
when Danjel O°Sullivan More rajsed a regi-
went for King Charles, that there wera 140
Young and heardless men reckoned al a
of review in said regiment all of the afore-
said family of Capanacoss, and mot one of
them married but Captain Owen O'Sullivan
of said regiment, head of said family ; and
such of them as were not lost in said earvice
some went abroad, and some to the other
narts of the kingdom, ag Mr, John O’Sullivan,
who went to study to Lovain, ‘and' attained
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afterwards to be President of the Irish Coi- 2

lege thepe, and made some foundations toere,
ﬁiebaneﬁt,. whereof some of said family lately
had, as the Kev. .\l}-. Cl;?hMI{“s Snl](.liv?n, a

on of good note for behaviour and learn-
}J:; and mow chaplain in Colonel Buckley's

_regiment, and another of said family, to-

" another

cether with another good clergyman of the
ﬁ;mm,, enjoys at present the benefit of said
foundations. The said Dr. John O'Sullivan
that made, said foundations was predecessor
of the aforesaid Dr. Florence O'Sullivan of
MecGiollacuddy's family, and was called by
name in Flanders, which was
Johannes Acutus. (The will of Florence,
1731, is in the Registry of Deeds, General

- Archives of Belgium.

Rev. John Sullivan, founder of the first
bourse in Louvane, died in 1699. The same
year he granted 732 florins for Irish students
in Rhetorie, Philosophy and Theology, for his
relations of the second degree, provided ehey
were born in Ireland. The presentation was
in twer Doctors of Theol chosen by the
Rector in “Strict Faculty.” Father Marcus
O’'Sullivan enjoyed this in 1982. He was
afterwards Parish Priest of Firies where he
died in 1814. Father O'Sullivan was horn
in Meentogues. He and Owen Ruadh were

* first, cousins, and he was grand uncle of the

late Marcus (FSuilivan of Firies.

And three other brothers of said family,
and of that branch of Grienane, Daniel, Owen
and Timothy, went to Dublin, the latier
named from the London tavern (see herry

‘ Pastoral in vel. 1), as was-a nephew of his

what succeeded him in the same; the formrer

“had a som who was Council-at-Law, and died

in luondon, and a daughter on whom he be-
stowed a considerable fortune to Counsello

" Ryan of Cashel, of whose issue I can give

"

~aforesaid Mr.

1o account, or of the descendante of the
aforesaid Messra., Daniel and Owen Sullivan,
ag the most of them went abroad, but of Alr.
Daniel Sullivan, the notable, is now in Dub-
lin, who is the eldest that I can understand
now alive of that branch of the aforesaid
Grienane of the family of Cappanacoss. The
aforesaid Daniel has many good relations in
and about Dublin, by his grand uncle. The
Olwen, 'whereof is Captain
Mercer and other gentlemen in good stations,
whereof ¥ the Rev. Mr. Brenan, Jesuit, and
the merchant and surgeon, brothers fo the
late learned Dr. James Brenan. - y
Another family that went abroad at said
time of Cromwell's war, and  settled in the
‘west of England, and changed their same

_from Bullivans to Bilvers, of whom I have

seen no account since the year 1691. Another
amily that settled in Cork and Bandon,
which were in good stations for a time, but
now almost ertanet, or at least, in no great
stations.

VERA O’SULLIVAN OF CAPPANACUSHA
JUNIOR BRANCH.

1. Philip O'Sullivan, second son of Ber-
nard (No. 7, on the Vera O'Sullivan pedigree,
seniopr branch), married Homnoria O'Connor,
Kerry. ‘

2. Donal, m. Joanna MacCarthy. :

3. Richard or Rory, m. Una, dau. of Neil
Oge O'Neill of Ulster.

4. Owen, m. Graine MacCarthy.

5. Donal, m. Maedhbh O’Donnell.

6. Philip, m. Nelly, dau. of Owen 0'Sul-
livan Mor.

7. Rory, m. Mary Fitzmaurice.

8. Donal, m. Juiia. 0’ Donovan.

9. Owen, m. Eliz. Fitzgerald.

10. Ruadhraidh, m. Julia MacCarthy of
Drishane,

11. Donal, M. Elana Mac Auliffe.

12. John, m. Mary O'Keeffe, of Kileen.

13. Thige or Tadhg, m. Joanna O'Cal-
laghan of Clonmeen in Cork, having issue
Phailip; Connor, b. 2 May, 1683, d. 5 May,
1769, m. KEllen, dau. of Stepney Galwey,
merchant, Cork. Tadhg d. 4 Awg., 1706,
aged 54 years.

14. Philip, b. 8 Mar., 1682, d. 1754, m.
Eliz. Irwin of Roscommon, having issue
Owen; Benjamin of Cork, who had a som,
Sir Benjamin, father of Geo. Jas. O'Sullivan
of Wilmington, Isle of Wight, in 1867; Una.

156. Owen, b. 1744, d. 1808, m. at Ken-
mare a Misa Moriarty, ha.vin[% Donogh ;
John; Donal; Owen: Nora; Julia.

16. Donogh, b. 1776, d. 1838: buried at
Kilmurry, West. Muskerry, Cork; m. a Miss
M*Auliffe, having issue John; Denis; Owen;
Nora, who m. Murphy having Conn d.s.p.,
Denis of Douglas, Cork, 1887, who m. Kate
Burke, and had iesue Conn, John, Denis and
Kate. The above Donogh died at Shandubh,
Moviddy parish.

17. John, b, 1799, died at Teeraveen, Kil-
murry parish, and buried ‘at Kilmurry; m.
Rachel, dau. of Richard O'Neill of Ulster,
having issne, Donogh, Joanna; John; Nora;
Richard ; Donogh (2); Kate: and two other
daus. Nora, m. Donal O'Cahan, of Renour,
Kilhanane (1887). Donogh (2) m. Ellen, dau.
of Wm, Shechun of Killegh, having issne
Nora (1841-T): Rachel h. 1883; Joanna b.
1871 ; John b. 1875; Richard, b. 1875; Denis

e
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b 1879; the family (1887} residing at C -
beh, Kilmurry pgri{sh,‘ oeEr i R

18.  Richard, son of Johx, m. Kate 0’Dono-
van, having issue Julia b. 1854; in 1887 re
sided at Maghbeg, Bandon.

THE O’'SULLIVANS OF GLANBEGH.

The family of Glanbegh had sixteen plough-
lands. Their mansion house was Glenbegh.
They were for a long time of good note, but
now extinet (1755). Mae Carthy Mor's duyes
fromy (Hlanvehe weve 19s. 4d. and bwo groats.

d1.

IV.. THE MAC GILLYCUDDY
(’SULLIVANS.

The Mac Giolla Mochudus or MacGilli-
<uddys are of the BEugenian race, deriving
their descent and surname from- Giolla Moch.
uda, of the race of Donal Mor O’Sullivan.
_The MacGillicuddys were chiefs of Tir-na-
Uruacha, i.e., the country of the Reeks, com-
prising the parish of Knockane in the count
of Kerry ; and the chief representative of this
'fe}nu}ly si{g‘ ;-:-.lﬂ.ins the title of “MacGillicuddy
of the ’ s,"" and holds a tion of
lands of aie ancestors. Vi S
1. The eldest son of Domhnall Mor 0'Sul-
livan was (iilla Mochuda. The name Moch-
uda is a baptismal name, like Brendan, Finian
ete. 8t Mochuda, the founder of Lismore,
who died in 653, was a native of Kerry. The
name Gilla-Mochuda was very common in the
‘0'Bullivan clan, who placed their children
under the tutelage or patronage of St. Mo-
wahuda of Liemore—the word meaning literally
servant of St. Mochuda,

2. Dunlaing, in 1196, left Tipperary and
#otiled in Kerry. His second son was Gille

ochodh, the ancestor of the Mac Gilkicuddy

Sullivans.

3. Gilla-Mochuda caech, one-eyed,
wecond son of Dunlaing.

4. Conchohar or Conor, was the first per-
:ur&dcnlled Mac Gilla-Mochuda, or M*Gilli-
uddy. '

5. Giolla Mochuda Mac Gillicuddy, who
scems to be the Lord of the Reeks, described
m Angus ’Dalv’s satire
‘mankind as the daisv hates

6. Conchobar or Conor.
Dannell O0'Sullivan Beara

was

the night.
In 1563 he killed

Gillienddy 0'Sullivan.

cuddy, of 1600-4,

(1559) as hating C.

& § i (A. F. Masters). h
(8, Bame ls sometimes written Conor Mac |

7. Donnchadh er Donough.

8. Domhnall Geraltach. - In or about+1583,
Donald Geraltagh MacGillicuddy, of Bodis-
mineen, chief of his sept in Kerry, was killed
in rebellion, and his territory in and around
that place and the Reeks was confiscated and
granted to Edmund Bawet, of Firies, who
soon sold it to Edward Hussey, of Ballin-
gowan, one of a family settled in' Kerry in
the 13th century. In 1598 Husse conveyed
those lands (on which the MacGillacuddvs
were still settled) to Donogh MacDermot Mae
Gillacuddy, of Bodismineen. When the Sugan
Earl’s rebellion' broke out, and when the
Spaniards ceme to Kinsale, this Donogh Mac
Dermot MieGillacuddy seems to have fol-
lc‘m‘ed the example oiy his relative, Donald
Geraltagh, for in 1604 the Patent Rells record
the grant to Lord Bourke of the “Castle and
town of Bodismineen, parcell of the estate
of Donogh MacDermot O’Sullivan, alias Mae-
Gillacuddy, dead in rebellion.” In 1614, Sir
Charles Wilmot had a grant of part of the
estate of Donald Geraltagh Mac Gillacuddy
killed before 1596, which he, Sir Charles.
conveyed at once to Maurice Crosbie, of Clon-
money, either a son or nephew of John
Croshie, Bishop of Ardfert. Between 1618

Y and 1630 a tirge portion of the estate of the

two dead vebels, including Bauncloon a
Bodismineen, was in the poesession of Connor
{i.e. Cornelius) MacGillacuddy, of Casthe
Currig, gentleman, who had married Joan,
daughter of Bishop Croshie. There can be
little or no doubt that he was the son or
nephew  of Don, h MacDermot  MacGilla-
illed in rebellion, and the
grandson or grandnephew of Donnld Geraltagh
of 1580-90, and that after the country became
peaceful in 1612, throngh the influenes of
O’Sullivan Maor, the FitzMaurices and the
Croshies, ha wus able to pecover Bodismineen
_E]a[.:mgg;)on an% ?iher portions of his arriant
ctitance. Hetweer 1600 and 1618 op 1o,
the Croalies, Tord Kerry and 0'Sullivans Mos
Eev_ed nppurently_on' very good terms, and this
G_mg the case, it is probable that the Mac-
illacuddy’s widow, who maxried the voung-
er brother of B!e O’Sallivan Mor of 1596, amd”
the uncle of his son and heir. Lord Kerry's
"brot.herfm-ln,\f._'._ gave up her first hushand's
youne ¢on. | Connor MacGillacuddy. to the
guardianshipr of. Bishop Croshie, in hopes of
gecuring ab least gome portion of his estate.
onnor was from ‘his youth intimately éon-
nected with Rishop Crosbie, and finally, in
or about 1612-13, married his daughter, and
e managed to recover or retain Bodismineen,
. uncloon, and a considerable portion of . the
MacGillacuddy estates in Dunkerron, Ma-
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gunihy and Trughenacmy.

9. Conchobar, or Conor MeGillycuddy of
Carhuebeg in Kerry. e .a. 1stly, Joan, dan
of John Crosbie, Bishup ef Ardfert and
Aghadoe, having issue Lonough; Donald or
Daniel, the father of Colonel Dennis McGilly-
cuddy, who marvied Margavet, eldest dau.
and co-h. of Mynheer Derrick Von Dachelaer,
of Wageningen, in (Guclderland; Conor or
Corneliue; Kathleen; Ellen, m. 12 Sept.,
1672, Charles Carthy, of Sughreany, Kerry.
Coner m. 2ndly, Sheelah, dau. of Daniel Mac
Carthy of Dunguile, and had by her Neil;
Ellish or Iilizabsth.” Conor d. 3" Nov., 1630.
His death took place by shipwreck, accord-
ing to funeral entiy in Ulster’s office.

Inquisition after the death of Gonnor Mac
Gillycuddy, dated at Killarney, 16th April,
1633, taken before Henry Harte, (ent,
Fecheter Thomas Joy, and Collo Joy, (lents,
to enquire what lands and tenements Cor-
nelivs, alias Connor, MoGillycuddy, late of
Castlecarrig, died possessed of, on the oaths
of the following good men and true: —

Donal Fearys, of Ballﬁm:ﬂis, Esq.

FEdmond Hoare, of Ballynorigh, Gent.

Ferris M‘Owen, of Currines. Gent.

Garrett Oge Brenagh, of Ardfert, Burgess.

Cusnigh M*‘Bohelligg, of Cappaghilure, Gent

David M‘Andrew, of Ardfert, Burgess.

Daniel M‘Donogh, of Maline, Burgess.

Dermon M‘Donogh, of Gortnascarry, Gent.

Dominie Trant, of Rahinagh, Gent.

Dermot M:Finin, of Killone, Gent.

Owen M‘Murtagh, of Aglis, Gent.

Richard Oge Necargy, of.Callinafercy, Gent

Owen M‘Dermott. of Imilymore, Gent.

Cormacke MTaniel Carty, of Comiagol,

Gent.
Daniel M‘Owen, of Ballingamboone, Gent.
Tralee Bummer Assizes, August, 1635,

dudges—Iulward Hanys, Hugh Cressy.
Funeral Eutry of the death of Connor Maec-
Gillycuddy. TDated 9th February, 1636.
Connor M‘Gillecudi, of Castle Currick, in
the county of Kerry, UGent, did marie Joan,
daughter of the Right Reverend Father in
God, John Crosby, sometime Lord Bishop of
Ardfert, by whom he had -issue—thres sons
and two daughiers, via—Donogh M‘Gillecudi,
laniel MeGillecudi, Connor  McGillecudi,
Rathleen M‘Gillecudi, and Ellen M‘Gillecudi.
The said Connor M*Gillecudi did marie to his
cecond wifa, Shely, danghler of Daniel Oge
Carty, of Dunquil, in the County of Kerry,
(ient, by whom, he had . issue—one sonne,
named Neil M‘Gillecudi. The above said
Comnor . M‘Qillecuddi departed this mortall
life the (blank) day of, October, by shipp-

wracke, 1630. The truth of the  previous ia
testified by the subscription of Charles Sau-
ghrue, of Ardfert, in the county of Kerry,
Gent—Taken by me, Albon Leveret, Athlone
Officer of ‘Armes, to be recorded in the office
the 9th duy of February, 1636. The In-
uisition further states that the. deceased
onnor aline Cornelius MacGillacuddy was
seized in his lordship as of fee of Ardalghas
(Ardglase?) and Banncloon (the modern
Whitefield), of Cahirdonnellieragh, Ardshii-
ane, Gowlans, Glaneloghy, Callinafersy, Bra-
caharagh, Aunagarry, the two Carrunahones,
Carrubeg, Gortnessig, and Ardes, the three
last of which he had demised to Dermot
’Leyne, of Kiloytran, and of several other
lands. Dermot O'Leyne scems to have been

the maternal grandfather of Connor Maec- .

Gillacuddy, because Sir George Carew, in his
M3S preserved at Lambeth Library, written
in or about 1590-1600, eays that Donell,
youngest son of Owen 0'Sullivan More (whose
name is inscribed on the ruined Dunkerron
Casfle) married “ihe daughter of Dermot
O’Leyne, widow of the MacCillacuddy*’
(Carew MSS, codex 625).

10. Donogh of Carhuebeg, a colonel in the
Avmy, m. in 1641, Marie, the youngest dau.
of Daniel O’Sullivane, alias the 0O’'Sullivan

More, of Dunkieran, ‘and had issue, besides

two  children whose names are unknown,
Corneliue ; Daniel, who died vita patris, leav-
g issue hy his wife, Lucretia, eecond dau.
of Mynheer Derrick Von Dachelaer, two sons,
Dennig, of whom hereafter, and Cornelius,
who asslmed the name of Rodrigo Von Dach-
elaer, and lived in Lisbon (he two sons
in 1720) ; Dermod, who had a eon, Dermod
Philip : Frank, an officer in the Limerick gar-
rigon in 1691 ; John : Inez, wife of John Anke-
tell, of Farvahy. Colonel Donough Medilly-
cvddy made his will on the 11th of April,
1696, and it was proved in the Consistorial
court of Arvdfert on 1st Oct. 1702. He died
in 1695-6. He was born at Ardfert in 1623,
as appears from the Matriculation books of
Trinity College. David Crosbie of Ardfert
vas his guardian, and Richard Connell,
Catholic Bishop of Kerrv. signed a deerce
in 1643, in favour of MeGillicuddy, at the
Council of Confedernta Catliolics.

This Donough MeGillyeuddy in 1648 raised
a foot companv at his own cost, and was
made Lieat-Col.
hurned his castle, and went abroad. In 1661
hs was restored by Chas. TI. One of his
chief tormentors was Sir Wm. Pettv. who
contrived to take away wvart of MeGilly-
cuddy’s- lands. ™o 1671 Col. Donogh got a
pension  of £100 out of the Concordatnm

He suffered for his loyalty, |
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Tund, but in 1681 it was two years in arrear.
In 1662 Col. Donogh sent forward a petition
and a schedule his lands including the
territory of Tuogh; Mac(Gillycuddies lg-e\eka,
Auligh, and other glines and pastures; the
territory of Bordonnie in Kileroghane parish.
The lands of h were in Dunekierane
barony, Cnockane, and Killforglin parishes.

In a battle near Mallow, Muskerry escaped
narrowly. Among the prisoners are Lieut-
Col. McGullyeuddy, & man more pular than
Muskerry himself. Major McGE]c.’arIagh, an
old Spanish soldier ; Major McPFinnine, a very
leading man in Kerry ; éapt.. Mac Gullycuddy
brother to the lient.-col; Captain ~ Seale,
Governor of the Island of Valentia ; Captains
Bullivan and Clausley and some troopers.

In 1687 he filled the office of High Sheriff
of Kerry, whether by the appointment of Lord

ndon or Tyrconnell is uncertain, but he
would have been acceptable to the former as
the cousin german of Sir Thomas Croshie (a
High Churchman and Jacobite), and to Tyr-
connell as a Roman Catholic of Irish race,
wio had suffered for the Stnarts, Cornelins
Mac Gillacuddy, the eldest son of Colonel
Donogh, was, with his own and Sir Thomas
Croshie’s cousin german, Roger MacEligot,
an officer in vames’ army. and in 1688 mem.
ber for Ardfect in that King’s Trish Con-
vention, or Parliament, MacEligot was made
prisoner, pent with Lord Clancarty to the
Tower, and his estate was confiscated ;
but Capt. Cornelins MacGillacuddy, end his
brother Francis, and Sir Thomas Crosbie wera
included 1n the Articles of Limerick, and
thereby saved their estates. On the 13th of
October, 1694, Corneline M acQillacuddy wrote
from Dublin a letter to his father in Kerry,
in which he says: “You have always a friend
at Court in my Lady Shelbourne: she dnth
nob forget you, and doth assure me she wiy
continue yoor friend as formerly.”” He adds
a kindly message to “Taptain 'Hassett, of
Killorglin,” saying “in whatsoever he shall
want in Dublin, I ehall be as real a solicitor
for him here as he was n true friend of me
and ming there” (i.e. in Limerick and Kerry).
This Captain 'Hassett, as the old Kerry
abbreviation of the Blennerhassett name ran,
Wwas the writer of tha well-known Geneal.
ozical MSB., and an ardent supporter of
William of Orange. FHe had been one of the
Qalway Prisoners of 1688,
p‘lﬂm}a_nt to find him scting
& spirit towards his former foes, and to find
them reciprocating it in 1694, But there had
been an earlier connection between the Kil-
olrglin - Blennerhassetts and the MacGilla-

and it is very
In 80 generous

cuddys, to be renewed in 1717, as we shall
r Bee. way, the maternal
grand-aunt of Captain Blennerhassett, grand-
daughter of Captain Jenkin Conway, to whom
Queen Elizabeth had granted the Killorglin
estisle, had married, in or about 1640, Don-
nell (’Sullivan, second son of Donnell ’Sul-
livan Mor by Joan Fitzmaurice, and brother
of Mary (FSullivan, the wife of Colonel
Donogh MacGillacuddy. The descendants, if
any, remain of this marriage are unknown.
1t is move curious to find Lady Shelburne, the
aged widow of Sir Willinm Petty, and the
daughter of Iardress Waller, interesting her-
self so warmly on MacGillacuddy’s behali.
But her mother, wife of the redoubtable
Cromwellian ofticer, Hardress Waller, was
Elizabeth, daughter and co heiress of Sir
John Dowdall, of Kilfinny Castle, County
Limerick, and he and his family had been
devoted adherents of James the First and
Charles the First. TFor their sakes Hardress
Waller’s life was spaved at the Restoration,
and his estate (or rather hers) of Castletown
was allowed to remain with “his wife and
children. Moreover in 1692, Lady 8hel-
burne’s ouly daughter, Lady Anne Petty, had
married Thomas FitzMaurice, 21st Baron and
lsv Karl of Kerry, what was the great grand-
nephew of Joan FitzMaurice, danghter of the
17th Baron of Kerry, wife of Donnell 0'Sul-
livan Mor, and mother of his heir, Owen, and
of  Colonel Donogh MacGillacuddy’s ~ wife.
And Owen O'Sullivan Mor was married to
Mary FitzGerald (daughter of Sir Edmund
Frzlierald, of Cloyne, by Homnora, daughter
of  James TitzMaurice Fitz(erald, (who
brought the S8paniards to Fort del Or), whose
niece, Honora, was the wife of the 18th Baran
of Rerry. This Honora, Lady Kerry, lies
buried in the little ruined chapel at the north-
east end of Ardfert Cathedral, purchased hy
ker in 1668, as a burial place for herself and
her descendants, as appears by the inecrip-
tion on the tomb. Bhe was grandmother of
Thomas, 21st Baron and 1st Farl of Kem
above mentioned. This Thomas and his
father, the 20th Barom of Kerry, went to
Franoe after 1690. The former seems to have
died there in 1697, but hie son returncd. as
did others, and submitted to King William
and Queen Mary, who had put forth a pro-
clamation that certain of James' adherents.
who did so return in a given time, would be
pardoned and restored to their estates.

In the journals of the Rev. R. Daires, D.1).
Dean of Ross (and chaplain to ome of King
William’s regiments in 1691 at Belfast, the

Boyne and Limerick), edited by the late Dr.
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Caulfield for the Camden Society in 1857, the
editor gives in the Appendix, the following
extract from the Cork Corporation Records,
;‘11:%11 (;?Jtob-er, H1696 :-—-Ordergd tl:a,}'. Mz,

oemas Kingsmill pay petty dutyes for my
Lord Iiexr_yeg: goodg ii Eli}e(’lagrfs, brytlult lie he
then disfranchised, it plainly appearing to the
Council that he sheraned the goods of a
Foreigner contrary to his oath.” The jour-
nals of the Dean make frequent mention of
“John Hassett,”” Sam Morris, ““Knsign Ray-
mend"’ (ﬁf Kerry or Cork) and other Irish-
men of his time.

Donough MacGillacuddy had a long and
troubled life. In his petition to be restored
to his estates after 1660 he declares that he
took no part in the Civil War until 1648;
but three deponents—Arthur Blennerhassett,
Michael Vines, and Stephen Love, swore be-
fore the Royal Commissioners in 1642 that he
was with the Irish at the siege of ‘Tralee
~Lastle in that vear. Michael Vines was a
shoemaker in that town, and he and his
wife and seven children were amongst the
besieged, who endured great misery for some
months. He swore that Caplain  James
Browne, of Killarney, Feq.; Caps. Florence
MacCarthy Mor, of Pallas, Fsq. : Capt. O'Sul-
livan Mor, Iisq., and Capt. MaoGillacuddy,
Esq., who was formerly a Protestant, but is
sinee turned Papist; and Capt. O’Donoghne
of the Glins, -Fsq., were with the besiegers.
In 1647-8, Donogh MacGillacuddy was cer-
-tuinly an officer in Ormond’s army, and the
Marquis as well as Lord Clancarthy gave
him " certificates in 1661, testifying that he
had  continuvally and faithfully served the
king, “with loss of bloode, durance of long
imprisonment, and several other sufferings,”
and had burned his Castle at Bauncloon and
followed ‘Charles IT into exile rather than
“submit to the usuarped power.” Portion of
his estate was restored to him in 1660-70,
but great part of it remained with Sir Wil-
lizmn Petty, Robert Marshall and others, and
ha was so impoverished by law suits with
them abont arrears of quit rent, ete., that the
King granted him £100 a year out of the
OConcordatum Fund. Like all allowances at
that time it was most irregularly paid, and
the two thousand acres vestored to him, out
of 6,500 promised. were wasted by war and
of little valne. The Herberts and Sir Wil-
lizm Petty endeavoured to deprive him even
of the remnant of his ancient inheritance, but
Ormond and Clancarthy, and Rose Marchion-
ess of Antrim’s influence prevented his com-

lete despoilation. TIn 1683-91 he and his sons

owght for James the Second, and were in-

cluded in the Axvticles of Limerick. The last
hali-dozen years of his life were tolerably
peaceful, chiefly through the influence of the
Crosbies and Blemnerhassett of Killorglin,
Protestant connections of the FitzMaurices
and O'Sullivan Mor. His eldest son married
the sister of McCarthy Mor, and died child-
fess in 1712.

Colonel Donogh MacGillacuddy died be-
tween 1695 and 1702, and the following is an
extract. from his will, still preserved in the
Public Record Office, Dublin. It was proved
on the 1st of October, 1702 : —

ILH.8 Im Nomine Patris et Flii et
Spiritus Sanctus. Amen. I, Colonel Don-
ogh MacGillacuddy, of Castle Currig, in the
county of Kerry, being aged and infirm in
body, but sound and perfect in sense and
reason, do make my Testament and last
Will as followeth. Imprimus, I bequeath
my soul to God Almighty—(illegible), the
intercession of the Blessed Virgin Hias
Mother, and my body to be buried in my
predecessor's  tomb in  Irrelagh Abbey,
Necondly, as for my Estate and Tnheritance,
Chief Rents and what other justly belongeth
unto me, I bequeath them to my eldes eon,
Cornelins MaeGillacuddy, and his heirs male
lawifully begotten; and for want of such
heirs male T bequeath it to-my second son's
son, Danel MacGillacuddy, his eldest son,
Donnogh MacGillacuddy, and his heirs male
lawfully hegotten; and for want of such
heirs male to his other son, Cornelius Mac
Gillacuddy, and his heirs lawfully be-
gotten; and for want of such heirs male
1 bequeath my said estate to my son,
Dermot, MacGillacuddy, and his heirs male
Jawiully begotten; and for want of such
heirs male 1 bequeath it to my son, James
Mac(Gillacnddy, and his heirs male law-
fully begotten; and for want of such heirs
male T bequeath it to my son, Philip Mac-
Gillacuddy, and to his heirs male lawfully
begotten ; and for want of such heirs male
I bequeath it to my nepnew, Major Denis
Mac Gillacuddy, and his heirs male law-

fully begotten; and for want of such heirs
male I bequeath it to my brother, Cornelius
MacGillacuddy, and his heirs male law-
fully begotten; and for want of such heirs
male I bequeath it to my cousin german,
Donogh: MacDermot MacGillacuddy, and
his heirs male lawfully begotten; and for
want of such heirs T bequeath it to Cor-
nelius  AMac(illacuddy of Gortnescarry's
eldest son, John MacGillacuddy, and his
heirs male lawfully begotten : and for want
of such heirs male T bequeath my said
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estate to the said Corneline MacGillacuddy

of Go , his second son, Owen Mae

Gillacuddy, and his heirs mala lawfully be-

Ezttrm; and for want of such heirs male 1

weath it to the said Cornelius MacEifa-
ou dﬂj his third sen, Teigue Mac(iillasuddy
and his heirs male lawfully begotten: and
for want of such heirs male, I bequeath it
to the said Cornelius MacGillacuddy of

Gortnescarry’s fourth son, Cornelins’ Mac-

Gillacuddy, junior, and his heirs male law-

fully begotten; and for want of such helrs

mlae lawfully begotten to the heirs general
= o+ » .« Ileave at (sic) this, my last

Will and Testament, no power to my said

successors to dock my said entail, hut leave

it extant. Donogh Mae@illacuddy. Being
present when this last Will and Testament

was signed, this 11th day of April, 1695

Ric Connell, Parish Priest. Florence Mae

Gillacuddy, Humphrey Sugrue, Owen Mori-

?t{;' JuIJ:Iat h(!lxst. CI)gober, 1702. 'Testat.

Arthur Herhert, ist N

e gistrar and Notary

I leave and bequeath to Dr. Richard

Connell three pounds sterling, and five

pounds to the Guardian Friare of the Abbey

of Tirelagh, for praying for my Soul, which
logacy T leave to my son, Cornelius Mac-

Gillacuddy to diseharge. Donogh Mac(Hilla-

cuddy. Signed before us die o anno
Thsupx:dlcto. Humphrey Sugrue, ete.

e three pounds and the five pounds repre-
sented probably at least six tiI;:es as mﬁmh
of our present day meney, that is to 8ay,
eighteen pounds for Dr. Richard Connell and
thirty p'ou.nds for Masses to be said for the
testator's soul by the friars, who it is plain,
were five years after the Bovne still guarding
Irrelagh (i.e. Mucross) Abbey, then owned by
MacCarthy Mor, whose sister was the wife of
CDIo,neI rnelius Mac(hillacuddy, the test-
ator’s eldest son. This bequest of money for
Masses, is another proof of tae truth of what
T said as to the majority of the penal laws
being a dead letter in Iveland so far as con-
cerned Irish Roman Catholics, lay or clerical,
who were not known to he engaged in treason.
able plots against the Crown. Of the de-
scendante, if any, there were, of the three
younger sons, the nephew, the brother and
the cousin german of Colonel Donogh Mac
Gillacuddy mentioned in hig will, we have no
account. But of the (Gortnascarry MacCilla-
;gggys wb};; are last 13 I;he entail, we have

sod eontemporary an ter records, whi
will be given hmea,ry fter. ipp b

11. Cornelins of Carhuebeg, was the
eldest son of Colonel Donough, ad m. in 1670

o
Ellish er Elizabeth, sister to Charles McCar-
thy More. They had no issue. He died in
November, 1712. He was in 1688 made Capt.
in Lord Slane’s regiment, and was M.P., in
1689. He was included within the articles of
Lumerick, and took the oaths in 1694.

Richard Thompson, Revenue Office, Dublin,
9th November, 1680, writes to Cornelius: *I
have fought your battle and foiled the Knight
(Sir W. Petty?) and made him cry and sob

in the open court.”

Captain Cornelius MacGillacuddy succeedad
hig father under the will of 1695 as son and
heir. Ho died in 1712 leaving no iseue by his
wife, the sister of Charles Mc¢Carthy Mor, and
niece of the Marquis of Antrim. The words
of Colonel Donogh MacGillacuddy's will are,
“I bequeath it (l.e,, his estate) to my second
=on's son, Daniel MacGillacuddy, his eldest
son, Donogh MacGillacuddy.” It is clears~
tharefore, that the latter Donogh was not the
grandson of the testator, Colonel Donogh, but .
his great graodson, the son of his” “second .
son’s son, Daniel.”  Colonel Donogh Mac-
(illacuddy, the husband of Mary O'Sullivan
and the testator of 1895, is called in all the
MSS preserved in the Dublin Public Record
Office and at Bauncloon, as he signs himself
in the will, Donogh not Denis. But he had
in ‘1673 a son who then, and subsequently,
down to 1691, appears in the old public re-
cords #s Denig, probably in order to prevent
confusion between him and his father. As
Colonal Donogh was married in 1641 to Mary
O’Sullivan, and had by her an elder son,
Cornelins, Denis may have been about twenty-
nine years of age in 1673, and as men maryied
young in those days. he may have heen the
father of a son nine or ten years old in that
year, whose name was Daniel, the English
form of the old [rish Dromhnall of Donnel.
Donogh. or Denis  Mae(lillacuddy of the
Restoration period, married Inez de Rebera.
a Spanish or Portugese lady, probably a re-
lative of Francisco de-Ribera, a Franciscan
friar of Toledn. made Bishop of Leighlin hy
the Pope in 1587, and who died in 1604. Tha
fine paintings of a Spanish artist of the same
name, Jose de Ribera, 'who died in 1656,
adorn the galleries of the Museo de Pradoat
Madrid, and those of the Hermitage at St.
Patersburg. This Denis of 1673 was by this
Spanish or Portuguese wife, father of Tanie!
MacGillacuddy, called in the above will of
Colonel Donogh .in 1695, “my . second soun’s
son, Daniel.” His father, whose christian -

name and personality, are lightly passed over
in the wi.‘l.l‘.’e Denis was in 1691 a Colonel in
the army of James the Second, in Cavan,

it



while his father, the testator Colonei Dono
(alas Denis) was recruiting men in K g
and' seizing cattle for the service of the same
kmfs Munster troops. Oun  30th of April,
1691, Colonel Denis MacGillacuddy was Com-
mander of all James’ troops, in the town and
country of Cavan. This was the Denis of
‘the l’rwﬂ1 Council License of 1673, the hus-
baud of Inez de Ribera, the ‘‘second son” of
the testator Colonel Donogh, and the father
3f Daniel, whose young eon, Donogh, in ac-
cordance with the entail, succeeded his child-
<68 grand uncle, Cornelius, in 1712. Colonel
Danis MacGillacuddy, commanding in Cavan
for .J'a!.pes in 1691, must have gone to France
or Spajn or fallen at the Boyne or at Lime-
rick, but in either case it was only common
Fmdonce of his father to pass him over as
ightly as possible in tihe will of 1695, and
mention only the name of his (Denis's s0n,
Paniel, and grandson, Donogh, a cfu’ld in
,1688-?_5. It is not certain whether Daniel
va_lﬁsﬁ\;lal-aacudd%' “I;t‘.s alive in 1695 when the
1 s made, Beems  most robable
that he had died before the civil pwa-r b})f
_1689-61 began, but in any case it is certain
that the mention of his name in the will
would not have bheen dangerous, as that of his
?.EL r might very well have been. If Daniel
WldcGillacuddy did live throughout the war
he did not take any part in it, and as his
wife was the daughter and co-aeiress of Der-
rick ‘va.n' Dachalaer, a burgomaster of
Wangenheim in Holland, and he, Da niel, had
n an officer in the army of William the
§acond, Prince of Orange (the father of Wil-
Alam the Third) in or abont 1680, the English
rovernment in 1695 wonld not have regarded
kim his younger son, who was probably only
eight or {en vears old in that year, with dis-
flwour,‘bnt' wonld have permittad the latter
to obtain his full rights under the entail, in
hopes that his Protestant relatives and
friends would have him educated in their own
foith after the deaths of his grandfather,
grand uncle and father. And those hopes
wore altimately realised. Corneling Mao
Gillacuddy | mortgaged all ~ his  es-
tate in 1698 to his cousin David CGroshie. of
Ardfert, and in 1706 levied a fine and suf-
fered Tecovery, in arder to bar the entail, a
proceeding which it is evident his father
Colomel Dn_non'h. the testator of 1695, feaved
he (Cornelius) might take in spite of the
parental injunctions not to do so. Tt would
seem that Comelivs wae for a time at vari-
ance with his nephew Daniel, perhaps for
his not joining James the Second’s side in
1688, or for having married the daughter of
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a  Dutchman. Cornelius,, by a will dated
20th October, 1712, endeavoured to annul
the deeds of mortgage of 1698, and to se-
cure the ¢states under the entail to his young
grand-nepaew, Donogh. It is more  than
doubtful that he could have succeeded in
this high-handed attempt against the mort-
gagees, but after his death, in 1713, David
Crosbie (whose eldest son Sir Mauvice Cros-
bie, firgt. Lord Brandon had just murvied
Lady Anne FitzManrice, daughter of Thomas
FEarl of Kewy) restored all the mortgaged
lands to young Donogh, and also granted
him leases of valuable lands for nine hun-
dred and ninety-ninoe years at very small
rents. Donogh, or Denis MacGillacuddy, as
he is always called in old legal records after
1700, married, in 1717, Anne Blennerhassett,
daughter of Captain John Blennerhassett, of
Killorglin, son of Robert Blennerhassett, of
Ballyseedy, in 1649, by his wife Avice Con-
way, co-heiress with her sister, Alice, wife
of Patrick Dowdall, of Cappa, of the Killor-
glin seignory, granted to their great grand-
father, Jenkin Conway, by Queen Elizabeth
in 1587, Robert Blennerhassett was the
younger son of John Blennerhassett of Bally-
seedy. in 1660, by his wife Martha Lyn.
Captain John, the husband of Avice Conway,
was the writer of the well-known genealo-
gical MBS., and one of the Galway prisoners
of James the Second in 1688, subsequently
the Captain 'Hassett who is mentioned as a
“true friend” in 1691 in Cornelins Mac(iil-
lacuddy’s letter of that vear. In the year
after his marriage Denis MacGillacuddy
openly conformed to the Protestant refigion
of his wife and her family. He died in 1730;
his widow married John Herbert, of Cur-
rens, younger brother of George Herbert, an-
cestor of the Cahirnane Herberts. At his
death, in 1720, he was succeeded by his eld-
est surviving son, Cornelins, who according
to his maternal grandfather, John Blenner-
hassett, genealogical records, above men-
tioned, was born on the 28th of Janunary,
1721 ; so that he was only nine vears of age
at his father’s death, and hardly ten when
his widowed mother married Joan Herbert.

12. Dennis of Carhuebeg, eldest son of
Captain Danie! and Luecretia. m. 26 Teb.,
1717, Anne, born 24 Jan., 1694, dau. of Capt.
John Blennerhassett, of Killorglin, by Fliza-
beth, dau. of Rev. Benjamin Crosse. She m.
2ndly, in 1731, Thomas. son of Avthur Her-
bert of (lurremns, also having igsue by him.
The children of Dennis and Anne werw
Denis; Cornelins: John, born 26 July, 1727 ;
Philip born 10 Feh., 1729: Avis-Catherine s
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Elizabeth; Mary. This Dennis died in 1730
He declared his conformity at Trales on
23 Apr., 1718. Among the items of his fune-
ral were : £1 156 0d for an anker
of brandy; £4 for wine; £3 5s for brandy,
to Keyne ¥; £8 4s. 6d. for Holland,
etc., to John Cahane, Tralee; £15 for funeral
expenses to Mort Sullivane, merchant, Kil-
larney.

4 1715. DEPOSITIONS.

CUOUNTY KERRY—Richard ¢ sunsil of
Meanus, by our warrant summoned to appear
before us this day, and being examined upon
oath, sayeth and deposeth that he heard that
Ma]or' Denis MaqGi icuddy of Carrunahenes,
and his son Daniel MacGillicuddy did on or
about the month of May, 1713, transport
themselves he;.‘ond.the seds in a ship belong-
ing to one Captain Richard or Matthew
Butler (that had sailed from some port in
France to the harbour of Valentia), as this
Ext heard, with intent to manage or dispose
of a concern or interest that Major MeGilli-
cuddy had in Holland, as was reported. And
said that one (Geoffrey Connell,”of Cahir, in
the said county, lately an ordained Popish
priest in this kingdom (as he believes) died on
or about the month of Aarch last
transport himeelf in a ship belonging to the
Butlers from Valencia to France as he heard.
Saith that he saw one Tiege Connell. son of
Mortogh Connell, of the parish of Killgarry-
lamder3 preparing them to go on hoard the said
Butler's ship, with the eaid Geofirey Con-
nell, and he believes the said Tiege 'did, to-

ther with one Felix Carthy of ye County of

orke, aged about thirty years. transport
himself in the said ship for France. Saith
that he knoweth of one Darby Connor and
Donogh Suiht'ue, alias Roe, Popish school-
masters, who have taught lately in the
parish of Knockane: and knoweth Tlorence
Gillycuddy of Aughnegarry, who teacheth as
he believes and hears at Slonghford, in the
parish of Killorglin. Saith that he heard
that one Denis Moriarty, alias Loghy, is a
titular Dean or dignitary in the Church of
Rome, and that he exérciseth ecclesiastical
jurisdiction, more particularly that the said
Dean Mariarty did threaten or say he would
suspend one Mortagh 0'Sullevane of Glancut-
bane, a late ordained Popish priest, for get-
Wng dismissory letters from another dignified

- Popish cler,

’Connell  atso deposed that a t man
other pl‘ieﬁh‘. _ Ferrisses, Lynes.grg?dlivm{
veys, residing in the county, were wun-
registered.  Patrick Trant of Castlemaine,
merchant, deposed on the same day before tha
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same magistrates “that he knew Tiege Con-
nell, son of Morrogh of Farness, in the parish
of Killgarrylander, and that he believes said
Tiege went in Captain Butler’s ship. to
France for his education, and that he {depon-
ent) heard that Garrett or Maurice Pierse of
Clanmortis, and Stephen Rice of Dingle, sent
their sons beyond seas for foreign education,
said Stephen’s son being
and that Bartholomew Rice sent his son
James to France for the same purpose.
Trant also deposed that on the 13th of June.
1714, he was ab Listowel, and *‘present at
the celebration of s mass by Ambrose Mori-
arty of Ballinvohir, and that Edward and
Richard Huszsey and Nicholas Moore weve
then and there present, and that within
twelve months past he saw Edmond Fussey
of Killarney, Edmond Terrviter of Ballyough-
tragh, and Justin MacCarthy, of Ballycar-
berry, geut., go armed with swords, and
that they are Papists.”’—Bigned before John
Blennerhassett of Killorglin, J.P., and Fd.
ward Herbert of Kilcow, J.P., Uctober 20th,
1715, A letter from John Blennerhassett to
the Castle Secretary enclosing these deposi-
tions says they were given with great reluc:
tance, and “‘only under compulsion.’” Colone!
Denny about two years previously had ob-
tained a licence to carry arms fop Justin Mae-
Carthy, and M. Mulling had obtained iho
same favour for Mdmond Ferriter; but in
1713 Queen Aune’s failing health and  the
Jacobite plots which she was suspected to
favour, and which were certainly brewing
around her sick bad, had greatly alarmed the
Whig gentiy of Ireland. Their policy | to:
wards their Roman Catholic neighbours grew
less lenient, and a close watch was kept on
all ons suspected of holding communica-
tiOnEer‘:ith St.] (iermains. That their femrs
wareednot gromndless the Scotch rising of 1715
roved. ;
. 13. Dennis. eldest son of Dennis and Anne
McGillyenddy, was born 15 Nov., 1718, and
died intestate and unmarried in 1735.
14. Cornelius, second son of Dennis
Anne, was born 15 Jan.. 1720. v
Cornelius MacGillacuddy, thus left, with
several younger brothers and sisters, father-
less in 1730, at the age of nine, seems to
have lived chiefly ab Killorglin or Casils
Conway, with his maternal grandfather
John Blennerhassett. His mother’s secone
marriage with John Herbert. of Currens. did
pot improve his worldly circumstances. John
Herbert (some genealogies call him Thomas).
was brother of Bdward Herbert, who married
his cousin, Agnes Herbert, of Kilcow, be
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fare 1770, widow of MacCarthy Mor. Both
tae Herbert brothers’ seem to have had a
penchant for marrying the widows of Irish
chiefs. The only Kerry family of the older
Anglo-Trish descent. of Plantagnet or Tudor
times that seems to have given any trouble
(oub of war) to the O'Sullivans Mor and the
MacGiMacuddys was  that of the Herberts,
Lords of Cherbury and Castle Island, ances-
tora of the Farls of Powie, now extinct. In
1675 Lord lerbert, of Cherbury and Castle
Island, sent in a long report of the State of
Kerry to tha Government of Charles the
Becond, in which he complains that ‘“‘the
three chiefs of the O'Sullivans, viz., 0’'Sul-
livan Mor. O’Bullivan Bear, and MacGilla-
cuddy, although none of them had been

Jud‘ged nnoecent. nor had any benefit un-
der tne late Act of Settlement, do neverthe-
lesa viis et modis enjoy considerable parts of
their Iate_esmw," besides, he adds, *the
last mentioned of these three hath lately
acted as a Justice of the Peace himself,
v.'hlla_ the J-Z.nglish. to whom those lands are
Past in certificate. cannot legally come by
them.” TLord erbert, of Castle Tsland and
Cherbury, like all his predecessors and his

m:cc[‘sa(\l's in the ownership of the former
place, was hnlnt’unIly an absentes. It had
been granted to his ancestor, Rir William

Herbert, of St. Julian’s, by Queen Tlizaheth,
solely on seconrt of his Welsh bivth, for he
never did any civil or military service in

land worth noticing.  Navertheless, and
although that Queen had ordered that mo
person receiving grants of Desmond’s for-
faited palatinate, should have more than ten
thousand acres, on condition of planting it
?ut.h free tenants. Sir William managed to
‘grab’ more ‘than twenty-four thousand, on
which he seems to have made no freehold ten-
Ancies in 1587-1620. And, like his “MCRLIEET,
_Ln-rd lim'hert, of Castle Tsland and Chevbury,
in 1675, he emploved the time of his hriof
visita to Castle Tsland in writing to Queen
Blizaheth, as Lord Herbert wrote to Charles
the Second, long complaints
bours, Sir FEdward Denny, Captain Thomas
Spring and Captain Jenkin Conway, who had
served all through ihe Desmond “and Segan
Farl’s wars, and had  each obtained the
fourth part of the quantity of land the Welsh
Knight possessed himself. in Kerry. In 1678
llthle' move than four years after Lord Her-
bert's Report had reached Charles the Se-
cond, his Majesty’s Letters Patent restored
Colonel Donogh MacGillacuddy to portion of
his estate by and with “the advice and con-
sant of Our right, trusty and right entively
beloved Cousin and Councillor, JTames Dnke

of his meigh-

of Ormond, Our Lieutenant @General and'
E;r&azl'al Governor of our said Kingdom of Ire-

The ancestor of the Herberts, of Mucruss,
after 1770, and of the Cahernane family, to
which Thomas or John Herbert, husband of
MacGillacuddy’s widow in 1731, belonged,
does not appear to have had any share in the
concoction of this Report of Lord Herberl's
in 1675. He, the said ancestor of these
families still existing, and the grandfather
Cornelius  MacGillacuddy’s stepfather, came
to Kerry during the Protectorate of Cromwell,
and obtained a lease of the lands of Kilcow
and Ballymacquedam, part  of Lovd  Her-
bert's estate, in and around Castle Island,
whose relalion he was, and whose agent he
became. Stepfathers and stepsong  rarely
agree, and youug MacQillacuddy, of 1740,
and John Herbert proved no exception to this
general yule. They had long law suits for
lands and money.  But through the influence
of Captain John Blennerhassett and Sir
Manrice Crosbie, Lord Branden, who was one:
of the executors to Denis The Mac(illa-
cuddy’s will, a compromise was effected
between the contending patries. And it was
further confimed by the marviage of Cor-
nelius, on the 16th of July, 1745 to Catherine
Chute, daughter of Richard Chute, of Chute
Hall, near Tralee, by his wile, Charity lier-
bert sister of the said John Herbert, whe
was thus the uncle of his stepson’s wife.

The childven of the MacGillacuddy, who
died in 1787, by his wife, Catherine Chute,
were . —

1. Denis died in his minorvity nnmareied.
His brothers and sisters used to tell curious
tradivions, firmly believed by people around
the Reeks, of the wailings of the banshee of
the O'Sullivans, heard some night befere his
death.

I Richard, of whom hereafter.

I Francie married Catherine, daughter
of Denis Mahony, of Dromorve Castle, near
Kenmare, and widow of 1. Magill, Esq.
Francis died 6th Apr., 1820 having had
issue:  Richad, of whom later: Denis. b.
8th Jan., 1791, d woung: Duaniel. bh. 28tk
Oct., 1794, d. young; Francis b May,
1796, do unm. ;" Denis, b. 8 Jan., 1798, wis
Lieut. in R Navy, and m Mary Kirwan, and
died d.s.p, 1843; Mary, b 19 December,
1791, d. unm.; Catheripe b 10 April, 1793,

m. M. A. Martin, and had, thuee sons and
two daus.
IV. Daniel, fourth son of Cornelive. was

born Feb., 1753, He m 1stly, Klizabeth, dan
of Conway Blennerhassett. "by  Tliz. Lacy,
having no issue. He m 2ndly in 1811, Sophia,
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dau, of Sir Barry Denny, Bart., and by
her, who d 1832, had issue: Daniel De
Courcy, who m. Lucinda Morphy, and had
issue: Daniel De Courcy b. 20 July, 1840;
Richard Edward, b. 7 May, 1850; Henry
Arthur, b. Oct. 1852; Edward Arthur, L.
Nov., 1854; Arthur Orpen, b 1856; Francis
John, b. 1860; Sar Lucinda :  Sophia
Lucinda ; Sophia Elzabeth. This Daniel and
Eliz. had also Arabella, wife of ldw. Mor-
phy; and Sophia, wife of Rev. Henry Dennv
a brother of Sir Edw. Denny, Bart.

V. Eusebius, fifth son of Cornelius  arpd
Catherine MeGillyeuddy, was born May,
1754. He m. Anne Ritzgerald, and had

Fraocis Chute and Margarvet Frances Chute
was born in 1794. Tle m. 1816, Eliz., dau.
of John Curry by Ursella Godfrey i Millbown,
and dying 24th Nov., 1839, left issue: Daniel,
who m in 1842, Johanna Trant. of Caher-
ciyeen, and had issue, Francis o. 25 Septem-
bor, 1843, and Valentine b. 846. Francis
Curry, second son of Francie. Chute, h. 2
Mar., 1831, m. in 1855, Kate (Janville Thomas
of Cambourne Cornwall, having issue, Francis
b. 8 Dec., 1857; Richard . 2 Apr., 1861;
Wiliam b. 28 Dec., 1862: Christina Lillias.
b 27 Aug., 1856: Elizahet's b. 19 Apr., 1859 ;
Mary Glanville, b 3 May. 1865. Ureella dau
of Francis Chute and Eliz., m. Aug. 1840,
Geo. Mayberry, M.T)., Riversdale, Kenmare,
having issue. Margavet, dau. of Busebius
and Anne b. 1796, d. 1849, m. 1817 to Alex.
Tagar, b. 1786, d. 7 Bept.. 1855, having issus
Thomas, b. Nov. 1818; Eusebius Me G.
1820: TFrancis; Alex.: James; Anne;
Rosanna Catherine; and Margaret.  (See
Eagar Family History in vol. 2 of my Kerry).

éllﬁebi‘\m and Anne had three other daugh-
ters: —Fllen md. Captain Plowman,; Charity
md.—Blackhall ; Catherine md James Mor-

. Charity, eldest danghter of the Mac-
Gillacuddy and his wife. Catherine Chute, md
Kdward Collis, of Lismore House, near Tra-
lee, and bad, with other issue an elder som,
Sumuel Collis, retired Major in the Royal
Munster Fusiliers and Willam, who married
Miss Stephenson, and has surviving issue, an
onlg child Frances.

VII. Margaret, second daughter of the

Mac(illacuddy and his wife, Catherine Chute,

~md the Rev. James Day, Rector of Tralee,

- son of the Rev; Fdward Day, Rector of the

same in 1754, by Mary Rowan, dau. of John
|".|Rgma,p-, loif]Tfu]lalfee,hupear_’_ Caa]e nh Gregery,
verry, by his wife, SBarah Leslie,
q”%gim P bar T At o
ey, James Teslie by his wife, the dan. of

.:. Alexander Conyngham, Dean of Raphoe), to

whom \William the Third granted Tarbert and
other estates for his services in  1688-91.
John Rowan was the son of George Rowan, by
Mary Blennerhassett, of Ballyseedy, in 1661,
by his wide, Elizabeth Denny, daughter of
Sir dward Denny, of Tralee Castle, in 1630,
by his wife, the Hon. Ruth Roper, danghter
of Roper Lowd Baltinglass, and cousin of Sir
Philip Sidney. Jod

All the descendants of (teorge Rowam, of
1700, ave thus entitled to eclaim kinship
through Ruth Roper with one of the most
illustrions of Englishmen. and through he:
husband, Sie Fdward Denny, with Sivr Waltes
Raleigh and Sir llumphrey Gilbert, whu-ic
death is commemorated in one of Imn:%fallow 8
beautiful poems. Marvgaret  MacQillacuddy
had by her husband, the Rev. James Day.
with other issue, a daughter, Sarah, married
John James Hickson (great grandson of John

Hickson of Fermoyle, in 1740), two younger
sons, James, a Major in the Ben Army
for thirty years, died unmarried in 1838;

John, a Captain in the 87th Tegiment,
served all tll:mugh the Peninsular War and
the firet Burmese War, died unmarried in
1831 ; and an elder son, Rev. Edward Day,
Rector of Kilgobbin, county Kerry, between
1814 and 1845. He married Deborah Curry,
sister of the wife of his cousin german,
Francis Chute MacGillacoddy, and left with
other issue, 1, James settled in America, md.
and is deceased. 2. Richard anmd. of Tralee.
3. John, a Colonel in the 17th Madras Regi-

b. ment, served all through the Mutiny, mar-

ried Anna, daughter of George Day Stokes,
Mount Hawk near Tralee (grand nephew of
Judge Day) and left issue. 4. Edward, in
Holy Orders, formerly Viear of St. Marks,
Finsbury, London, md. and left ijssue. 5.
Leslie, Lieut. and Adjutant in the 11th Regi-
ment, subsequently Vicar of Ardfert, died
unmd. 6. Margaret md. William Hickson,
Q.C. and County Court Judge. son of George
Blake Hickson, Q.€., great grandson of Johr
Hickson, ef Fermoyle, above mentioned, anc
left issue. 7. Deborah md. her cousin-ger-
wman, James Hickson, formerly of Hillville
near Fermoyle, and had issue five daughtere.
B. Bessie md. Rev. Edward Otaway Herber:
(of the Mucross family), Vicar of St. John’s
Middlesborough. Yorkshire. 9. Lucy md.
Colonel Gill, of the 57th Madras Regiment.
and had issue. 10. Barah. wife of Stafi-
Burgeon John Wilson, of the same regiment.
had issue.. 11. Agnes, unmnd.

VIIT. Agnes Mac(iillacuddy,  youngest
daughter of The MacGillacnddy, by Catherine
Chute, of Chute Hal, md. Maurice Loyne,
M.D., by whom she had with other issue,
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Richard 4 Captain in the Army, served in usual fashion. e was so learned that he 430
the Peninsula and at the battle of Waterloo, was popularly regarded as a Magician. Some *

father of J. Leyne, Esq., and other childien. fragments of Anglo-Norman verse attributed
8. Jeremiah, an eminent physician, md. to him, still swrvive. The old Irish Chronicles
Mary, dan. of Robert Christopher Tlickson, describe him as a Mathematician and  poet,
of Fermoyle, and had an onty child, who, by witty, generous and bountiful ; a learned and anonths before  hie grandnephew, the 13th his wife, Catherine Chute, dau. of Richard
Themas Stuart, Esq., left an only daughter, profound historian, an “‘encourager of the Earl, and left by his wife, Maud, dau. of Chute, of Chute Hall, by his wife, Charity
Lsabella. Agnes and Thomas Day,  son ﬂf“""i"ff of lirin,” and centuries after his | Alahon O'Brian, Lord of Carrigogunnell, a son IHerbert, were all seventeenth in  descent

e

: 4 ’ > |

VIL John, who never succeeded to the Fusebius MacGillacuddy, and grandaunts,
sivle, altvugh often wiangly called fourteenth Mis Collis Mys Day and Mrs Leyne, sons and
Earl.  He died at a pgreat age at Tralee, some daughters of the MacGillacuddy of 1786, and

of ilev. John Day, Rector of AMilltown, county death legends asserted that once in every - who succeeded as from the same King, and eight in descent
Karry, by his wife Charlotte, danghter of Sir seven years he re-appears on a white steed | VIL  James, fourteenth Earl of Desmond, from Ludy Margaret FitaGerald, called War-
_B_-\rr_v_ Denny, Bart., of Tralee Castle, by with silver shoes and rides round Lough who matied Maud, daughter of the Chief garet the Fuair, sister of the great url of
his wife, Jane, daughter of Sir ‘Thomas Gur. In the last century a Mr. Bayley, who ‘ol 0" Carroll ly, and left with a son, Gerald, Desmoud, killed at ilounageentha, and
Denny. * Agnes Leyne left by her husband. attempted to drain the Lough, while the work | 1bth and last “Palatine Barl of Desmond, wife of Themas, sixteenth Baron of Kerry,
Thomas Day (who was not of Judge Day's was proceeding was killed y a fall from his Lilled at Glounageentha, near Tralee, on the who sleeps in Ardfert Cathedral. ' The oy.
family, but descended from an oficer in the horse, and the death was attributed by the | 11tn of November, 1583, a daughter, nals suy that heg son Patrick, 17th Baron of
Elizabethan army settled m Kerry in 1600-40) peasantry to the ghost of Desmond, angered IX Lady Margaret FitzGerald, called Kerry, grandfathey of A

lacGillacuddy's wife,
“Margarel the Fair,” who married the six- arvested Donnell Moriarty in 1599, Whe had
iteenth Baron of Kerry, the here of a roman- led the luglish soldiers and Kelly to Glouna.

surviving issue, a son. Maurice, md. Miss by the intvusion on his lake girdled fortress.
Mellon, rand-danghter of the 1st Lord Ven- Earl Gerald, as well as his Butler wife, was
try, and had issue, and two daughters, Agnes, the relative of Edward the First, for his

E : tic, but true story, illustrating the strensth geentha, where his uncle, the old arl jel)
wife of ldeadr Bulkely, Fsq., of Manchester, g}'ﬂJld!lTUUlf-l'. Margaret De Burgh, wife of | wf fosterage ties ﬁl aticient Irgla,nd, He gis and that the Morviarties \\"erc then so "sth-né
and Cherry, wife of Thos, Whitton, B.L. of Thomas FitzMauriee FitzGerald, father of suid by the annalists to have bean the hand. and mignty a clan in Kerry;”. the Razor
Spring Lodge Fawley, Hampshire. Maurice VitzGervald, created Rarl of Dezmond | 1

‘#0TRest, man of his time, and of such strength could not get any one to haiig him, “‘inse
<f arm that a few months before his death, much that he was forced to put the halter
4t the age of cighty-eight, he used a bow in round his neck with his owne hands, and
war and the chase that only three men in hang him at the gate of Lixnawe.”

Kerry were strong cenough to bend. He died  16. Richard, the eldesh son of Francis

15. " Richard, the 2nd son of Comneliug and in 1329, “Margaret, the King's cousin.”
Catherine, was born 30th May, 1750. He m. This Charter confirming to her and to her .
Arabella Mulline, dan. of Themas, the first husband the lands of Decies and Desmond was
#lmdi Ventry. dln 1793 he was High Shepift %Il'illllf‘d by K‘EL% John to his (Thmuntﬂ Tita-
ac Kerry, “and his brother, Fusebiu was Maurice FitzGerald) great grandinther, t Lixnaw Court in 1530, and was laid to MeGill reuddy. by Catherine Mahony
uader Sheriff. He died 8.p- 19 Nov., 1826, Thos. TitzAnthony, By Lady Ellen Butler, fu;; ];; k;he (;::"kf 0} l]?igsnh’n;nsftapks i:‘dthg born 1} .lmz.,jll’fg)é. He m. l.qt.l_\',1 gj era:s

Richard, the second son of Cornelius  ghe Karl Gerald, who was Viceray in 1367, loft ‘Cathadral of Avdfert. Colonel Zouch, who 1814, Margaret, only dau. of Jas Bennett
I\-Iq.cGl!l.'-ymdd_\', by his wife, Catherine, he- a younger son who ultimately succeeded : commanded a garrison in Ardfert Abbey, re- M.D, of Cork, by Dorothea St Leger. B_;'
came heir by swvival to his father in 1787. as : ¢ ‘fusing to permit him to be buried there, her, who d, 2 Feb., 1849, he had issne :

He md. the Hon. Arabella De Moleyns, dau. V. Jumes, seventh Farl of Desmond. He Wheze all the Bavons of Kerry, including th a. Richard b. and d. 181

of Lard Ventry, by whom he had no isgue. immensely increased the great estates of his foﬁ“([e,..“]md‘}_w;:l i;';rgfdl {(:-?ﬁ‘;'pt:h, 13dt:};lgm? b. Francie, b. 25 Dec., lglﬂ, d. unm.
Fe was High Sheidf of Kerry in 1793, and family in Kerry, Cork, Waterford, Limerick tury. He was succeeded by him som 1841, :
@ Deputy Lieutenant of the County, and and Tipperary.” The fame of his wealth and ! X.  Pawick, 17th Baron of Ket He ¢. Jas., b. and d. 1822,

dying in 1826 was sacceeded by his nephew power spread’ all over Europe, and in 1440 he | g

x i s h P s Mary d. bert, b. 29 D .y 1823, d. .,
(s0n of Franeis MacGillacuddy, " above men- was addressed by the Tlorentine Republie ,:n‘gr fgli;?l:::-i.atut;i?el‘:tgﬁlﬁ;{oqf“ls::d In!lxi “I:f'3451 % il s
tioned. by Catherine Mahony, of Dromore as one of “the right noble and antique stock . Wend into rebellion in 1509 ; bwnt his Castle ¢. Arabella, b, 15 Nov., 1817, d. unm.
Cui-::’t,!eg. e, » of ]tlm U'thﬂmd;‘mmfl'Stmf o:]w ofS the hig-hf?t.‘ of Beale to prevent its h-ein'g occupied by the 1844, ?
cvebard  the  MacGillacud Y was High and greatest families o that State.* ) Firierlis o ; : ief & f. Martha Mari . 23 Nov. ¢

Sheriff of Kesry in 1826, and D.L. of b%e was sponsor with the Earl of Ormond to eoglish, and iy said to have did 8¢ atiel ‘4t B i geann by %3 Noy A

' Wi 4 seeing L i i ds. i unm., 1820.
oo wied it 1866. He was futher by Iis Ueorge, Duke of Clanence, xon of fhe bule Sk o't Dimon artle: the 1o oty . g gy IR0 Mar., 1626, m. 29
second wife of Denis Charles the Mac(illa- of 101'k..lmr[1 in. Dublin Castle in 1449, and his son-in-law. Donnell O’S:nll'ivain Mo e Junie,
ctddy. and his brother, John MacGillacuddy, left by his wife, Mary De Burgh, daughter of the 12th of August, 1600, and he was R 1847, to W Leader, of Rowmalie, Cork, hay-
H“‘i" ”‘[ heir dfeaé."euqufrqm Edj}"f']"j the Rinst E’i}c,[}orﬂ of C‘.‘?‘“ ?mhk“gii “I’;t‘h t'“"; 'IE‘“E}" in the tomb of his aunt’s husband, MacCarthy g issue Wi, Nicholus Francis H. Mow-
and Llepor o astille is as follows ;— s Honora, wife of the 8th Baron o {erry,. Mor, Bar st in Mu¢- bray, Dora Margwret, Margaret.

L iho Lady Llizabeth Plantagenet, daugh-- and Joan, wife of the 70t Fam ny Kilda v, . Aty pocar: sill to be seen in Muc- bray, ora Marguet, und Margaret

tor ot ety ; ) . | . Tuss Abbey. By Joan, daughter of David, This Richard MeGillycuddy mm, 2ndily, 6
v oot that Ring and his said wife, mairied a son. . _ Lord Fermoy, of Castletown Roche and Glan. Nov., 1849, Anna, youngest dau, of "John
Humphrey De Bohem, Fayl of Hereford, and VL ']humnf.ﬂgh Earl of Desmand, {cmn_der worth Castle, he loft with other issue, a Johustone J.P., of Mainstone Court, Here-
had ! of the FEeclesiastical College ot Yoanghal ¢ ¢ : s fordshive, who was descended through the
IL Lady Elenor De Rohem, who married (subsequently owned by Raleigh) who. hy his X1, Joan, wife of Donnell O’Sullivan Mor, Marquis of Annandale from King %rﬂm
James, 1st Farl of Ormond, and had wife, the daughter of Barry, Yiscount Butle-- who left at his death in 1632 by her with Bruce. My, Johnstone’s wife, only child of
L. James, second Earl of Ormond, Liord vant, left, with other issue. a dan, Catherine, other issue, a danghter, Rev. John Hutten, was of an ancient Saxon
Justice of Ireland, md. the daughter of Sir wife of MacCarthy Reagh (owners of the £ XII. Mary 0=suﬁiva.n, md. in 1641 Colonel family which claimed a toyal descent
Joha Darcy, Lord Justice of Ireland, and famous Book of Lismore, found in a wall | .Dorm’gh‘Ma'c'Gilhcuddy. 2]  through the line of Plantagenef. By this
had - of Lismore Castle taken down in 1811, and @ eE Mactiillacuddy” and hie brothers and Annu, Richard had issge
IV. Lady Ellen Butler, who married by preserved there atill, with the ancient crosiee § isters and their cousing german, Mr. Agnew Richard Patiick
command of the King, Gerald, fourth Fal of of 8t. Mochuda, the patron saint of the B infapts 2 Mis Graham, of Q-omm-é‘ near Done- - Denig Chadles, b. 14 May, 1852,
Desmond. He was the most remarkable man MacGillacuddys, from whom their name is nd Mis. Smith. being all seventh in - John, b. 20 Mar., 1885,
perhaps of all his race, though not after the derived), a younger son, ‘ from AMary O°Sullivan, are therefore - Charles b. 8 Nov., 1857,
ieteenth in direct descent from Kdward the - Neill, b. 22 July, 1860
t, and their granduncles, Danjel and Agnes b. 3 Sept., 1853,

mEEs e




 Anna Catherine, b. 20 July, 1856.
'E. Mary Ruth, b. 6 Feb,, 1859
i. Sylvia Emily, b. 10 Dec., 1861.
. Inez [ileen, L. and d., 1864.

This Richard McGillycuddy, of Banecluone
or Whitefield, succecded in 1826 to
{amily estates. which he improved and added
le held the advoweons of the rectory

1o,

of Sutton S. Nicholis, Hereford, and the
parpetual curacy of Miltown, Kerry. He
was J.P., 1815; High Sheriff, 1824, and
1.L., 1832. He d. & Jan., 1866, and was

interrod in family vsult at Knockane. A
wemorial window placed in Knockane Church
by his friends and tenantry, and a tablet
by his widow. He posseseed the following
wwnlands : In Killaney division : Axdlaghas
E. and W., Ardra, Alohart, Coolcummisk,
Carhoonahone, IXstmacrotty. Bunbennie,
Droumlusky, Meanus 1. and W., Coolgarrive
Aghalibeg, Knocknasartnet, Cleeny, Cahiv-
crohane Banecluone, Upper Whitefield, Cool-
roe.

In Caherciveen: Ahane, Cockowe. Cappa-
ghelarig, Cappaghmore,  Cappantanavally,
Cloon, Coolnagreeena, (.‘Iouﬁh-fune, Curragh-
tlugh, Blacketones, Droumdury. Droumsta-
bula, Coumletragh, Gortrelig, Gortnagown.
More and Beg. Gounlnacappy, Anlough, 1.
and W., Shanary Lr. and 'Fl'._. Shanacashill.

In Dingle division: Ballinagrown Bally-
cullane. Cahireruthera, Cahirpierce, FEast
Glantanes, West Glantanes, Killeenagh, and
Hathduff.

. 17. Richard Patrick, eldest son  of
Richard MeUillveuddy. by his second wife,
was born 15 July, 1850

18. Denis  Donough Charles © MeGilly-
cuddy, eldest surviving son of Richard Put-
riek, who d. 1866. was born 1852 m. 1881
Gertrude Lanra, youngest dau. of E. H. Mil-
ler, of Ringwocd. Passaic Co., New Jersey,
U.8.A., Dhaving issue.

19. Ress RKinloch MeGillyeuddy son of
ilenis 1. . Me(x. and Gertrode, was born
18824, m. 1808. Helen Grace, youugest dau
of the late Fdward Courage., Esq.. of Shen-
field Place, Kssex. lle has been Lient.
R.H.A; Tieut. R.I. Drageon Uunends. He
has iseue & son, John Patrick, b, 1909,

The M.8.8. History of Kerry vefers to
this branch of the O'Sullivans, thus:—

1st. The aforesaid Giollamueoda, O'Sulli-
van More gave his grandson by name (iiol-
lamucodda.

The ancestor of the Macguillveuddys had
near upon the third part of the aforesaid
wtate.  (See The Me(Gfivenddy Papers. by
W. M. Brudy, Londan, Longmans, 1867,
fulio, pp 210). T refer to (FSullivan’s re
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eords if there was any chief rent due of said

family as was of all the other families that
had afterwards their estates out of his house,
some more and some lesa, T pefer to said re-
eords. But that of McGillecuddy was for-

the merly under am obligation to furnish 0'Sul-

Yivan with 700 effective men on all occasions,
offensive op defenszive. This family ave still
of geod note for generosity and manhood.
They built the castle called Castleanauenrig.
near the river Leane, which was their man-
gion honse, as also was Coarkabegg. Of this
family was the brave Buigadier Daniel Me-
Giollacuddv, much noted for courage and
conduct, killed at Athlone in King Jamea
the 2nd’s war. and several other brave offi-

eers of inferior ranks, who behaved well at &

Aughrim, ete., where many of them were
lost, The most of the said family, till Ceom-

well's time, called themselves Sullivans, but §

the head of the family etill called them-
selves MeGiollacuddy.

of them called
loarned Dr. Florence 'Sullivan (1665-1731).

who made some new foundations in the Trish .

College of Louvain, then their president, and
predecessor to the present Dr. Kent. The
said Dr. ’Sullivan_was otherwise called and
known by the name of Finine an Duna, a
name his family got, as his ancestor that first,
got that mame was horn at Dunkieron.
(Florence and hiz uncle John of Lowuvin,
were born at Dunkerron). Of this family is

Dr. Detmod O'Sullivan, Professor of Phy- |

sick, lately in Ostend, now in Bruges. under
Lientenant Florence O’Sullivan of Cdlonel
Rut’s vegiment. i

In 1595 the lands of the MacGillveuddys
were in three detached portions. The first
extended from the Laune to the summit of
the Reeks and from near Dunloe to where
the Cottoner's rviver joins the Laune. The
¢ eond portion, called Bordonine, ran fron:
Sneem to Cahevdaniel. and inland 1o the
mountains which divide Dunkerron
Tveragh,

glaraps ;
pnd  Letter.  MacGillycuddy naid
vearly to MacCarthy Mor, £27 5s. 4d.
also paid a chief rent to the Knight of Kerry,
the Farl of Desmound, and O'Sullivan Mor.
There is no account of the descendants. of
the three vounger sons, the nephew,
hrother. or the cousin-german of (lolonel
Nonogh Mace (Gillacudd v (the husband. of Mary
’Sullivan), who ave all mentioned in his will
of the 11th of April. 1695, proved in 1702.
But of John MacGillacuddy, eldest son ot

Since that time most §
themselves Me(Giollacuddy,
but such as goes abroad. as the Revd. and

from §
The third portion was in Kilmaire |
or Kenmare parish. and was called Cahiro- §
it included the townlands of Caher §
dnes |

He ©

the
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Wornelius  MacGillacuddy, of Gortnescarry,
whu ix the fourth last in the entail, we have
accounts which must now be giveu. Connor
MacOwen Gillacuddy (Connor, op Conogher,
beimng the lvish equivalent of Cornelius) mar-
ried with Honora Carew, 13th May, 1670. By
the marriage eettlements Colonel Donogh Mage
tilluenddy ™ binds himselt to “‘assign, give,
grant and confivm unto the said Connor Mae
Owen Gillacnddy. on his marringe with the
said Honora Carvew, and to their heirs law-
fully begotten, for ever” the lands of Gort-
nescarry and Muleaha, “reserving only unwe
him, the said Donogh Mac@illacnddy. and his
heirs for ever, the ysarly vent of £1 10s. ster-
ling.”” Half a plowland of Gortnescmry was
ito remain in the hands of Mary Muahony, the
mother of the said Connor, and a plowland of
‘Uortnescarry and Muleaha was to he given as
Jomture  to Honora Carew for life, whose
marriage portion in the hande of Sir Arthur
Denny, probably her guardian, wus to be one
hundred and fifty pounds (a sum equal to
sabout a thousand ufmn‘ present day money)
and all sums due to her on bonds, wortgages,
te. There is a further clause in the setile-
ments. that Connor and Honora, ‘fif they
HOR tlu_nke fitt,” may remain after their mar-
Tlage in the house of Colonel Donogh Mac-
Gillacuddy “‘one year, or two years, or more.”

. The relationship between Colonel Donogh, the

lessor  (husband of Mary O'Sullivan), and
'(-:-on)mr MacOwen Gillacuddy, the lessee of
Govtnescarry  and Muleaha, husband  of
Honora Carvew, is not, disclosed in the settle-
‘ments of 1670, nor in the will of 1695, nor in
any other docnment; but it was evidently
eonsiderad in Kerry a near one. Tt is now im-
possible to discover to which particular branch
of the ancient, and honourable Carew (ovigin-
ally Geraldine] stock Honora Cavew helonged.
. The name appears amongst the transplanted
insurgents. whose lande wera confiscated in
1640. A ““List of Papist Proprietors’ Names,
veturned in the Civil Survey of Kerry, 27th
January, 1656,” preserved in the Dublin Pub.
lic Racard Ofice, contains those of Walter
Carew and Richard Carew. One or other of
those gentlemen seems 10 have been the father
of Hanorn Carew. wife of Cornelius MacOwen
‘Gillzcuddy, of Gartnascarry, in 1670, and both
seem to have been for some time in the 17th
ocnpury goverrors of Roes Castle, Killarney,
for in'a latter from Tord Herbert. of Castle
Island and Cherbury (dated Febrnary, 1647,
London). to the BEirl of Essex, Viceroy at
Dublin, he nrges the necessity of garrisoning
‘that castle. adding—If yowr Fxcellency will
£ive me the encouragement of a troop and
zome proper svipend for the Governor, ae it

has been in former times, as T am informed
by the Carews, who have governed there I
shonld take it for an honourable employ and
a convenience to do myself some good,” (Essex
Papers, vol. 1, p. 176). Hanora Carvew had,
by her husband, Connor MacGillacuddy, of
Gortnascarry, and Muleaha, the four sons,
Jolin, Cornelius, Owen, and Teigue, all namwrl
in the entail of the will of their cousin,
Colonel Donogh The MacGillacuddy of 1695,
Nothing is known of the descendants, if any
there weve, of the three last mentioned sons,
but their eldest brother, John, succoeded Lis
father at Gortnascarry. le had a mnarrow
escape of losing it in 1694, as appears by a
letter from Cornelius, eldest son of Colonel
Donogh, dated Dublin, 13th of October, of
that year, to his fatheyr then at Whitefield,
in which he says, “T am sorry that Cornelins
MacChwen's son of Gortnascarry, was not here
to pass his adjudication, for he was posted
up, but I will have him struck cat if I ean
until the next day of hearing again.” Per-
sonal attendance m Dublin of those seek-
ing to be adjudged with the Articles of
Limerigk was evidently necessary, and if they
failed to appear they were likely to be posted
as excluded from the benefit of those Articles.
We may suppose, however, that Colanel
Cornelius  Mac(iillacuddy was able to fulfl
his good intention of saving his kinsmen's
land, since he, John, and ﬁis father wee,
according to Colonel Dunogh's will of 1656,
still at Gortnascarry in that year. John Mae-
Gillacuddy marri a  kinswoman. Helen
O'Sullivan, as appears by a certified copy of
a memorial in the Office of Registry of Deeds,
Dublin. 1t is a deed of sale dated April 3id,
1742, by the husband and wife, of the lande,
of Moylecaha, or Muleaha (now written Meel-
caha) to Edward Hevbert of Muckross, the
tenant of that place. still owned in fee by
MacCarthy Mor, who a few vears later be-
came the hushand of Agnes Herbert. Chris-
topher Gallway and Coineling MacGillacuddy,
son of John and Helen MacGillacuddy, of
Gortnascarry, are witnesses to thiz deed,
He was their only son, but had a sister Joan,
who married Thomas Taggard, grandson of
Captain Robert Huggavd, an officer in 1he
army in 1673, as appears by M8S., preserved
in the Dublin Public Record Office. Thomas
Huggard had by Joan MacGillacuddy a san,
grandfather of Stephen Huggavd, 13sq.. Lis-
more [Touse, near 'Ivalee. Cornelius Mac(3i-
lacuddy, only brother of Mis. Thomas Hug-
gard, either sold or forfeited Gorlnascarry,
married & Mies Mahouy, and entered the mili.
tary service of Austria, where he died. leav-
issune a son, Cornelins, who returned to Tre-
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land, and obtained a commission in one of
the British regiments which were disbanded
after 1815, He married a Miss Sugrue, and
hed & son, James Conway MacGillacuddy,
who went to Canada in or about 1842.

. Dennis MacGillyeuddy, of Carhuebeg, m.
in 1717, Ange Iilo-};merhq;mht, having issue :

Dennis, dusp. 1735.
7%;mneli-ua, the MacGillycuddy John, b.
1727.

Philjp, b. 10th February, 1729.

Avis-Catherine,

Elizabeth,

Maxy.

Philip MacGillycuddy, son of Dennis McG.
.'I-;Idw Anne Blennerhassett, was born 10 Feb.,
1729.

tle married, and had issue Charleg MacG.,
who m. Nellie Mac Crohan, of Bugrena, near
Caherciveen.

1. Charles MacGillycuddy m. Nellie MacCro-
han, of Sugrena, Caherciveen.’ They had
inslle 1 —

Owen ;

Jeremiah ;

. lmothy.'

la, Qwen Mac(., son of Charles MacG. and
Nellie MacCrohan, was a Catholic priest at
Killorglin, and is buried in Droumavalla in
tl.l}-bmme tomb as his parents..

Timothy MacG., son of Charles MacG.
He m, Cutherine MacCreohan,

11

Jeremiah MacG., son Charles Mac G. and
Nellie Mae Crohan, m. ®arah Leelie, dau. of
Hon. John Leslie, of Clashcarberry, Kil-
lallagh, his wife being Ann Thompson. They
were first married in the Protestant Church
at Milltown, May 22, 1824, Sarah hecame
w Catholic, and they were re-married 15 Feb-
ruary, 1825, in Killorglin Catholic Ghurch.
They resided at (arahadoo and Farrantoreen,
until the whole family weet to America in

1848.

They had issne:—

oS Cyonleli.us, b, 1825. See later.

b. Flovence, d. unm. He served in the
North during American War, in 12th Maes.,
at Frevicksburg.

¢ Alexander, h 22 February, 1834,

d'John Aloysius, b. 17 Aug., 1828. (Bee
la-lell.

e Charles Leslie, see later.

f James Herbert, b, 17 July, 1831.

g Mary, m. Mannish, and died at Hop
kington, Mass.

h. Katherine died an infant.

The birth records ave in Killorglin Catholic

Church.  Jevemiah settled in Boston, and
became a rich merchant.

Cornelius MacG., son of Jeremiah MacG.,
and Sarah Leslie, m. and left issue :

a James Ade;ud)

b John (dead)

¢ Mary (dead).

d Tlorence, lives at AMarlbo, Mass.. U.B.A.
He is president of the MacGillycuddy
Association 1n America. He m. and has
issue : —Chester ; Kathleen; Charles,

e Frank.

d Sarah, m. W. Flynn, and resides at
Marlbo, Mass. They have issue:—

a Mavy unm,

b Rev. wm. H. Flynn, of Medford.
Mass.

Alexander Mac G., son of Jeremiah Mac G.
and Savah Leslie. lle was at one time pui-
vate secretary to August Belmont, the New
York millionaive. He was m. and left issne:

a James, 7 Plain street, N.Y., has issue
Sarah, Florvence.

b John.

¢ Robert, living at Albany, N.Y.

d Mary (dead).

¢ Willlam. i

John Aloysius Mac G., eon  of Jeremiah
Me(. and Sarah Leslie, died 24 Mar., 1880,
at Detroit Jesuit College, Michigan. He was
a Jesuit priest, and studied at TFlorissant,
Ma, 1850 ; St. Leuis, Mo, 1854 ; Cincinatt O;
8t. Louis Univ., 1860 ;: ordained 1865; pro-
fassoy St. Louis, 1864-6; became Vicar-Gene-
val at Covington, Kentucky, in 1B68; re--
entered Jesuits in 1876, and died at Detroit
College, Michigan, in 1880, :

Charles Leslie Mac G., son of Jeremiah
AMac (3. and Sarah Leslie. He 1esided at-
Charleston, S.C.; entered Southern Army,
and ranked as Lieut.-Col., served 1860-4;

II1. James Herbevt Mac G., son of Jere-
miah Mac (3., and Sarah Leslie.

b 17 July, 1831. :

He went with his parents and the whole of
their family to Boston, U.S.A., in 1848. He
joined the American army, and was Captain
of Mikitia in New York City. He later served
in the American navy until 1854. In that
year he left for the rat goldfields, Vic-
toria, Australia, and eettled in that coun-
try. IHe married in August 11, 1857, Kliza
llose Ann W\ att Carlington, dau. of Richard
Watt Carlington of Ballarat, and his wife
Susan Trenwith,

This Jas. Herbert Mac G. took a promin-
ent part in the Eureka stockade in Ballarat.
He was a membep of the Ballarat and Mel-
howrne Stock Exchange. By his wife Eliza
he had iseue:—
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# James died in infancy.
b John died in infancy.
¢ Mary Gertrude, see later.
« Richard Leslie, unm., lives at Rainhow,
Victoria, Australia,
¢ Blanche lose
{ Sarah Adelaide, died in infancy.
g lidith Kathleen.
All the children were born in Balkarat.
Mary Gertruode m. Capt. Ronald Neate,
R.N., native of Hampshire, Eng.
They had issue, a dan. Enid Blanche.
vianche Rose, m. 1907, Edward Ashford of
lowa, U.S.A., who died in 1508 in Alaska.
They had no issue.
_Edith Kathleen m. 21 Sept., 1898, to Dr.
Kenneth McAdam, of Aamaru, Otugo, New
Zealand, mayor of that city in 1911. They
have issue:
a Kathleen,
b Leslie,
¢ Edith.
d Kenneth, died an infant.
I’.8.—I have to thank, for this informa.
taon, Mre, MacGillycuddy—Ashford, 2 Talbot
House, 98 St. Martin's Lane, London, W.C.

—_—

V. THE O'SULLIVAN OF CUMURIAGH.

The family, Cumurhagh, otherwise called
the family Mac Muirrihirtigg, who had
twenty anI one ploughlands. They were for-
merly a family of good note for hospitality,
their mansion house was Colah: the chiefest
now of whese note of them are eome few
good clergymen (1755).

VI. THE O'SULLIVAN OF CANEAUL
AND GLANARCANE.

The family Caveach and Glanaveane who
had sixteen plough lands and a half, and were
divided into two branches, that is, Cliocht
Philip and Clioet Murirtig, i.v., the descend-
ants of Philip, and the descendants of Mer-
tagh. Their mansion honses were at Caneagh
and Glanavcane. They were a family of good
note for education and manhood. Of the
branch of eaid Caneagh wae the learned and
pious Provineial of the Franciscan Order, who
«uflered martyrdom in the island of Scariff in
the west of the county of Kerry, in Crom-
well's time. (Rev. Francis Dermott 0'Sulli-
van, O.8.F.. guardian oi Avdfert, professor of

theology at Tralee Callege, killed by Colonel
Nelson's soldiers on Scariff Island, Derry-
nane, June 25rd, 1656, and buried in the
graveyard on the eastern side of the islandj.
And of said family was an officer of good note
for great courage and admirable strength, con-
ceried in Sarstield’s Horse, and distinguished
himself greatly at the breach of the Boyne,
where he received such mortal wounds, of
which he died the same night after said
breach. Of said two branches are now somse
good clergymen, and some few that live m
the station of private gentlemen, some in the
county of Kerry, and some near Dublin (1755).

VIL, THE O'SULLIVAN OF CULE-
MAGORT.

The family of Cuolemagort. . I refer 1o
O'Sullivan  More's records, whats other de-
nominations besides the two plough lands of
said Culsmagort this family had, but that
guid Culemagort, unear Dunloe, was their
mansion  house  (Knockane parish), They
were a family generally noted for guod sense
and education. Of them was a young man
who happened to be acquainted with one of
the Lord Kiugstones, who dwcovered said
qualificatton in him, and thereby made him
his agent and receiver, and afterwards having
further trial of his capacity eutrusted him
with most of the management of his estabe,
and conferred beneficial farms on him, where-
by he and his son and grand-childven lived
very happily; and by their alliarnce with
god families a considerable spot of an estate
in Carbry came into their family, but one
of them that ventured too much at sea and
met with a considerable disappointment was
obliged to encumber said estate; his fumily,
which is now the eldest branch of the afore-
eaid Culemagort, to distinguish them from
ather families, and for the good reason they
were in with the said Lord Kingstones, were
generally called Mesers. John, Daniel, and
Franeis Sullivan. Kingstones, instead of call-
ing them from their aforesaid mansion house,
as other families of their name were called
from their ancient liouses, or some othep place
they were concerned or engaged in. Of the
aforesaid family is the worshipful TFrancis
Sullivan, Doctor of Laws, and one of the

Seniors of  the College of  Dublin,
Barrvieter-at-law. There was  another
branch of the aforesaid family

of Culemagort that had a small spot of said
estate. The perzone of chiefest note that T
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knew of them are a gowd clergyman and
physician in Caen in Normandy; another
clergyman in Desmoud in the county of Kerry.
As there was & third branch of this family
that had none of the aforesnid estate that [
could understand, they generally went abroad
to other countries, and of them is a gemtle-
mau of good note in France, as far as I could
find from some persons that pretended to
know that he was of this branch, but as I
hear of late that a fauli]g-' of (’Sullivan Bears
challenges him to be of theivs, I refer this
dispute to be decided by O'Sullivan More, to
whom it must be best known; but as this
gentleman of note was son of Mr. Dermod
O’Bullivan that lived formerly in Tralee, and
with whom I was acquainh" . but so remiss
ag not to inquire of what family he was of,
I have uwo move to say than that the said
MeDerwed O'Sullivan and  his father, M.
Joho Sullivan, were gentlemen of honesty,
manners and edueation, and allied of good
families. (1766). At the Supreme Council of
Rilkenny the O'Sallivan sept were represent-
ed by ('Sullivan More of Dunkievan, and
Daniel O'Sullivan of Culmagort.

In 1642, Donn<ll 0'Sullevane ef Culemagort
was party to a mortgage of lands to Donogh
MeGillyenddy.

The quarter of Coolmagort pakd yearly a
enddy or refection. or in lieu thereof four
marks, half-face money, which amounted to
£4 8s. 8d. and two white groats, to Mae
Carthy Mor.

THE ('SULLIVAN OF
CAPIGANINE.

VIIL

The family of Capiganine,. T 1refer to
(’'Sullivan More's wecords. What other de-
nominations they had besides the said Capi-
ganine and Tulﬁ'g Capiganine, their mansion
heuse. They were a family of good note for
generosity and other good qualifications, but
were not populous. and none of them now of
greater note than sume few that live in the
station of private gentlemen (1755).

IX. TIHE 'SULLIVAN OF FERMOYLE
AND BALLYCARNA.

The family of Formoyl and Ballycarna,
likewise referved to in said record ; what other
denominations they had besides the four
ploughlands  of said Formoyl and the fonr
ploughlands of said Ballycarna. (In Act of

“latter by the Magees :—

Settlement, Declaration of Royal Gratitude,
Fermoyle). They built the castle of For-

moyle, and bagan the castle of Ballyei.na, |

a little before Cromwell's time, which they
did not finish. They were a family of good
note fur generosity, manhood, and education.
Of the family of Formoyl was the courage-
ous Captain Owen O'Sullivan, who was
wounded and disabled at the skirmishk of

Ballinekellig, of which there will be a fur-

ther account given in the following dis-
course, epeaking of Cromwell’s wars. Daniel

Garane O'Sullivan, of the branch of Bally-

carna, was an officer of good note in smd

wars, and afterwards in TFrance, and was |

eminent for lemming and poetry.

Of this family of Ballycarna ‘was a young
man that went abrond in the late Queen
Anne’s wars to South America, where he
fixedd himself in the town of Potesi, in Peru,
where he acquived great viches, of which he
mades n renuttance to his friends of seven
hundred pounds, and at another time a pe-
mittance of fifteen hundred pounde, and
intended, as he wrote, to put in Very con-
siderable sumis into eome banks in Furope,
but was taken ill and died befors he accom-
plished his intent, and it is not known to
whom he left his last will, or nominated his
executors; but it is expected that a worthy
clevgyman, the Rev. Dr. Mortough 0'Sulli-
vau, who lately came from said country of
South America to Caviz, in Spain can’ give
an account herveof (1755).

Diermod Me Daniell O'Suollyvane, lived at
Fiarmoile. 12th Qctoher, 1629,

Captain. Dermot. (’Sullivan, of Fermoyle,
did good service for Charles II., and is spe-
cially named for favour.

heobald Magee was the son of the
“Longsword Captain,” by this time famous

in song and story, who married the widow of

Thomas Morzell and the sister of Sir Maurice
Crosbie.  She lives to he the Caplain’s widow
too. The “Kerry Pastoral,” a dialogue be-
tween Muwrrogh (7Connor of  Augnaghraun,
and Owen O'Sullivan, of Reencarran, gives
the history of the wrongs inflicted on the

o i s

“But shall this foreign Captain force from
me i o3

My honse and lande. my weir and fishery ;

Was it for him I these improvements made—

Must his long sword turn out my labourmg

spade ' Lo i
queries poor Owen pluinti;\lv,elly. and o little
purpase, for the foreigner, as Magee was
called in Rerry, prevailed, and his son, Theo-

.

Mg i

——
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bald the conformigt of 1725, died, holding a
long lease of Reencaragh, Portmagee, Agha-
tubrid, Doon, Rahirranc and part of Valen-
bia, which he bequeathed to his nephew,
David Lauder. The conformist also ~ hel
lands in Cork and Ballymore and Ballyough-
teragh, near Dingle. In his will, dated Tth
September, 1745, proved in December of the
same year, he bequeaths his intevest in Bally-
more to Eliza Hussey's son, adding, *I doe
zecommend that he be hred a Protestante.”
His mother seems to have been like all her
family (in Kerry at least) a Protestant; but
in the very year he and his brother George
above mentioned conformed, theipy father died
in the city of Lishon a devoted Romanist. In
his will he divects his body shall be buvied
in the Irish Dominican Convent in Lishon,
and leaves money for hgh and low masses to
be said for his soul. 1le mentions his beloved
wife, Bridget Magee. otherwise Croshie. and
directa that his children “shall not he alterved

- from the Roman Catholic religion,” in which

he says he had them “hrought up.” Neithey
ticorge nor Theobald Magse left any issue,
and the family is long extinct in the femals
dine.

X. . THE OSULLIVAN OF BALLYVIC-
GILLANEULAN,

The family of Ballyviegullanavlaun, other-
wise called the family of Cumenururevart,
meaning & mon of generous aclions, a family
now extinet (1768). On Nowv. 6, 1619, Owen
O'Sullivane, of Ballynegillanevlan, made over
to Coner MeGillyeuddy the lands of Car-
rownehover. Avdshilane, Carvowmive Igh.
tragk ne Kinsallugh, Carrowmire Igtragh,
Igtragh, Glanloghe and Cahivdonnilelerragh.

- On the 7th Sovember, 1634, Owen 0'Swilly-
wane, of Ballymegullynivlane, . in = Kerry,
mortgaged the lands of Killoh and Gurtine
for £20 to Cormocke MceDonnogh Carty, of
the Castle of Karrignimuck, Co. Corek, to
hold ef the chief lord of the fee, by vents
and services of right due.

BI‘? 1642 0“‘6!11 MeOwen O’Sull-e\'a.ne,t of

allvmegillynavia, was party to a mortgage
of lands to MeGillyeuddy. "

In 1595 this family paid, to McCaxthy Mor,
dues from two quarters, 4s. a quarter for
dowgolle, and 4d. a wuarter and two groats
for canebeg. f

X1. THE O'SULLIVAN BEARE.

1. Gilla na bhflan O'Sullivan (9a), second
son of Donel More O'Sullivan, was ancestor

d of the branches of O’Sullivan Beare, Londs of

Bearhaven and Bantry, and O'Sullivan Mac
TFineen duff. Ilis issue were a younger son
(zilla Mochuda O'Sullivan, (2a) from whom
descended O'Sullivan Mac Fineen duff. And
the eldest son,

2. Philip (’Sullivan, who had three sons,
Dunlaing O0'Sullivan, Anad O'Sullivan  (the
heir), and Apaduff O’Sullivan. The latter
had a son Giila Mochuda Mor, who had a
son Owen.

3. Anad O’Sullivan, was
Beare and Bantry.

4. Amhlaffe O’'Sullivan, or
Hardy, .

. ‘liege O’Sullivan, surnamed the strong.

6. Dermod O'Sullivan, Balbh, i.e., the
Stammerer. He had six sons,. Dermod O'Sul-
dvan: Donel O'Sullivan Cron, or the Swarthy,
who was his heir; Philip O'Sullivan, Chief”
of Beare in 1498, who had a son, 'liege
'Sullivaa,. called an caomb, or the Gentle,
slain in 1498: Amblaibh, or Awley O'Sulli-
van; Eughan, or Owen O'Sullivan; and
Conor O'Sullivan.

7. Donel O'Sullivan, Cron, or the Swarthy,
had three sons, Dermod, his heir; Amhlaibh
O'Bullivan, Chief of Beare, succeeded his
hrother in 1549, and died the same year;
and Eochy (’Sullivan, Chief of Beare, de-
posed by the English Council in 1593, died
in 1594,

8. Dermad (FSullivan, an pudara, the
powdered, marvied Julia, or Shela, daughter
of Donel McCarthy Reagh by Lady Elinor
Fitzgerald, his wife. daughter of Gerald, 8th
Earl of Kildave. Dermod's treaty, submis-
sion, etc., with the Lord Deputy, Sir Anthony
St. Leger, dated 20th Sept., 1542, is printed
in the State Papers, temp, Henry VIII.; vol.
3, p. 422, and in the Carew MSS.. p. 196.
He was killed by an explosion of gunpowder
hly which his Castle of Dunboy was destroyed.
He had four sons and a daughter: Donel
Cnocanti; Sir Owen: Philip of Ardea: Der-
mod Bearorum preditum Dux; and Honora.
Honpra, was married  te  Tiege 0'Mahony,
Sheriff of Desmond. and her cousin: see
O’ Mahony's Ped. Milesian, vol 2, P..+.359,
U'lstev’s, Office.

9. Donel O'Sullivan, Cnocanti, so called
from a hill of that name where he fought
a battle. Tle upuears in the Annals of the
Four Masters, 1581, as being then 0’Sullivan
Neare, but he was afterwards deposed, and
his: uncle Fochy elected.  When %ochy was

first Lord of

Awley the
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deposed in 1593, Donel was restoved by the
deaision of the Council of England. See Four
Masters, 1694. This Donel Cnocanti mar-
risd Margaret or Sarah, daughter of S
Daniel O'Brien, Knight of Inistimon, second
son of Connor, Prince of Thomond, by Slany
his wife, daughter of Murrough, 1st Earl of
Thomond. They had issue a son, Donal, Cam.

10. Donal O’Bullivan, Cam, the celebrated
O'Sullivan Beare, who, after his unequal
struggle with the Fnglish forces in the
South, fled an exile into Spain, where he had
a pension, 300 gold pieces per month, from
the King of Spain, who created him Count
of Dunboy and Knight of St. Tago. He yas
assassinated by an Englishman named Bath,
who had been on terms of intimacy with him,
on account of a private pique, on the 16th
July, 1608, in the 57th year of his age. Donal
Cam was marrvied to Honor. daughter of
O'Sullivan  More, brother-in-law to Flovence
MeCarthy Move.  Ree Har. MSS., 1425, MSS.,
in Desmond. She was living in Spain in
16db. They had isswe two sons, Donsl and
Dermod,

11. Donel O'S8ullivan. eldest &on of Donal
Cam, appears from the Har MSR., 1425, to
have been page to the King of Spain, and to

have heen alive in 1619, but
Te must have died ~very soon
after, for Philip O'Sullivan Beare, whose

“Mist. Cathol. Thernice Compend.”” was pub-
lished in 1621 at Lishon. states that he met
hie death, which was cansed by a wound on
the head. not long after he went to Spain.
He was a Knight of St. Tago.

12. Dermod = O’Sullivan, secomd son of
Thenal Cam, was aged two years at his father's
flight into Spain. He was given in charge to
the peasantry of Beare after the discomfiture
of his father: A quibusdam mnobilitas dam
nutritus biennis post in Hispaniam mittitae.”
Hist. Cathol. Ihernice Comp. p. 190. He
was Count of Dunhoy, and was living when
his i:(i.n-sm:m. Philip O0'Sullivan, wrote his
work.

There is a history of the eaid Daniel Caium’s
great conrvage, conduct and brave actions in
the war that ensued. and T doubt not hut one
ef the said histories may be met with in
(’Sulkivan More's library; if not. here is
one passage not to be omitted : As the Earl of
Tuamond. uncle to the said Daniel Canm. and
(veneral to the Queen. could mot bring his
said nephew to eubmit, ordered an invasion
by sen,” which demoralised Dunbaoi, one of
gaid Danisl Caum’s mansion houses, which
the said Daniel resented eo much as to march
with his amall army, mostly by night. to the
county of Clare, where he was revenged at

Bunratte, one of the said Earl's seats.
(Donal Caum retveated in 1602, and Bumratty
was taken by Lord Muskerry in 1646). The
said Daniel's retreat from saitl eounty and
his conduct was remarkabls, being pursued hy
a much euperior army till he came te the
river Shannon, where he found all the boats
secured and taken up from him, upon which
he encamped in the wouds and copices on

the banks of said rviver, wheve he found him-

self sunrounded by the ememy at the ap-
proach of night, upon which he ordered suf-
ficient lamps and lights in the boughs of
trees as meening that he intended maintain-
ing eaid camp and giving battle next day.
In the interim, employed all his men in
ma‘kiugf hobbles or kishes in the sha of
small boats, or ecotts, and got all the horses
in his small camp killed, and said hobbles
covered with their skins, which machines
wepe then and at other times calloed Coorocain,
or Naovoge, by which he got all his men but
very few safe over said river to the great
surprise of his enemy ; but after this and all
his othey brave actions, was obliged to go to
Spain. where he had the creation of Count of
Bearha, and a considerable nsion, con-
ferred on him and his heirs. He lived to a
great age, with the character of a pious and
religions man, in Madrid, where he was at
last murdered by one Jho. Batts, an English-
man, who served him m the natuie of a
servant for about twelve months, and was
supposed to be employed by a certain power
in what he perform Said Daniel Caum'’s
estates were forfeited, but as his unele, Sir
Owen O'Sullivan, was married 4o Barry
More’s  daughter and cne of Sir Olen's
daughters, Calia (Julia or Sheela), married to
the first of the noble family of Browns (Ken-
mars) that came to the kingdom, and had
great eetates in the county of Kewy and
Desmond conferved on him, the said Sip
(hwen, by the interest of the said noble
families, had the estate of Daniel Caum
granled to him. (Sir Nicholas Browne being
prevented of marrving the Earl of Clancar.
tie’s daughter by Flovence MacCartie, for his
belter strength and to maintain  his own
against Donald Mac Cartie, married with Siy
Owen O'Sullivan’s daughter, who before was
contracted  to Florence MacCartie. This
dulin O’Sullivan led the Browne family back
to the Catholic Church and had all her ehil-
dren marvied into Irieh  Catholic families).
It was the said Sir Owen that dismembered
the county of Kerry and Desmond to the
barony of Bear and Bantry, and joined them
to the county of Cork for eome reasons, par-
ticularly as the leading ren of said counties
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would mot grant him the conveniencys of 5. Demmod O'Sullivan, son and heir of
| Hossi in Killarney. (It suited Owen, Lord of Beare and Bantry, O'Sulli-
T s R A van Beare, aged 24 at his father's death.

ish in making Ireland into shire
the. Englishii hanog Jeclapd i Inq. post mort. Died S.P., 25 Nov., 1617.

gmum}).‘ Eni i 3 i 1 y

am not exact of O'Sullivan Bear’s He was maried to Lady Joan Fitzgerald,
eabi?a, or of the families that had their es- dan. of (ierald, 15th Earl of Desmond, :?
tates out of his houses, I shall speak but of Fllinor. Butler, hiz wife, dan. of Fdmund,
few. The offeprings of Daniel Caum are 1lth Lord Dunboyne, |

extinct; and of Bir Owen’s descindants were 4. Donel O bulIn'a.n,, Cron, sncceeded his
the late Count of Berehaven, and his bro- brother Dermod as O’Sullivan Beare, 1617.
ther, Colemel Owen, e¢tc., in Bpain. (See He was then aged 18. He married Anne, dau.
History of O’Bullivans of Ardea by T. C. of Sir Themas Browne, Knt. of Hoepital (by,
Amory, Cambridge, U.B.A. 1893, containing Mary his wife, dau. and heir of Capt. Wil-
Burke’s pedigree of (’Sullivan Beare. Also lam Apsley and Annabella, his wife, dangh-
T. D. Sullivan’s, Bantry, Berehaven, and ter of John Brown, Master of Awney), and
the O'Sullivan sept., Dublin, 1908). niece of Sir Nicholas Browne, Knt. of Mo-

1. Sir Owen O'8ullivan, brother to Donel lahiffe, ancestor of the Iarl of Kenmare.
Cnocanti, and second son of Dermod an This Donel Cron in 1632 promised the Lord
pudara (8), was chosen as O'Sullivan Beare DPresident to defend his castle against the
by the Fnglish, in the reign of Queen Liliza- Algerines, who about that time made some
beth. On the division of O'Sullivan’s lands piratical descents on that coast. IHe joined
he was granted Dunhoy Castle and Beare- the Rebellion of 1641, at the head of about
haven. Ele €at in the "Parliament held by 600 mexn, and was attainted, 2 Aug., 164—
the Lord Deputy, Sir John Pervott, 1685, ax  Don Philip O'Sullivan, the historian, was
“[oghan, son of Dermod, son of Donel eldest of four children, two sons  and  two
O'Sullivan Beare.” e had a grant of his daughters, of Dermod 0’Sullivan, fourth som
lauds, Queen’s letter, 1587. He married of Dermod O'Sullivan an pudara, and bro-
Helena Barry, livin 1617, daughter of ther to Donel Cnocanti, \?u- Owen, and
James, Lord Barry, Fitz Richard Barry Roe, Philip of Ardea. Dermod O'Sullivan, styled

Ellen his wife, daughter of Cormac na by his son “‘Bearorum preditum Dux,” the
hory MeCarthy Reagh, and sister of David, Leader of the Kerne of Beave, marvied Joan
1st " Viscount Bubtevant. They had issue McSweeney; he went to Spain, where he had
five sons and two dau.: Owen the heir; John a pension of 50 gold pieces per month from
0'Sullivan, who maivied Ellen, dau. of Der- the King of Spain. Of his issue, one was a
mot O'Sullivan More ; Donel O'Snllivan. whe nun in Spain; another was named Leona; a
married Mary, dau. of Sir Cormac Me Tiege, son, Donel, was slain in battle with the
Knt. of Muskerry; Gillycuddy O'Sullivau, Turks; and Don Philip was living in 1632,
whose son was Conor, whose gon was Philip; See his work, p. 1626; and translation of
Tiege ('Sullivan, Capt. in the Low Counu- same by Mr. M. J. Byrne, of Listowel.
tries, Harl, MSS., 1425; Julia or Shela, wife ~ Don Philip 0'Sullivan DBeare,
of Sir Nicholas Browne, Knt. of Molahiffe; nnder Flizaheth. ’I"mn.-s]ated shy s Me 1.
Honora wife of 8Sir Thomas, son of Sir John Byrne, with a memoir of 0’S8ullivan, Dubkhn,
FitzGerald, of Iniskilly. . 1903, 8vo., pp. 212.

2. Owen ('Sullivan, eldest son of Sir  Arms: Per pale sa. and ar. a fess betw.
Owen, according to Carew's Pacala FHiber- in chief a boar pass, and in base® another
nia, p. 293, was flourishing in 1612. He was counterpass. all counter changed, armed,
O’Suilimn Beare and Lord of Bantry in hoofed, and bristled or. Crest: On a lizard
16156. He had a regrant of Dunboy, Anno 9 vert a vobin redbreast, ppr. A
James I.  He died at Beare Haven, 31 Zug- T. D. Sullivan’s poem Dunboy, Dublin,
ust, 1616. Inq. post mort. ITe was marvied 1861, give an account of the destruction of
to Helena, dan. of Sir Cormac McCarthy, this stronghold by Carew. See also his ac-
Knt. of Muskerry, by Jane, his wife. dau. of count of the O'Sullivans of Beare, 1908.
Pierce Butler of Gregolt. She survived her
husband. They had issne four sons and five

daughters: Dermod ; Donel: Owen; Philip
of Leganbeg, who m. Ellen, dau. of Mc Teige
MeCarthy, was attainted 2 Aug., 1641, and
was living 16 Dec., 1674, Bib. Stowe,
vol, 1, letter 101 ; Iillen;
Catherine ; Honora.

XII. THI ;LAC FININE DUB

O’'SULLIVAN.

Mac Finine duv, before said Sir Owen’s
time, had his estate of near third part te

256,
Slaney;: Julia:




O’Sullivan Bear's.

This family was of good note for gene-
rosity and “manhood, the chief of them is
much spoken of for his behaviour along wikh
the said Daniel Caum, being the only man
he confided in time of most desperacy and
emergency. (The descendant of the DMac-
Finneen Duff, Mre. Peter MacSweeney, only
recently removed from the shore of Glenmore
Lake, in the vicinity of that chieftain’s
home. Windle). In the graveyurd at Kil-
makiloge is buried McFinin Duffe, who died
Sept. 1, 1809, aged 55 years. g

June 8. Twenly quarters of @'SBullivan
Beare's lands ave allotted to cousins and
kinsmen as their shares, of old ancient cus-
tom, to live upon, as the irsues descended
of Fyayn Duff O'Sullivan, Lawrence O’Sul-
livan, and such like.

In ““T'he Two Chiefs of Dunboy,” by J. A.
Froude, Lon., 1889, Bvo. pp. 456, we are in-
troduced to Morty Oge O’Sullivan, the
Trench trader, and Sylvester 0'Sullivan the
Scholar. The period is 1750-60. There is an
account of the MacFinnan Dhuv O'Sullivans,
and the state of the Kenmare district at that
period and the burial of Mac Finnan at Kil-
makilloge.

When Sir William DPetty obtained grantis
of land in Desmond, the country was covered
with forest. A squirrel could run from
(lanmore to Glantrasna, and never touch
the earth. Petty brought hundreds of
strangers, [nglish, Scotch, French, Flem-
ings. all sorts, to make a profit out of hie
grunts. [le had settlements at Kenmare,
Tveragh, Blackwater, and Kilmakilloge. He
made a harbour at Buno, and had fish houses
at Colorus. He set up smelting furnaces to
melt the copper orve. Ile had a cod and her-
ring fishery, a ship and boat yard, and Ken-
mare harbour was full of vessels coming and

ving.

. ‘.\'%wn Sir William Petty died, his son
went to Fngland. The English eolony de-
clined. The Puritans were treated harshly
hy the Protestants, and their chapels and
schaols were closed. Most of the colonists
went away, and left nothing but their mill
walls and watercourses behind.

The Mac Finnan Pnu was put back by
Pelty's son. into the old home. with the
lease fur thiee lives. The old Mac TFinnan,
that had the lease first, was shot at Mallow
races. Ihs successor did not live very long.
Then came Mac Finnan Dhu of 1760-60. The
Petiy family had no desire to plant wheat,
on Knockatee, or make a deep park in Glen-
yaetel and Qlenatrasna: so  the Sullivans
were left the rocks and hogs of Kilmakilloge.

The Sullivans came home again, and no con-
stable Tor excise man came to trouble them
in Tuoaist. There was not a bay in Ireland
where more wool had been rum out of, and
niore brandy and claret run in, nor where
the Prench recruiting officers found betier
entertasnment. The heir to the great Petfy
estates was now Lord FitzMaurice, the son of
Sir William Petty's daughter. While Fita-
Maurice was in command at Ross Castle the
duly paid on the brandy and claret con-
sumed in Kerry was very inconsiderable;
and he had the infurmer,” Sylvester O’Sulli-
van the Scholar, set in the stocks as a vaga-
bond, and whipped out of the town of Kil-
larney.

The old church of Kilmakilloge, where the
(’Sullivans are buried, stands on & grassy
hill above the harbour, at the further ex-
tremity of which a deep dark valley leads up
into the hollow of Glanmore. At this old
church the O'Sullivans of the Glen heard
Mass while they lived, and were gathered
to their fathexs when they died. The Re-
formation abolished the Mass, the windows
fell in and the doors fell off ; and after many
vears Sir William Petty’s colony repaised
the church. But the Bishop turned out the
Puritans, and gave the advowson to the
parson at Tralee. The church was de-
serted again, and wind and '\ven.t.her is
washing away the traces of heretical profana-
tion. The vault of the O'Sullivans alone
remained sacved from disturbance.

The last chief of the Mac Fineen Duff was
the nephew of (leneral Richard O’anovap,
of Bownlahan, Co. Cok, who died in
piy ic on Thomas Butler, Tomas

In the panegyric on Thomas Butler,

Dub, ’thepb-ent&;ly Tarl of Ormonde. 1532-1641,
written by Fogan Mac Crait, are the follow-
ing verses:—

ftapless it was for the Clan Carthy, |

That he spent one day in Ibh-Laeghaire;

He stormed, demolished, and burned

Tunlo, the fiery, famed of old for heroes.

After his vielt to Tbh-Rathach. .

Shepherds were left in want of employ-

ment ; i}
In the house of O'Glavin he took up his
quarters,
A fact hitherto unrecorded.

XL THIS O'SUTLIVAN OF ARDEA.
This is a branch of the O’Sullivan Beare
family. It commences with Philip 0’Sulli-
van of Ardea, in the parish of Tucsist,
Kerrv. He was the third son of Dern
(’Sullivan, an pudara, O'Sullivan Beara,
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killed by an explosion of gunpowder at the
castle of Dunboy in 1549. Philip’s eldest
brother was Donal Cnocanti, father of Donal
Cam, the exile, killed in 1608. Philip’s
second brother was Sir Owen 0’Sullivan, who
was granted Beare in 1587, Phi.li]l.;s younger
brother was Desmond, father of Don IMilip
U’Sullivan, the histoman. As Philip was
tanist to his brother, Sir Owen O'Sullivan
Beare, he held the Castle of Ardea.

1593. Apr. 11. The Lord Chief Justice of
England recommends that, at the partition of
Beare and Bantry, one Philip 0O'Sullivan,
tanist, of Ardea, should be provided for as
he may prove a dangerous man, as he hath
been heretofore.

1587, June 8. There is a fourth castle of
O’Sullivan Beare's, called Ardea, which is
the manor, or house allotted ever for the
Tanist for the time being, and is now in pos-
sesgion of Philip O0’Sullivan, tanist and bro-
ther to Sir Owen; but there was never eeen
a castle allotted to any other of the name.

Philip held the castle of Ardea in the terri-
tory of Mac Fineen duff, as appertaining to
the tanistry. Ped. Harl. M.S8, He died in
1606. Milesian, vol. 3, p. 206, Ulster's Office.
He was married to Honora, dau. of Cormac
McCarthy of Duhallow, and sister of Donough.
They had four sons and two daughters:
Derinod 0'Sullivan of Ballygibbon; Donel of
Arden castle; Philip; Owen O'Sullivan of
Dromcharion ; Ellen, wife of Donel McSwee-
ney, a fugitive in Spain, Harl. M.SS 1429 ;
Julia or Shela. In 1613, Noy. 19, Donell itz
Philip O’Bwylivan _petitioned the Lord De-
puty for a copy of his 1593 title to the castle,
town, and lands of Ardea in Beare. A copy
was delivered to petitioner.

2. Donel O'Sullivan of Ardea Castle, son of
Philip, married Ellen, dau. of O'Sullivan
More, and had issue a son Philip. ‘

5. Philip O’Sullivan of Ardea Castle was
attainted and forfeited in 1641. He married
Hanoria  McCarthy dau. to Charles, Lord
Muskerry. The Act of Aug. 12, 1652, banished
all the Catholic nobility. y

4. Donnel O’Sullivan, m. Ellen O'Sullivan,
dau. to Daniel O’Sullivan More, by Mary
Anne Fitzgerald, dau. to the Farl of Kildave,
and grand-dau, to the Earl of Antrim.

5. Owen O’Sullivan married Mary Mac-
Sweeney, dau. to Col. Owen McSweeney of
Muskerry, the Constable of Munster, who
fostered him.

6. Major Philip 0’Sullivan married Johan-
nah Mac Carthy. dau. of Dermod McCarthy of
Killowen, by Ellen dau. of Timothy Mac
Carthy of Donglaven, and grand dau. to Lord
Mauskery. They left Dermod and Owen (or
John) who went to America. and his son,

John, was a General, who steunck the first
blow for American Independence.

7. Dermod O'Sullivan marvied Aileen Mae-
Cavthy Mac Finnen of Ardtully. e was the
lust who held Ardea, after the survey of Sir
Wm, Petty. ke got the lands of Clounee,
but after a time a rent was placed on it.

8. Daniel OSullivan married ILlizabeth
OSullivan, dau. to Silvester O’Sullivan Mac
Finnen Duff of Dereen, Tuosist, by Elizabeth
O'Donoyan, dau. to 0'Donovan of Banelahan
by FEllen Fitzgerald, Knight of Keiry. They
had issue, Philip ; John ; Daniel ; and Kerry.

9. Philip O’Sullivan married Anne 0’Snl-
livan, dau. to Daniel O’Sullivan of (lanencha-
quin, Tuosist, who was of the Bunane family.
They had issue, Daniel ; Philip, who left three
daughters, who held Clounee, where is the
house of f’hi]i‘). and where Dermed (7) died ;
Owen; Rev. Morty O'Sullivan, late I.P., of
Lisselton.

10.  Daniel O0'Sullivan married Mary Des,
sister to the Revds, John and Michael Dee.
He is buried in the family tomb in Kilmakil-
loge, two roiles from Axdea, in Tuosist parish.
‘I'ne grounds round Ardea Castle ave being
mpidi\- warn away by the sea.

11. "~ Mortimer Dan Philip O'Sullivan mar-
ried lilizabeth, dau. of Daniel O’Sullivan by
Elizabeth McCarthy, dau. to Capt. Felix Mac
Carthy of Kilgarvan. In 1876 Mortimer held
the patent of James I., which belonged to
Daniel Caum. and was handed over to his
uncle, Sir Philip belore Daniel went to Spain.
There is also a seal of Sip Philip’s given to
him by James I. Mortimer says his younger
brothers, Dan and John, went to America,
The daughter of Mortimer, Miss Lizzie M.
O'Sullivan, lived at Gortroe, Killarney, im
1892,

‘I'he family of Avdea, the first of them by
name Philip, was brother to the ('Sullivan

Bear, called Donall Cnpcanty, and to the said

Sir Owen, and had but thivteen and a half
plough lands, but had, in addition, £300 more
per annum and the yearly tribute of £190
that  was due to O’Sullivan Bear of the -
Spaniavds, at the time of their great trading
with the west of lueland, for anchorage, port
charges. and other privileges in the port of
Dunbaoi; the agreements with the Spaniazds
for such yearly tribute to be seen with the
family of Ardea, under hands and seals. The
were a fa.milg of good note for generosity ang
hospitality, but had the esiate of said Bunane
conferred on them by McCarthy Move by ob-
serving well Yo him. (See History of 0'Sulli-
vans of Avdea, by T. C. Amory, Cambridge,
US.A,, 1893, with letters from M. D. P.
O’Sullivan, Kenmare, and Tizzie M. O'Sulli-
van, Gortroe. Killarney, 1832).
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THE CLAN-NA-DEAGHATIDH.

The  Clan-na-Deaghaidh  were = named
Degadians from Deagadh or Deadha, their
ghief ; and Ernans from Olioll Earon, a Here-
monian prince in Ulster, and ancestor of
Deadha, who is 77 on the stem of the line
of Heremon, the seventh son of Milesius of
Spain. The monarch Duack (B.C. 168)
granted his foster father Deaghaidh posses-
sions in  Luachra in Kerry, known thence as
Lmachair Deaghaidh. About a century later
the part of Kerry, north of the Maing river,
became known as Ciamaighe Luachar, or
Ciarv-rioghacht, the kingdom of Ciar, son of
Forgus- Mac Roigh and Meabh, queen of
Connaught, the ancestor of the O'Connors of
Kerry,

The descendants of Deaghaidh flourished
in West Munster, and in the second centur
were noticed by Ptolemy as the Ua Deagaidh
oc Degadii, Udei or Vodii. The Clanna
Dheaghaidh, the Craobh ruadh (red branch)
of Ulster, and the Gamanraidhe of Irrus
Domnann in Mayo. were the three military
forces of Ireland dt that time.

Deaghaidh had three sons, lar, Daire, and
Conal. Three of Tar's descendants were
menarchs of Iveland, viz., Fidemsgol (A.M.
3966), Conaire Mor (A.D. 60), and Conaire
II. (d. A.D. 165). Cairbre Riada of Kerry
and Antrim, the son of Conaire IT., owned
Dalriada in Ulster, and from him descend-
ed the Scotic kings of Albany, and in the
57th generation, the late Queen Victoria.

The Degadians were deprived of power in
West Munster hy Eog%wu Moy of the
Heberian race, in the battle of Cairn Neim-
hidh, in Cove Island, Cork; in A.D. 186, at
Ceann feabrat, near Buttevant, the son of
Eoghan Mor, Oiliol Olum, again defeated the
Degadians.

The descendants of Degaid, however, re-
tbained extensive ssions in West Munster
down to the Anglo Norman period ; amonget
these were the (V'Talvies, O'Sheas, O'Tlyns,
and O’Donsgans.

The O'Falweye, chiefs of Corcaguiney
from the Mang westward to Ventry claim
descent as nnder : —

OConaive I1., 111th Monarch of Ireland, died
AD. 165; Cairbre Musc; Focha: Crim-
sann ; Lorcan; Tunathal; Alioll; Dungal;
Maaodvoanaidh ; Tomaltach; Morvogh: Aodh;
Duach ; Dubheron; Colga; Tailbhe, lively,
anglicised O'Falvey; Lugaidh; Maenagh;
Donach; Donall; Ceallach; Dermod: Con-
aor; Brian; Conall, Cormac; Turlogh;
‘Leige ; Thomas Oge; John; Teige; James:

Hugh ; Patrick: John (1641); James; Donall their

(1718).

The O'Donegans were in Bere before the
O'Sullivans, and in 1597 the lands of the
sept included Carrownidonegan, Kilmanneh,
and K.nockneifurgal, near Dursey island, Kil.
managh parish. !

O'Flynn was chief of Arda, in Carbery, and
Hy-Baghamna, now Ibane, and Barryroe ‘
Joining Carbery.

(’Shea, chief of Iveragh, of the line of
Heremon, descended from Core, a son of
Cairbre Muse, son of Conaire II. Cairbre
Musc was the ancestor of O'Falvey . and
O’'Shea septs.

In O’Huidhrin’s topography we find the
following veferences to this tribe:—

After the tribes of the plain of the keels,

I speak of the race of Conaire,

A tribe of the herces of Breagh, from Tulach-
an-Trir,

In Munster, of the smooth flowing streams.

All the Alltraighe (Tralee) veturn

Two kings of the plain of Ciarnaighe,

A tribe which is ready in the point of diffi-

culty,

U'Neidhe (Neville) and the Clann Caonaire
(King or Connery).

3 -

Three sub-chiefs are hereditary to them,

The old land of Ui Duibhna (Corkaguiny)
of good hosts,

()'Seagha and O'Failbhe the man,

Seal of reckoning the districts.

From the Maing westwards is hereditary to

em ;

O’Failbhe is owner so far as Fionntraigh ;

O’Seagha has obtained without denial

A country not wretched; he is king of Ui-
.Rathach (Iveragh).

0’Conghaile of the slender swords,

Over the bushy-forted Magh o'g Coinchinm
(Magunihy) ;

A haze] tree of branching ringlets

In the Munster plain of inrsc-hmts.

Let us leave the race of Conary of battles,

The Princes of Erna of golden shields;

We come to our friends, the race of Fergus
(the O'Connors)

They are entitled to demand our attention.

The Clan-na-Deaghaidh setfled in Kerry
before the Christian eva, and ervected many
stone cahers or forts such as Caherconres
and Staigue, to enable them to maintain
ir conquests. The O’Sheas and O'Fal-

==
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veys are of this race of Degadians or Clann-
Conaire, R

The Degadians power was curtailed by
Owen Moy and Oiliol Olum, who seem to
have introduced into Kerry the O’Connor,
O'Moriarly, dnd O'Donoghue families,

Many centuries afterwards the descendants
of Eoghan Mor, the MacCarthys and 0'Sulli-
vans, were themselves compelled to retreat
to the fastnesses of Kerry before the Nor-
mans,

Just as the Degadians built the cahers of
Kerry, so did the Normans build the stone
castles’ of Castleisland, Tralee, Listowel, and
many others, which in turn were destyoved
by the later E‘nglish invaders of 1580-1660,
vhe modern landlord class. ‘

It is to-day possible to see in Kerry in the
same awstrict the eartlien rath or dun of the
Tuatha De Danand, the caher of Curoi Mac
Daire, and the stone castle of the Geraldine.
as well as the manor house of the English
planter, and the thatched farmhounse of the

modern Kerry farmer in whose veins flows

the mixed hlood of the various invaders of
4,000 years,

In the Book of Leinster it is stated that
Cingdorn was Curoi Mac Daire’s caisleoir or
stone builder at Caherconree, The fort has
an area of two acres, and is bnilt across the
base of a triangular spur of the mountain,
the sides being almost perpendicular cliffs.
The entire length of the ::1in wall is 350
feet ; it was about 20 feet thick, and 15 feet
high, with terraces inside the fort as at
Btaigue and other cahers in Kerry. The sur.
rounding vallum of earth and stones is forty
feet from the main wall.

Cahir Conri ranked, accordire to the Trish
triads, as one of the three old buildings of
Treland, with Dunsovarki \n Autrun ana dan
Cearmna on the old head of Kinsale.

Gonri or Curi. son of Daire, of the line of
Heremon, was king of Iar Mumhan or West
Munster. He flourished about the time of
the Incarnation. A line drawn ifrom Lime-
rick to sBealach Conglais near Cork marked
the division of West from FREast Munster.
Conri was the head of the Milesian Ernains
of Munster.

Daire, the second son of Deaghaidh. had by
his wife Maoin a son Conri, celebrated for
his valour and strength, who stood at the
head of the chivalry of the south of Ireland.

. Conri left a son Lmgha who avenged his

father’s death by slaying Cuchallin in the

battle of Muirthemne,

In vol. 1. 16 I have already given an ac-
count of the slaughter of Curol mac Daire
by  the commander of the Red Branch
Iinights, Cuchulainn; and in vol. II. 142 a
version of the tale from a 10th century
M.88. The legend is still a favourite in
Kerpy homesteads. and many poets have
written verscs on Calir Conri and lts cele-
brated chieftain.

Hig heart was fashioned in heroic mould
Who fixed his eyrie on this cloud-cappeu

roc £
Scorning the wild waves' roar and temnest's
shoclk ;
Tha better thus in one wide glance to aold
The ocean track, from where tull Shannon

rollad,
To that lone isle (Skellige) where first the
billows broke.
T. GALLWEY, 187

We followed on this beauteous lady

Up to the dun of King Conri,

The mountain palace si-in-as before us,

The grandest sight that eye could see.
REV. M. HORGAN, 1860,

See Conri, the chief of his clan,
I'he highway of glory pursuing,
Never met with his match in a man,
Lill Blanid consigned him to ruin.
WM. DALL HEFFERNAN.

After that came the (Mann Deda

To seek their king,

Five score and three hundred.

Ten hundred and two thousands

Sad was the st.rug]e[_r)e together

0f Blaithnait and Ferchertne,

And the graves of them both are

In the puissant land of Cenn Bera.
Death of Curoi MacDaii, 10th c. M.85.

The wise men tell it (for they can snell it,

In Ogham brand of the ancient time)—

T'hose interpreters of hygome letters

Tell Scotia's bard wrote a Skellig rhyme,

And when Curoi from his airy dwellin’

On Caherconree his queen-love missed,

The bard to jibe him (no king cculd bribe

him)

Witl'i “Cullen’s Hound” graced the Skellig
ist

ist.
“DUHALLOW.”
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